

SOCIAL ECOLOGY WORKING PAPER 123

Fridolin Krausmann • Marina Fischer-Kowalski • Anke Schaffartzik Julia K. Steinberger • Nina Eisenmenger • Ulli Weisz

Trends and Developments of the Use of Natural Resources in the European Union

Fridolin Krausmann, Marina Fischer-Kowalski, Anke Schaffartzik, Julia K. Steinberger, Nina Eisenmenger, Ulli Weisz (2011):

Trends and Developments of the Use of Natural Resources in the European Union

Social Ecology Working Paper 123 Vienna, March 2011

ISSN 1726-3816

Institute of Social Ecology IFF - Faculty for Interdisciplinary Studies (Klagenfurt, Graz, Vienna) Alpen-Adria Universitaet Schottenfeldgasse 29 A-1070 Vienna +43-(0)1-522 40 00-403

www.aau.at/socec workingpaper@aau.at © 2011 by IFF – Social Ecology

Trends and Developments of the Use of Natural Resources in the European Union

Authors

Fridolin Krausmann Marina Fischer-Kowalski Anke Schaffartzik Julia K. Steinberger Nina Eisenmenger Ulli Weisz

Contents

1 Introduction	4
1.1 What are natural resources?	4
1.2 Concepts, methods and data sources	8
O Francisco - Taraka and Osmannovico - a Matariaka in the Fil	4.2
2 Extraction, Trade and Consumption of Materials in the EU	.13
2.1 Summary	13
2.2 Domestic extraction of materials	14
2.3 Trade and its physical contribution to resource use in the EU	15
2.4 Raw Material Equivalents of Traded Goods	20
3.2.5 Material use per capita in the EU and across member states	23
2.6 Decoupling of material use and economic development in the EU and its member states	28
3 Land use and biomass extraction in the European Union	.30
3.1 Summary	30
3.2 Land use trends in Europe	30
3.3 Extraction and use of biomass and land use	32
3 4 Biomass trade	34
3.5 Land use intensity: Human appropriation of net primary production	35
3.6 The impact of biomass use in the FIL on global land use	38
3.7 Decoupling of land use and economic development	11
	41
4 Material Use of the European Union in a Global Context	.43
4.1 Summary	43
4.2 Share of the EU in Global Material Extraction and Use	44
4.3 Comparison of material use patterns in the EU, Japan and the USA	45
4.4 Projections of European and global material use	48
5 Resource productivity	.57
5 1 Summary: Resource Productivity	57
5.2 Resource productivity as a sustainability metric	58
5.3 Past studies relevant to material productivity	62
5.4 The current debate: resource productivity income and economic competitiveness	62
5.5 Description of the data used in this study	64
5.6 Material productivity in the EI L27 + Norway and Switzerland	65
5.7 Settling the PD, competitiveness and income debate for the EU-27	67
5.8 Productivity trends in the EL-15	71
5.0 International productivity	7/
5.9 International productivity	76
	10
6 Resource use and environmental impacts	.78
6.1 Summary	78
6.2 What is an environmental impact?	79
6.3 How does resource use relate to environmental impacts?	81
6.4 Empirical findings to the interrelation between resource use and environmental impacts	87
6.5 Targets for resource use and environmental impacts	92
7 Acronyms	.98
8 References	.99

List of Tables and Figures

Figure 1: Classification of natural resources and corresponding accounting frameworks	5
Figure 2: Interdependencies of resource use	6
Figure 3: Scope of economy-wide Material Flow Accounting (MFA)	9
Figure 4: Comparison of existing estimates of domestic material extraction in EU27	12
Figure 5: Domestic Extraction by Material Categories for the EU-15 1970-2004	14
Figure 6: Domestic extraction by Material Categories for the EU-27 2000-2005	15
Figure 7: Imports by Material Categories for the EU-15 1970-2004 (indexed 1970=100)	15
Figure 8: Composition of DMI in Domestic Extraction and Imports, EU-15 1970-2004.	16
Figure 9: Imports per DMI in % and by Material Categories for the EU-15 1970-2004	16
Figure 10: Exports by Material Categories for the EU-15 1970-2004.	17
Figure 11: Physical trade balance (imports minus exports) for the EU-27, 2000 to 2005.	18
Figure 12: Development of DMI and DMC for EU-15 and EU-27 2000-2005 (indexed 2000=100)	18
Figure 13: Indexed Development of DMC by Material Categories for the EU-15, 1970-2004	19
Figure 14: Import, DE, and Exports and indexed DMC for the EU-15	19
Figure 15: Direct Imports (Imp) and Imports Expressed in RME (RME imp) for Austria	20
Figure 16: DMC and Its Equivalent as Expressed in RME	21
Figure 17: Overview of Direct Imports and Exports (Imp and Exp)	22
Figure 18: European Physical Trade Balance (PTB)	23
Figure 19: Per Capita Domestic Material Consumption (DMC)	24
Figure 20: Material consumption in the EU-15 and the 12 new member states (EU-12) from 2000 to 2005	25
Figure 21: Per capita DMC across the EU-27 (except Malta) in 2005	25
Figure 22: Imports, Domestic Extraction, and Exports of Fossil Energy	26
Figure 23: Per Area DMC across the EU-27 (except Malta) in 2005	27
Figure 24: Development of GDP, Population, DMC, Material Productivity	28
Figure 25: Development of agricultural and forest land in the EU-27 from 1995 to 2007	31
Figure 26: Development of Agricultural Land in the EU15, 1970-2007 (indexed 1970=100)	31
Figure 27: Biomass extraction and use in the EU-27. Extraction data for 2005	33
Figure 28: Development of land use and harvest	33
Figure 30: Biomass imports and exports, EU15	35
Figure 31: Harvested net primary production (NPPh) and human appropriation of NPP (HANPP)	37
Figure 32: Development of soybean production in the EU-27	38
Figure 33: Development and projections of biodiesel and bioethanol	39
Figure 34: Global agricultural land use of Germany	40
Figure 36: Share of EU-15 DMC in Total Global DMC by Material Categories in Percent	45
Figure 37: Per capita DMC in 2004: Global Average, Japan, EU-15 and EU-27 and the USA	46

Figure 38: Share of Japan, EU-27 and USA in global DMC and population	
Figure 39: DMC of the EU-15 (32a), Japan (32b), the USA (32c) and Global (32d)	47
Figure 40: Development of GDP and aggregate materials extraction in the EU15 (34a)	
Figure 41: Used domestic extraction in the business as usual case in EU-25, BASE	50
Figure 42: Global used material extraction in the business-as-usual case (billions of tonnes)	51
Figure 43: Global used material extraction for country groups in the business-as-usual case	52
Figure 44: Used domestic extraction in the EU-25, three scenarios, 1995–2020	53
Figure 45: Projections of resource use up to 2050: three forced future scenarios	56
Figure 46: Schematic of the double decoupling concept proposed by the EU	59
Figure 47: Economic growth (horizontal) and resource productivity growth	60
Figure 48: Basic functional relations connecting resource use and economic activity	61
Figure 49: Productivity vs. economic growth in the EU-27 (yearly growth averages 2000-2005)	66
Figure 50: EU-27 countries plus Norway and Switzerland, ranked by productivity percentage	67
Figure 51: Economic dependence of material use in the EU-27	68
Figure 52: Economic dependence of energy use in the EU-27	69
Figure 53: Macro-trends in the EU-15 and EU-27 for extensive parameters	71
Figure 54: Macro-trends the EU-15 and EU-27 for intensive parameters	72
Figure 55: Productivity and economic growth rates for the EU-15	73
Figure 56: International correlation of material productivity and income for different material	76
Figure 57: Policy model of "double decoupling" as proposed by the EU	81
Figure 58: Environmental risk transition framework	82
Figure 59: Describing the resource use of "bulk construction minerals"	
Figure 60: Coupling between fossil fuel consumption and other types of resources	
Figure 61: Correlation between Ecological Footprint and Carbon Emissions	91
Table 1: Resource use, environmental media/systems, impacts and system services	8
Table 2: Dematerialization: Relative change of GDP, DMC and Material Productivity	29
Table 3: Development of Built-Up and Agricultural Land Across the Designated Time Period	32
Table 4: Human appropriation of net primary production in EU-27 member states	36
Table 5: Changes in GDP, Agricultural area and forest land in the EU-27	42
Table 6: Share of the EU-27 in Global DE, DMC, Population, and GDP, 2005	44
Table 7: Overview of 3 scenarios of future global material use compared to 2000	54
Table 8: Description and sources of the datasets	64
Table 9: Key parameters relevant to material productivity in the EU-27	70
Table 10: Elasticity coefficients of international material use	75

1 Introduction

1.1 What are natural resources?

The core meaning of "resource" is something that can be used for producing something. In this broad meaning everything may be a resource: the song of a bird inspiring a composer, the shine of a star used by a captain to find his way, and a stone in the field to start building a wall. What characterizes a resource is a particular quality, or rather a number of qualities, that render it practical for certain uses. Once this quality is lost, the potential usefulness of the resource disappears.

A first distinction that needs to be drawn is the distinction between material and immaterial resources. This distinction is very basic: with immaterial resources, actual use does not change the qualities that make them useful. The same song of the bird may be used by still another composer, the same starlight has information for hundreds of captains, and the same genetic sequence for millions of productive cows. The useful qualities of immaterial resources cannot be "used up" by making use of them. However, immaterial resources can be eradicated by extinguishing them from memory, which is most likely done by extinguishing the "hardware" to which they are coupled.

With material resources, making use of them eliminates at least some of the qualities that make them useful for the purpose at hand – they can be "used up". In a recent JRC study (Nielsen et al., 2005) some of them have therefore been termed "stock resources". This does not mean that they materially disappear (basic physics does not allow for the disappearance of energy/matter), but that their potential usefulness for the same purpose declines. How much it declines depends on how much the resource is modified through use.

Finally, there is a class of material resources where the source is so abundant that making use of it cannot possibly "use it up". Examples of this are wind, sunshine, geothermal or tidal energy – resources that have been termed "flow resources" (Nielsen et al. 2005). Another example may be air: the use of air for cooling or drying, but even its use for providing oxygen to combustion processes (for abundance see Smil, 2008).

With such a wide definition, everything in the material world may be a material resource. No clear distinction can be drawn. And everything may be put to a principally infinite number of uses. This wide definition was adopted by the Commission of the European Communities (2003) in preparation of its sustainable resource strategy, and also used by the Technical Report on the Environmental Impact of the Use of Natural Resources (Nielsen et al. 2005, p.11) and led to a classification of resources into

- raw materials
- environmental media
- flow resources, and
- space.

As resources and resource use conceptually serve as one of the most important links between the environment and economic activities, we suggest choosing a somewhat narrower notion of resources that better complies to the use of this term in economics.

We suggest defining resources in the following way: Resources are natural assets deliberately extracted and/or modified by human activity for their utility to create economic value. They can be

measured both in physical units (such as tons, joules or area), and in monetary terms expressing their economic value.

Such a narrower definition allows an exhausting and fully quantifiable classification of natural resources as presented below.



Figure 1: Classification of natural resources and corresponding accounting frameworks (highest aggregation level)

This classification already refers to fully operational standard measures, as far as materials and energy are concerned. For materials, this complies to the standard indicators of MFA, material flow analysis (Eurostat 2001 and 2007). For energy resources, either indicators well established in energy statistics such as total primary energy supply (TPES) can be used, or the somewhat more encompassing indicators constructed in analogue to MFA (Haberl, 2001) are available.

For the use of water as a resource, comprehensive accounting frameworks and indicator standardization has not yet been developed that far, though it is well under way and follows a similar logic and similar system boundaries as have been established for MFA. (Gleick, 2003, Hoekstra and Chapagain, 2008). While indicators for materials use can be presented both in disaggregated form and also be added up to comprehensive aggregates, water resources have to be accounted for separately as they are used in one or two orders greater magnitude and would virtually "drown" all other information.

For used land resources, a number of quantified indicators have been established. One very simple indicator is the respective system's territory or some subdivision, such as inhabitable territory. On more detailed levels, productive land or land used for specific purposes (such as for example built up land) are relatively well defined and can be expressed in square kilometres. Bringezu et al., 2009b) for instance have developed a more complex accounting framework that also considers global land use associated with the consumption of biomass based products. For most purposes, it does make sense to talk about "land" and not about "space" (as e.g. in Nielsen et al. 2005), because terrestrial area (in contrast to water or even ocean surfaces) is much more

clearly linked to exclusive economic use, and because it seems more adequate to look upon it as a two-dimensional rather than a three-dimensional resource.¹

For many purposes, it is important to note that the ties between resources and their use are anything but linear. As illustrated in figure 2, the use of materials always has implications and is linked with energy use. Similarly, the use of energy resources are almost invariably connected to water use – be it for biomass production, or for cooling of industrial aggregates. The use of many materials is linked to additional use of water (for example, in construction, with biomass and, for example, in metals extraction). Equally, a certain though highly variable amount of land use is always associated to each materials use. Thus it cannot be assumed that single resources can be manipulated on their own – there always will be a substantial halo effect in many other resources.

Figure 2: Interdependencies of resource use



The amounts of resources used can be looked upon as the most important physical representation of socio-economic activity. Socio-economic activities that do not result in resource use are environmentally irrelevant. Like in economic accounting where GDP refers both to production and to consumption (and presupposes an equilibrium between production and consumption), accounting for material resource use refers equally to production and consumption, and - at least for materials in the narrower sense - an equilibrium must be presupposed between input flows and outflows in the form of wastes and emissions. As with the economy, upon closer scrutiny this is somewhat more complex (with stocks to be accounted for, time delays and interregional exchange), but nevertheless material resources accounting is a homologue of economic accounting. This is most apparent for material resources, because for them the outflows can be and are measured (and must equal the input flows), while energy outflows (dissipative heat) usually do not attract much interest. While it is clear that resource use causes effects "from cradle to grave", the amount of resources put to use can be most easily accounted for and measured at the point of entry into the economic system, that is at the input side of the use chain. While the flow of resources through the economy can be portrayed by Sankey diagrams (as often employed in energy accounting)² and followed in a top down direction, it is more difficult – but not impossible

¹ In the future, this might of course change. Already now coastal areas belong to specific territories, and there may be a time when the "global commons" of oceans will be consigned for specific purposes and governance. But for the time being, for simplicity "land" may suffice.

² See e.g. <u>http://www.sankey-diagrams.com/</u>

- to reconstruct resource inputs from down the chain, i.e. for example from the products in a basket of consumption (as Life Cycle Assessment (LCA) usually practices).

Resources, environmental media and earth systems

Environmental media, environmental compartments and earth systems³ closely resemble resources insofar as they provide certain services indispensable for socioeconomic activities. They also resemble resources insofar as their overuse may render them unable to further deliver those services. In two respects though, environmental media/compartments and earth systems are very different: first, they are not traded within the economy, and if they are (such as, for example as water) they do become resources. Second, they provide a principally innumerable assembly of services. While some services can be singled out and have a value attached to them (for example by willingness-to-pay approaches), or other services may be preserved through deliberate investment (such as restoring the water quality of a lake), the totality of services any one media/environmental system provides cannot be quantified, neither in economic nor in biophysical terms.

While Nielsen et al. (2005) consider only the environmental media air, water and soil, seeing them as sustaining life and producing biological resources, we would suggest make this list longer and address its elements as systems. Doing so implies attributing a higher degree of complexity to them, up to the point of looking at them as self-organizing systems that reproduce themselves and provide certain services depending upon this self-reproduction. These systems cannot be "steered" by human activity ("cleaning the air" is a much too simple metaphor, for example), but they can be irritated to change their behaviour in welcome or less welcome (or simply unpredictable) ways. We suggest to distinguish the following relevant systems.

- atmosphere
- aquatic systems
- soil
- lithosphere
- live systems (ecosystems/organisms/genes)
- human health

Our reasons for this proposal are not only of a systematic nature, but also strategic: the conceptual framework should be as inclusive as possible and as open as possible for fruitful recent approaches such as earth systems theory (Schellnhuber et al., 2005) and theories of ecosystem services (Daily et al., 1997). The inclusion of the lithosphere is important, as deposition / erosion are key mechanisms to reproduce soil nutrients and contribute to global bio-geospherical cycles. Live systems need to be explicitly addressed as they are an important source of (ecosystem)

³ The choice of terms here is a strategic issue, as it creates the arena for the meeting of various discourses. Each term has a certain disciplinary origin and refers to some discourse. Choosing a term, therefore, expresses a willingness to join or invite a certain discourse. On the other hand, terms have functional features related to their theoretical background: what you can do with a term depends on what the theory allows and implicates. The term "environmental media" with its main origin in environmental chemistry relies upon a distinction between complex systems (such as organisms, or a factory) and their environments; in this relation, the environments are merely distinguishable assemblies of loosely coupled elements (like, for example, water molecules, or the specific mix of molecules in the air). The term "environmental compartments" in contrast originates from system ecology and refers to more complex units (systems?) that are much more tightly coupled and considered as interacting with each other. The terms "ecosystems" and, more generally, "earth systems", are the most recent terminological innovations in the environmental debate (mainly rooted in system ecology and climate sciences) and portray the natural environment of human activities as highly complex systems of their own, systems that reproduce themselves by specific mechanisms that can be irritated by human activity. (See von Foerster, 1960, Maturana and Varela, 1975).

services. It also seems reasonable to address the human organism (health) on its own, as this is a key source of services for human activities and an issue where the arena can be shared with the important debate on health promotion.

Separating environmental media / systems from resources allows analyzing their interaction. And within this interaction, it is possible to give the term "environmental impacts" a more specific meaning and link them into more complex theoretical concerns.

In the traditional (DPSIR) meaning, (negative) "environmental impacts" are unwanted changes in states of the environment that are triggered by (socio-economic) pressures on this environment. Why some changes are unwanted, or not welcome, remains arbitrary. In the mental model we propose here, we suggest a systematic link between impacts and ecosystem/earthsystem services: *negative environmental impacts of resource use would, by this logic, be an effect of resource use on one or several environmental systems that puts their services at risk.* (see table 1)

Media (j) Resource use (i)	Atmo- sphere	Aquatic systems	Soil	Litho- sphere	Life systems	Human health	aggregated impacts by resource use
Use of energy from flow resources		l _{ij}		l _{ij}			Sum of Imp _i
Use of energy materials	lij		lij		lij	lij	e.g. EMC _i
Use of non- energy materials		l _{ij}	l _{ij}	l _{ij}		l _{ij}	e.g. EMC _i
Water use		l _{ij}			l _{ij}	l _{ij}	e.g. water footprint
Land use	l _{ij}	l _{ij}	l _{ij}		l _{ij}		e.g. HANPP
aggregated impacts on earth/eco system services	Sum of Imp _j	Imp of all resource s use on aquatic systems	Sum of Imp _j	Sum of Imp _j	Imp of all resource use on ecosystem health and biodiv	Sum of Imp _j	e.g. ecological footprint Sum of Imp _{ij}

Table 1: Resource use, environmental media/systems, impacts and system services

It is very clear though that each and every impact will have to be selected and estimated by criteria that derive from the policy concerns of the time (be it acidification in periods of concern about forest dieback, be it greenhouse gas emissions in times of threatening climate change) and evade comparability among each other. It will always remain a policy issue which criteria to choose, how to weigh them and therefore, how to finally generate indicators of resource use weighed by selected impacts, such as attempted by various indicators like EMC or ecological footprint. All this and its implications will be further discussed in chapter 3.6.

1.2 Concepts, methods and data sources

This report focuses on trends and patterns of materials use and establishes links between material use and land use. The most important source of data on material consumption in the European Union are material flow accounts. During the last years, material flow accounting (MFA) has emerged as an important tool in monitoring socio-economic resource use. This section briefly introduces MFA and discusses the availability and quality of data and also their potential and

limitations for the purpose of this study. It provides important background information for the sections discussing trends and patterns of material use in the EU.

Economy wide material flow accounts

In the past years the physical dimension of economic processes, in particular the socio-economic use of materials, was increasingly recognized internationally as a focal issue in sustainable development. The 6th environmental action programme (European Parliament and Council, 2002) specifies the sustainable use of resources as one of six priority fields for the period 2002 to 2012. A thematic strategy on a sustainable use of resources was published by Commission of the European Communities (2005) and an OECD (2004) council recommendation on material flows and resources productivity in April 2004 fostered the establishment of an OECD work program on this topic by the working group on environmental information and outlook and lead to an OECD-UNEP conference on resource efficiency in 2008.⁴ Finally, in 2007, UNEP initiated the foundation of an international expert panel on a sustainable use of resources⁵ which is about to publish a series of reports on global resource use and its environmental impacts (e.g. UNEP, 2009).

These policy processes substantially increased the need for economy-wide, reliable and comparable time-series data and indicators for material use. The backbone of an environmental reporting system which provides such information is economy-wide material flow accounting (MFA). Economy wide material flow accounts provide consistent information of the overall material inputs into national economies, changes in material stock within the economic system and the material outputs to other economic system are not considered. Economy-wide MFAs cover all solid, gaseous, and liquid materials, except for bulk water and air; the unit of measurement is tonnes (i.e. metric tonnes) per year. Similar to the system of national accounts, material flow accounts serve two major purposes. The detailed accounts provide a rich empirical database for numerous analytical studies. The aggregate accounts are also used to compile different extensive and intensive material flow indicators for national economies at various levels of aggregation. Economy-wide MFA thereby is to be seen as a satellite system to the system of national accounts (Eurostat, 2009a, OECD, 2008c).



Figure 3: Scope of economy-wide Material Flow Accounting (MFA)

Since the publication of an initial guide for economy wide MFA by Eurostat in 2001, the methodology and accounting principles of MFA reached a certain level of standardization: In 2007,

Source: Eurostat, 2009a

⁴ <u>http://www.oecd.org/environment/resourceefficiency</u>, see OECD, 2008a.

⁵ http://www.unepie.org/scp/rpanel/.

Eurostat (2007b) issued a hands on guide for material flow accounting (MFA) which was revised in 2009 and also OECD launched a process to standardise MFA methodology. OECD published a series of methodological reports in 2008 (OECD, 2008b and 2008c). Based on these agreed upon methodological standards Eurostat began collecting material flow data from national statistical offices in 2007. For the European Union and its member states several MFA datasets exist: A dataset commissioned by Eurostat covering the EU-15 member states and for the period 1970 to 2004. MFA data from Eurostat's 2007 data collection have been published for the EU-27 member states plus Switzerland and Norway for the period 2000 to 2005; the data of the 2009 data collection, covering the period 2000 to 2007 have been published by Eurostat in late June 2010, to late to be considered in the data analysis for this report. Additionally, a number of national MFA studies and datasets for European countries have been published by researchers or statistical offices (see OECD, 2008d). The existing national studies however differ with respect to the methods and estimation procedures, the flows covered and the level of aggregation by which materials are reported or discussed.

Unused extraction and indirect flows

Material flow analysis differentiates between used or direct material flows and indirect or hidden flows. Indirect or hidden material flows are resource flows associated with used material extraction which do not enter the economy⁶. Examples for hidden flows are overburden from mining operations, eroded soil or earthen materials displaced during construction activities. Hidden flows can be large and are associated with considerable environmental pressures. Several attempts to quantify these flows in MFA accounts exist. They are used to calculate material flow indicators like total material requirement (TMR) and total material input (TMI) (Eurostat, 2001, Bringezu et al., 2009c). While accounting principles and estimation procedures for used flows are widely standardized, this is not yet the case for indirect or hidden flows and data on these flows are currently not collected by Eurostat.

Indirect flows or upstream resource requirements associated with traded materials are a specific case which needs to be mentioned. It has been recognized that limiting MFA accounts to (direct) traded flows is not sufficient to detect shifts in resource use due to changing trade patterns (Eisenmenger et al., 2007). Particularly industrialized countries tend to import large amounts of semi-manufactured materials and products. The production of these commodities can be associated with huge material flows in the exporting countries that are not reflected in direct import/export flow accounts. This makes it difficult to interpret material input and use indicators only including direct trade flows. The quantification of upstream flows⁷, however, is a difficult task; currently methods for their inclusion into MFA accounts are being developed.⁸ Up to date, no agreed upon method allowing for standardized application producing comparable results over time and countries is available. A few case studies indicating the general size of upstream resource requirements and the distortion of DMC or DMI caused by trade exist (Weinzettel and Kovanda, 2009, Bringezu et al., 2009b). They illustrate the dimension of the distortions caused by the exclusion of upstream resource flows associated with trade flows.

⁶ The OECD glossary defines hidden and indirect flows as "the displacement of environmental assets without absorption into the economic sphere; example: overburden from mining operations". <u>http://stats.oecd.org/glossary/detail.asp?ID=6472</u>. In contrast, direct flows refer to flows of materials that physically cross the boundary of the economic system (*at the level for which the accounts are made, i.e. the national economy in the case of national economy-wide material flow accounts*) either as an input or as an output. Direct flows refer to the actual mass (weight) of the material or product that enters or leaves the system and do not take into account the life-cycle dimension of the production chain (Eurostat 2001, OECD 2008).

⁷ To denote the upstream requirements of used extraction associated with imports or exports the concept of "raw material equivalents" has been developed (OECD, 2008b; Eurostat, 2001)

⁸ The most promising methods include the application of LCA derived coefficients and coefficients derived from Input-Output tables or a combination of both approaches.

Material flow data used in this study

For the purpose of this study we mostly restrict ourselves to the use of the two official economy wide MFA datasets available from Eurostat:

In 2007, Eurostat commissioned the compilation of MFA data in time series for the EU-15. This data set provides MFA data for the EU-15 and 14 member states (Belgium and Luxembourg are aggregated). It covers the flows of used extraction, exports and imports, and distinguishes 11 different material groups (Eurostat, 2007a). Data are available for the period 1970 to 2004. These are the only publicly available data covering a longer time series for Europe.

In 2009, Eurostat published the results of its first MFA survey conducted in 2007 (Eurostat, 2009b).⁹ An MFA questionnaire distinguishing approximately 50 different material groups was sent out to member states. Roughly half of all member states returned data for DE, imports and exports; flows for countries not reporting data were estimated by Eurostat. Data on used extraction, imports, exports were published only for three highly aggregate material groups (biomass, fossil energy carriers and mineral materials) but are available in more detail from Eurostat. Data on changes in stocks and direct processed outputs are only available for a very limited number of countries.

It has to be noted that the MFA data available from these two datasets are not fully consistent. Due to methodological changes, data on material consumption in the EU-15 for the period 2000 to 2004 derived from Eurostat (2009b) are 3-8% above the data reported in Eurostat (2007).

Data for 2004 and 2005 are, unfortunately, the most recent MFA data available for the European Union and its member states. In 2009 Eurostat started its second collection of MFA data covering the years 2000 to 2007. These data have been published by Eurostat in June 2010. This was unfortunately to late to include the data into the analysis for this report, except for the trends in material use shown in Figure 24, which refer include to the new dataset (Eurostat 2010). The most recent MFA data are, therefore not considered in this report.

⁹ http://epp.eurostat.ec.europa.eu/portal/page/portal/environment/data/main_tables.

Quality of MFA data

In order to provide a rough indication of the reliability of indicators derived from material flow accounts we have compared data on domestic material extraction for the year 2000 from five different studies. Figure 4 shows that for most countries the deviations from the mean are comparatively small. Existing differences are mostly due to the development of different estimation procedures for flows not covered by statistical sources. Due to the strong efforts at standardizing accounting principles and estimation methods, and the high quality of primary data available for European Union member states, uncertainties of MFA data and derived indicators have been significantly reduced. MFA data can be considered to be of reasonable quality sufficient for cross country comparison and the interpretation of development over time.



Figure 4: Comparison of existing estimates of domestic material extraction in EU27 countries (average and range across studies)

Source: Own calculation on the basis of the following material flow accounts: Schandl and Eisenmenger, 2006, Krausmann et al., 2008b, Eurostat, 2007a, Eurostat 2009, SERI, 2009.

2 Extraction, Trade and Consumption of Materials in the EU

2.1 Summary

The most recent MFA data available for the European Union show that material use (Domestic Material Consumption, DMC) of the EU-27 amounted to 7.7 billion tones in 2005. Non renewable minerals (including fossil energy carriers) account for nearly four fifths of total material use in the EU. At the global scale, the 85% of world population living in the EU consume roughly 13% of all extracted materials – not counting upstream material use associated with the production of imported commodities. These data show that the EU has an over proportionally high share in global material use, which is also reflected in an annual per capita material consumption more than 50% above the global average (15.8 tons in 2005). Japan, having adopted a rigorous resource saving policy, has a significantly lower per capita material use (12 t/cap/yr) than the EU. On the other hand, material consumption in the USA (27 t/cap/yr) is more than 70% above the European level. Across the EU member states, DMC ranges between 10 and 39 t/cap/yr. In general, material use is lowest in countries with low GDP per capita and/or high population density. It is noteworthy that countries with a low rate of material use per capita may be characterized by a high rate of material use per unit of area nevertheless, indicating a high level of overall environmental pressure.

Data on the long term development of material use in the EU are only available for the EU-15: After a period of increasing material use in the 1970s and 80s, growth in DMC of the EU-15 (and in most countries) has decelerated markedly and per capita material consumption has stabilized at a comparatively high level. For the 12 new member states data are available only for the period 2000 to 2005. In this period, material use has increased by 24% and material use per capita grew from 12 to 15 t/cap/yr, almost reaching the level of the EU-15. Overall, material use in the EU-27 increased only slightly in this period from 7.4 to 7.7 billion tons.

In combination with high economic growth rates in the past, the slow growth of material use resulted in considerable growth in overall resource productivity (measured as DMC or DMI per unit of GDP) and, hence, in relative dematerialization: While the physical economy of the EU (both EU-15 and EU-27) has been growing at a slower pace than GDP, absolute decline of material use only occurred during very short periods, always linked to phases of recession or very low economic growth. Absolute decoupling of material use and economic growth, as it has been observed for Japan, has not been achieved in the European Union. At the member state level different trends can be observed: While most countries show comparatively stable DMC and relative dematerialization, a few member states were characterized by absolute dematerialization in most cases was a result of deindustrialization and fading out of material intensive heavy industries or mining activities. A number of countries are characterized by a DMC which grows faster than GDP. Typically, these are countries with a low level of per capita income but high economic growth (e.g. Spain, Hungary). In these countries, in particular, the development of built infrastructures contributed to the high increase of overall material use.

The overall trend of stabilization of material consumption rests upon trends of stable or even decreasing domestic material extraction of all four main material groups. Domestic extraction (DE) of materials in the EU has in particular declined with respect to ores and fossil energy carriers, while DE of biomass and non-metallic minerals have stabilized at high levels. In contrast, the significance of physical trade for meeting the EU's material demands, both in terms of direct material input (DMI) and domestic material consumption (DMC) is rapidly increasing. Like other industrial economies such as Japan, the European Union is characterized by a very high import dependency, in particular with respect to strategically important materials such as ores, fossil energy carriers and specific non-metallic minerals. For the EU-15 countries, the contribution of imports to DMI for metals has increased to almost 90% and for fossil energy carriers to 60%. Since the year 2000, net-imports of materials into the EU-27 have increased by 20% to more than 1.2 billion tones per year. The growing significance of trade not only means a growing dependence of the EU on imports of key raw materials, but it also calls for caution with respect to the interpretation of the observed trend of stabilization of material use as indicated by MFA data: Current material flow accounts only consider direct material flows, but neglect upstream material flows associated with the production of traded commodities in exporting countries. Pilot studies which quantified these upstream flows indicate that for highly industrialized countries the so called

raw material equivalents (RME) of imports are three to six times larger than direct import flows. Even when raw material equivalents of exports are included in the calculation, this results in raw material equivalents of domestic consumption roughly 30% above DMC. Although the methods used to calculate raw material flows are not yet fully developed and need standardization, they clearly show that the inclusion of upstream flows may change the overall picture of trends and patterns considerably. These results indicate that the EU by importing material intensive commodities might increasingly shift environmental burdens to the producing countries in the global south.

2.2 Domestic extraction of materials

Figure 5 shows the development of domestic material extraction (DE) in the EU-15 in an indexed form (the value for 1970 corresponds to 100). Overall DE has stabilized since the early 1990s at a level of slightly below 5 billion tons. For two material groups, fossil energy carriers and metal ores, domestic extraction even declined – in the case of metals it was continuously reduced to a level of only 30% of the value of the early 1970s. This relates to declining ore grades and increasing production costs in the EU and the subsequent shift of mining to regions outside Europe. Another remarkable trend is the sharp decline in domestic extraction of fossil energy carriers beginning in the late 1980's. In the EU-15, coal was (and is) the dominant form of fossil fuel extracted – contributing almost 90% to DE of fossil fuels in 1970 and still approximately 50% in 2004. Coal is also the fossil energy carrier for which DE has decreased most significantly in absolute terms from a peak of about 717 Mio t extracted in 1986 to less than half of that value (333 Mio t) in 2004. DE of biomass and non-metallic minerals on the other hand has increased 15% (biomass) and 20% (minerals) over the course of this 35 year period – but also for these material groups extraction has stabilized since the 1990s. The total DE of the EU-15 was 4.3 bio tons in 1970, peaked at just over 5 billion t in 1989 and was at 4.7 bio t in 2004.





Source: derived from Eurostat 2007a.



Figure 6: Domestic extraction by Material Categories for the EU-27 2000-2005 (indexed 2000=100).

Source: derived from Eurostat 2007a.

A similar trend of stable domestic materials extraction can be observed for the EU-27 – however due to the short time periods for which data are available (2000 to 2005) annual fluctuations are larger than trends. Only the extraction of fossil energy carriers exhibits a pronounced trend of decline. (Figure 6). Biomass extraction fluctuates somewhat across this six-year period and DE of non metallic minerals even increases slightly.





2.3 Trade and its physical contribution to resource use in the EU

While domestic extraction in the EU-15 is declining and is currently at a level only slightly above the level of 1970, physical trade flows show a pronounced dynamic of growth. Imports for all material groups have been increasing strongly since the 1970s (see Figure 7). Imports of raw materials and commodities from non metallic minerals were about 160% larger in 2004 than they were in 1970 and those for metals by 60%. Imports of biomass increased by over 50% and of fossil fuels by 31%. In absolute terms, 432 Mio t more were imported into the EU-15 in 2004 than in 1970. Growth of physical imports by far exceeded that of population growth and consequently

Source: derived from Eurostat 2007a

also per capita imports grew: While 3.0 t per capita and year were imported in 1970, this figure reached 3.8 t/cap/yr in 2004.





Source: derived from Eurostat 2007a.

Figures 8 and 9 illustrate that overall the contribution of imports to the direct material input (DMI) of the EU-15 economy has increased slightly since 1970 when imports made up 19% of DMI to 2004 when their contribution was at 23%. For the EU-27, this contribution was at 14% in 2000 and 16% in 2005.



Figure 9: Imports per DMI in % and by Material Categories for the EU-15 1970-2004.

Source: derived from Eurostat 2007a.

The role that imports play in the EU-15 DMI differs by material categories (see Figure 9) – for metals the contribution of imports to DMI was 85% and for fossil fuels almost 60% in 2004. For biomass and non metallic minerals it was much lower (13% and 4% respectively). This means, that for key resources the European economy is highly dependent on imports from outside the EU. The high level of imports in DMI and the upward trend of physical imports also has strong implications for the interpretation of resource use and input indicators derived from MFA: Imports

(and exports) can be associated with significant upstream resource flows and the gross material requirement of the European economy is likely to be much larger than DMI and DMC indicate. The shift from DE to imports may also indicate a shift in environmental burden from the EU towards the countries providing exports (see below).

Exports show an even more pronounced growth trend in the EU-15 but are still considerably smaller in total mass than imports: In absolute terms, total exports increased from 197 Mio t in 1970 to 430 Mio t in 2004. Figure 10 illustrates that, in relative terms, the strongest increase in exports occurred for biomass based commodities (factor 3.5) between 1970 and 2004. Exports of (products made of) metallic and non metallic minerals doubled over the same period of time and export of fossil fuels increased by a factor of 1.8. Despite the high growth rates, the mass of physical exports still is significantly smaller than that of imports: Imports increased from 1021 Mio t to 1452 Mio t between 1970 and 2004, exports increased from 197 Mio t to 430 Mio t.



Figure 10: Exports by Material Categories for the EU-15 1970-2004 (indexed 1970=100).

For the EU-27 physical trade data exist only for the individual member states but no import or export data for the EU-27 as an economic entity has yet been compiled. Therefore only data concerning the physical trade balance (PTB) can be shown (Figure 11). From these data it is obvious, that the EU-27 (just like the EU-15) is a net importer with respect to all major material groups and also on this level imports are growing: In only five years from 2000 to 2005 net imports have increased by 18% from 1.1 billion tons to 1.25 billion tons. Net imports are largest for fossil energy carriers and metals.

Source: derived from Eurostat 2007a.



Figure 11: Physical trade balance (imports minus exports) for the EU-27, 2000 to 2005.

Source: derived from Eurostat 2007a.





Source: derived from Eurostat 2009b

The development of DMC of the EU-15 for a longer period of time (1970-2004) is shown in Figure 13: After periods of growth in the 1970s and 80s material consumption in the EU has more or less stabilized since the beginning of the 1990s for most material groups. The observed periods of growth and contraction of DMC can be explained by economic developments. In particular the oil price peaks in 1973 and 1979 are followed by years of declining material use, indicating the strong relation of energy and overall material consumption.





Source: derived from Eurostat 2007a.

Domestic material consumption (DMC) in the EU-27 amounted to 7.7 billion tons in 2005. More than half (54%) of all used materials were minerals (including metallic ores and non metallic minerals for industrial use and construction). With a share of 25%, fossil energy carriers were the second largest fraction of total DMC, while renewable biomass accounted for only 21%. Total DMC showed a slightly declining trend between 2000 and 2003 but increased considerably since. Over the whole period, the EU-27 experienced a slight growth in overall material consumption from 7.5 to 7.7 billion tons.

Material demand in the EU-15 currently dominates the EU-27's rate of resource use. Figure 14 shows that in 2005, only about 20% of the EU-27's domestic extraction occurred in the 12 new member states (NMS). The disparity is even greater for trade with the 12 NMS' imports contributing only 11% to the EU-27 volume and their exports accounting for 14% of the total exports.



Figure 14: Import, DE, and Exports and indexed DMC for the EU-15 (Left Figure) and the 12 NMS (Right Figure), 2000-2005.

Source: derived from Eurostat 2009b

However, while the EU-15 DMC is more or less stable in the period 2000-2005 and at a very high level, the DMC in the new member states has experienced a period of considerable growth (20% in five years).

2.4 Raw Material Equivalents of Traded Goods

It has been shown that imports play an important and further increasing role in providing the material inputs required by the European economy. Current material MFA accounts only provide data on direct trade flows (see section 3.1.2). No information concerning materials required to produce these imports are reported. This has been recognized as an important limitation for the interpretation of MFA derived headline indicators and Eurostat and several research groups (e.g. in Austria, Germany and Czech Republic) currently develop methods for the quantification of raw material equivalents (RME) of imports and exports. RME are defined as the direct trade flow (import or export) plus the associated indirect flows, i.e. "the 'cradle to border' inputs necessary to make a product (i.e., a good or a service) available at the border for import or export, excluding the mass of the product itself" (Eurostat, 2001, 19).

In two recently completed studies, the RME of Austrian (Schaffartzik et al., 2010) and of Czech (Weinzettel and Kovanda, 2009) trade flows were calculated using a similar method which is based on monetary input-output data for each economy paired with coefficients based on life cycle analysis (LCA) for select resource flows. The logic behind this hybrid approach is to calculate the intermediate material inputs for those traded goods which are also produced in the domestic economy using domestic input-output data and to calculate the intermediate inputs for those goods not produced or those raw materials not extracted in the domestic economy using LCA coefficients.

The Austrian and the Czech economy are of comparable orders of magnitude. While the Czech Republic imported 53 Mio t of commodities in 2003, the import flow amounted to 79 Mio t in Austria (2005). Applying the RME method and adding the intermediate material inputs required for the extraction and production of imported resources and goods, the RME of these imports (RMEimp) can be calculated. Figure 15 illustrates that in the Czech Republic, the RME of imports were 261 Mio t or approximately six times larger than the direct imports in 2003 while the Austrian RMEimp were estimated at 138 Mio t, that is three times larger than the direct imports in 2005.



Figure 15: Direct Imports (Imp) and Imports Expressed in RME (RME imp) for Austria and the Czech Republic

Source of Data: Schaffartzik et al., 2010

In the Czech Republic, the RME of exports amounted to 47.3 Mio t and were thus approximately six times larger than the direct exports in 2003. The Austrian RMEimp were estimated at 139 Mio t and were three times larger than the direct exports in 2005.

While the RMEimp adds to the apparent material consumption of the importing countries, the RME of exports (RMEexp) must be deducted to arrive at a measure of raw material use associated with domestic consumption. It is possible to calculate the raw material consumption (RMC) of an economy - that is, to express domestic material consumption (DMC) in raw material equivalents. Figure 16 compares DMC and RMC for the Czech Republic in 2003 and Austria in 2005.



Figure 16: DMC and Its Equivalent as Expressed in RME (RMC) for the Czech Republic (2003) and Austria (2005)

Data Sources: Weinzettel and Kovanda (2009) and Schaffartzik et al. 2010

In both countries, the RMC is about 30% larger than the DMC. This similarity in the ratio between RMC and DMC despite the significant differences in the ratio of direct imports and RMEimp and direct exports and RMEexp is partially due to the differences in the composition of traded goods in the two economies and the size of physical import and export flows: In 2003, the volume of goods exported from the Czech Republic corresponded to approximately 90% of the volume of imported goods, in Austria, this figure was only 57% in 2005.

Figure 17: Overview of Direct Imports and Exports (Imp and Exp), RME of Imports and Exports (RME imp and RME exp), DMC, and RMC for Germany in 2005



Source: based on data from Buyny et al., 2009

Data on upstream resource requirements of imports and RME are also available for Germany. Figure 17 illustrates that the German RMEimp were 2831 Mio t in 2005 and thus approximately five times larger than the direct imports. The German RMC is 1.4 times larger than the DMC (as compared to a factor of 1.3 for Austria and the Czech Republic).

Another attempt to take the material flows associated with the production of traded goods into consideration is based on the calculation of so-called total material requirement (TMR) (Eurostat 2001). In contrast to the RME approach, TMR of imports includes hidden flows (e.g. overburden from mining, soil moved during construction processes) but does not include all indirect flows (e.g. energy inputs into production processes or auxiliary material not included in the traded product itself).

Figure 18 shows results from a study by Schütz et al. 2003 who calculated the physical trade balance of the EU (or the EC, respectively) in the period 1976 and 2000 including indirect flows and TMR. Over the whole period, net imports (direct flows) into the EU slowly increased from 0.6 towards 1 billion tons. According to this estimate, the total material requirements associated with these imports are much greater than the direct trade flows and increased at a faster pace. In 2000, indirect and hidden flows which were considered amounted to more than 6 billion tons. These results also indicate that the importance of considering burden-shifting effects in analyzing the material inputs and use of the European Union.



Figure 18: European Physical Trade Balance (PTB), Absolute and Total Material Requirements in Mio. t

Source: Bringezu et al., 2009b (Quoted from Schütz et al., 2003).

In differentiating between the information provided by the TMR calculation and the RME application, it is important to consider that exports are not deducted from TMR (but are deducted from RME). The reasoning behind this decision in the development of TMR methodology is that even though the materials contained in the exports are ultimately transferred to another economy, they are nonetheless extremely relevant for the economy's performance and must therefore be considered to be part of the material requirements.

Although the methods available to calculate upstream resource requirements of imports and exports are not yet fully developed and standardized, the existing case studies show that the upstream flows of European net trade are of a considerable size and their inclusion provides a better picture of overall material use. In a situation where domestic extraction of many materials in the EU is declining, both imports and exports are rapidly increasing and imports are considerably larger than exports this has to be kept in mind when MFA derived indicators like DMC and DMI are interpreted. The observed stabilization of material use in the EU might not be true if RME or TMR indicators are applied.

3.2.5 Material use per capita in the EU and across member states

From 1970 through 2004, the per capita resource consumption (DMC/cap/yr) in the EU-15 was comparatively stable. It increased from 14.9 tons in 1970 to 16 tons/cap and year in 1990 and than began to slowly decline. In 2004, per capita material use was at about the same level as in 1970 (see Figure 19).



Figure 19: Per Capita Domestic Material Consumption (DMC) in the EU-15, selected years 1970 to 2004.

Source: based on data from Eurostat 2007a.

The contribution of the individual material fractions also remained relatively stable. Metal ores make up the smallest share and account for 3-5% of material use. Biomass contributes constantly 4t/cap and year or roughly one quarter to total DMC and is in a similar range as fossil energy carriers (24 and 29%). Non metallic minerals are the largest fraction and amount to 6-7 t/cap/yr corresponding to between 40 and 48% of total DMC.

Data from Eurostat 2009 show that per capita material consumption in the 12 new member states amounted to only 12t/cap/yr in 2000 and was 27% below the level in the EU-15 (Figure 20a). While DMC in the EU-15 remained more or less stable in the period 2000 to 2005 (Figure 20b) it increased in the EU-12 (which were also characterized by much higher economic growth) by 24%. As a consequence, also per capita DMC grew in the new member states and almost reached the level of the EU-15 in 2005.¹⁰

¹⁰ Note that data from Eurostat 2007a and Eurostat 2009 are not fully consistent due to methodological differences. DMC reported in Eurostat 2009 is 3-8% above the values reported in Eurostat 2007a.



Figure 20: Material consumption in the EU-15 and the 12 new member states (EU-12) from 2000 to 2005

Source: based on data from Eurostat 2009b

The current level of per capita material consumption varies quite strongly across the EU-27 (Figure 21). In 2005, per capita apparent material consumption in the EU-27 and the EU-15 was relatively similar and amounted to 15.8 t/cap/yr and 15.9 t/cap/yr respectively. 11 of the 27 EU MS had a DMC/cap/yr which was below average and only 27% of the EU-27 population lived in a country in which material consumption was higher than the average of 15.8 t/cap/yr. DMC/cap ranged from just under 10 t/cap/yr in Latvia to almost 40 t/cap/yr in Finland.

Figure 21: Per capita DMC across the EU-27 (except Malta) in 2005



Source: based on data from Eurostat 2009b

Not only the level of per capita material use but also its composition shows strong variation across the EU-27 MS. The share of biomass in DMC ranges from 40% in Sweden and 42% in Lithuania to 12% in Cyprus, 14% in the Czech Republic, and 15% in Portugal. Metal ores contribute 23% to Bulgaria's DMC while their contribution to per capita DMC is only about 1% in Lithuania and Hungary. In most of the EU-27 MS, non-metallic minerals make up the major fraction of DMC/cap. This contribution is as high as 70% in Portugal and 76% in Cyprus and as low as 27% in Bulgaria and 19% in Greece. The share of fossil fuels is highest in Greece (49%) and Estonia (45%) and lowest in Cyprus (10%) and Latvia (12%).

The size of per capita material use and its composition depend on broad range of bio-geographical and economic factors. It has been shown that next to economic development and the sectoral structure of the economy also climate, population density and resource endowment have significant influence on patterns of resource use across countries factors (Weisz et al., 2006, Steinberger et al., 2010). Also the openness of the economy and the significance of international trade play have an impact on differences in per capita materials use (see also section 3.2.3). Among the countries with the lowest DMC per capita are on the one hand countries with a low per capita GDP (Latvia, Lithuania or Slovakia) and on the other hand high income countries with high population density or high dependency on imports (UK, the Netherlands, France, Italy). In contrast, the countries with the highest DMC per capita in the EU are those with high income and low population density (Finland, Ireland, Denmark) and countries with specific resource endowment (Estonia).

Next to Cyprus, Estonia is one of the few new EU member states which have a per capita DMC that lies significantly above the EU-27 average (see Figure 21). At the same time, the contribution of fossil fuels to DMC is among the highest in the EU-27. Like the other European economies, Estonia is highly dependent on fossil fuels in meeting its energy requirements. However, it covers only a small share of its DMC through imports: While on the EU-27 average, imports account for 83% of DMC, this fraction is only 18% for Estonia. This is possible due to its endowment with oil shale the combustion of which is main manner in which the economy secures its energy supply.



Figure 22: Imports, Domestic Extraction, and Exports of Fossil Energy Carriers as per capita Values for the EU-27 in 2005

Source: based on data from Eurostat 2009b

Estonia (EE) exhibits a high level of domestic extraction of fossil energy carriers and relatively low import and export volumes (see Figure 22). In contrast, the Netherlands (NL) and Belgium (BE) have the highest trade flows in the EU-27 which in this case especially highlights their function as ports of entry into and exit out of the EU for traded goods. For both these countries, imports play a dominant role in covering DMC requirements: Imports account for 239% (NL) and 268% (BE) of

DMC respectively. These data indicate that while trade is playing an increasingly important role in meeting the EU's demand for fossil energy carriers on an aggregate level, this trend is even more pronounced for a number of countries. From left to right in Figure 22, those countries for which imports make up less than 100% of their fossil energy carriers DMC are Romania, Hungary, the United Kingdom, Ireland, Slovenia, Poland, Bulgaria, Finland, Germany, Denmark, the Czech Republic, Greece, and Estonia.

While expressing the indicator DMC per capita of population indicates the metabolic rates, i.e. the average "cost" of each inhabitant in terms of resources used (size of the physical economy in relation to its social reference system), relating DMC to the territory of the economic system gives an indication of the burden upon the natural environment (Figure 23). Therefore, the indicator DMC per unit of land area is regarded a proxy for potential environmental pressures on domestic ecosystems related to a countries material use (Eisenmenger et al., 2007).



Figure 23: Per Area DMC across the EU-27 (except Malta) in 2005

Source: based on data from Eurostat 2009b

Variations of DMC per unit of area are larger than variations of DMC per capita (Figure 23): The EU-27's DMC per area ranges from 0.4 kt per square kilometre in Sweden (SE) to 6.2 kt/km² in Belgium (BE) in 2005. The average DMC/area of the EU-15 and the EU-27 are relatively similar and amount to 1.9 kt/km² and 1.8 kt/km² respectively. In general there is an indirect proportionality between per capita material use and material use per unit of area. The countries with the highest level of material use per unit of area tend to have low per capita consumption and vice versa. Those countries with a DMC/area that lies well above the EU average have some characteristics in common in terms of material flows: On the one hand, these are countries with a high level of domestic extraction (Germany, the United Kingdom, Italy). On the other hand, countries with low resource endowment and high population density (Belgium, the Netherlands, Luxemburg). Belgium and the Netherlands are points of entry into Europe in terms of trade so that transit trade plays an important role and trade volume is generally high. While the DMC/area per se is no indicator for environmental impacts, it does provide a proxy for the relationship between material consumption and the area available either as a source of this material (domestic extraction) or to absorb the waste which all material consumption (which can also be interpreted as domestic waste potential) inevitably leads to.

Due to the fact that total DMC in the EU-15 has been stagnating since 1970, the DMC per area has also remained relatively constant and increased only very slightly from 1.6 kt/km^2 in 1970 to 1.8 kt/km^2 in 2004.

2.6 Decoupling of material use and economic development in the EU and its member states

Data on the long term development of material use and GDP for the EU-15 reveal a trend of continuously increasing resource productivity (see section 3.5) which resulted in relative but not absolute dematerialisation (Figure 24a). Overall DMC grew by about 20% between 1970 and 2007. Population and DMC grew at a similar rate between 1970 and 2007 and per capita DMC remained roughly constant. GDP grew much faster and material productivity increased continuously, it approximately doubled between 1970 and 2007. Figure 24 also shows the linkage between the development of DMC and economic growth: In general, periods of declining DMC (1973-1975; 1979-1983; 1990-1993; 2000-2004) occurred only in conjunction with recession or very slow economic growth. For the new member sates, data are only available for the period 2000 to 2007. During this period, material use has increased by 31% and material use per capita grew from 13 to 17.5 t/cap/yr, even surpassing the level of the EU-15. Overall, material use in the EU-27 increased moderately during this period from 7.6 to 8.2 bn tonnes.

Figure 24: Development of GDP, Population, DMC, Material Productivity, and DMC per cap and year in the EU-15 (24a) and the EU-12 (24b)





Source: Source: Based on Eurostat 2007a and Eurostat 2010

Patters across countries are different from the long term EU-15 trend. While in most countries DMC per capita remained stable or even showed slight decline with growing income, in a number of countries per capita DMC showed a significant increase: The countries with the steepest increase in the period 1970 to 2004 were the countries with the lowest per capita GDP in 1970 that is Portugal, Greece, Spain and Ireland. In these countries DMC grew faster than GDP (see section 3.5).

Also for the EU-27 as a whole and in the period 2000 to 2005, relative dematerialization was observed. During this period, material use in the EU-27 declined modestly by 3.5% while the economy grew by 9%. Across individual countries diverging patterns concerning the development of DMC, GDP and material productivity can be observed (Table 2) Opposite to the EU-27 trend, several countries experienced absolute dematerialization: In six of the 26 countries listed in Table 2, DMC declined in absolute terms while GDP grew. Among the countries with the strongest decline in DMC were the large economies of Italy and Germany, where DMC declined by more than 10%. Other countries where absolute dematerialization has been observed were Portugal, France, Belgium and the United Kingdom. In all other Member States listed in Table 2, as well as in Switzerland and Norway, DMC increased in the period 2000 to 2005. The largest increases in DMC have been observed for Romania (+94%), Hungary (49%) and Sweden (39%). In these and six other countries, DMC grew at an even faster pace than GDP; that is, the material productivity of the economy declined. In eleven countries DMC grew at a slower rate than the economy and relative dematerialization was observed.

Country	Change in GDP	Change in DMC	Material Productivity			
Absolute Dematerialization: Declining DMC						
UK	13%	-0%	+13%			
BE	8%	-1%	+10%			
FR	9%	-3%	+12%			
PT	4%	-4%	+9%			
DE	3%	-11%	+16%			
IT	4%	-14%	+22%			
No Dematerialization: DMC grows faster than GDP						
RO	32%	94%	-32%			
HU	23%	49%	-17%			
SE	13%	39%	-18%			
SK	27%	30%	-2%			
ES	17%	25%	-6%			
CY	17%	24%	-5%			
FI	13%	15%	-2%			
DK	6%	12%	-5%			
AT	9%	11%	-2%			
Relative dematerialization: DMC grows slower than GDP						
LV	48%	26%	+17%			
BG	29%	17%	+10%			
LT	46%	17%	+24%			
IE	31%	12%	+17%			
SI	20%	11%	+8%			
GR	23%	9%	+12%			
PL	16%	7%	+9%			
NO	12%	4%	+7%			
СН	7%	3%	+4%			
CZ	20%	3%	+17%			
EE	46%	2%	+43%			

Table 2: Dematerialization: Relative change of GDP, DMC and Material Productivity in the period 2000 to 2005 by country

Source: based on data from Eurostat 2009b. Country names: see list of abbreviations

3 Land use and biomass extraction in the European Union

3.1 Summary

The EU-27 covers a territory of 4.3 mio km². Of this roughly 44% are currently used by agriculture and 36% are covered with forests. As in many other industrialized regions, the EU is experiencing a long term trend of declining agricultural areas. During the last ten years, an annual average of 10,700 km² was taken out of production and either reforested or taken by urban or infrastructure land. As a consequence of declining agricultural areas, forests grew by roughly 7,100 km² per year. Data on land take by urban settlements and infrastructure are less comprehensive and difficult to interpret, but for the period 1990 to 2000 it was estimated that a minimum of 1000 km² have been converted into infrastructure each year.

Despite of the substantial decline of agricultural area, biomass production from agriculture has been growing for many years. Since the 1980s, growth in harvest from cropland and grassland has slowed down or even stabilized at a high level. While the shift from intensively used agricultural land towards forest land can be interpreted as a release of environmental pressures, land use intensity on agricultural areas has been increasing until the late 1980s. Since then, agricultural inputs like artificial fertilizers and pesticides have decreased markedly while yields remained high. Nevertheless, land use intensity is very high in the European Union and in many regions human appropriation of net primary production (HANPP) is at a very high level above 40 or 50%. The growth in forest land and the decline in agricultural inputs can be interpreted as a certain overall decoupling of land use intensity from economic development.

In contrast to domestic biomass extraction, trade with biomass products is very dynamic, both imports and exports of biomass are growing rapidly. Overall, the European Union is a net importer of biomass products. It Imports large amounts of feed and animal products as well as wood and wood products. In net terms therefore, European biomass consumption is based on land use abroad. European imports of soybeans and soybean cake used in intensive European livestock production as protein feed are equivalent to an area of over 20 million ha of cropland, an area larger than the total area used for soybean production in Brazil. A recent study has estimated that the net imports of agricultural biomass of the EU-15 in the 1990s were equivalent to 25 to 33 mio ha of land. The implementation of the European biofuel strategy (10% share of transport fuels in 2020) will increase biofuel demand from currently 10 to 35 mtoe and is likely to further increase Europe's draw on global land resources.

3.2 Land use trends in Europe

Land is a key resource and the use of land is closely interrelated with socio-economic material flows. The availability of biologically productive land is the basis for the production of biomass and the provision of food for humans, feed for domesticated livestock, raw materials for manufacturing and industry and, increasingly, also for renewable energy carriers. Statistical data on the development of land use and land cover is available from Eurostat. However, these datasets cover only selected years and show considerable data gaps for some EU-27 member states. We therefore refer to data from the United Nations Food and Agricultural Organizations database (FAOSTAT)¹¹ to investigate the long term trends in land use in the European Union and its member states.

¹¹ http://faostat.fao.org/default.aspx.



Figure 25: Development of agricultural and forest land in the EU-27 from 1995 to 2007

The 27 member states of the European Union cover a territory of 4.3 mio km² of which 44% are used as agricultural land and 36% as forests (FAOSTAT, 2010). Figure 25 shows the development of agricultural land and forest land in the EU-27 in the period 1995 to 2007. As in many industrialized countries, agricultural areas are slowly declining. In the observed 12 year period the total extent of land used for agriculture shrank by roughly 6% from 2.0 to 1.9 million km². The declining trend was strongest for cropland which was reduced by 8%, but also permanent crops and grassland were shrinking (by 3 and 4%, respectively).





Source: FAOSTAT 2010

For the EU-15 data is available for a longer time span. Figure 26 indicates that the trend of a reduction of agricultural area is prevailing since several decades: While a total of 1.6 Mio km² of land was classified as agricultural area for the EU-15 countries in 1970, this area had decreased by 16% to 1.4 Mio km² by the year 2007. The decline was strongest for permanent meadows and pastures as well as for cropland which decreased by 14% and 12%, respectively. Permanent crops shrank by 8% between 1970 and 2005. This trend seems to continue, there is no indication of slowdown.

Data on the development of forest area are less reliable than those for agriculturally used land. FAOSTAT data indicate that in the period from 1995 to 2007 forest area in the EU-27 countries expanded by 6% from 1.48 to 1.57 Mio km², corresponding to an annual forest growth of 7000 km². A comparison of the net growth of forest area in the EU-27 countries in the period 1995 to 2007 (+85,000 km²) with the decline in agricultural area in the same period (-117,000 km²) reveals that only three quarters of the lost agricultural areas have been turned into forest land.

Next to erosion, contamination, and compaction, the EEA's State of the Environment report (EEA, 2005d) identifies sealing as one of the important contributors to soil degradation. There is no fully consistent European data set on the extent and expansion of built-up land available, but Eurostat provides some data on land covered by buildings and infrastructures for selected countries and years (Table 3). These data and the abovementioned difference between total loss of agricultural area and growth in forest area indicate that the extension of built up land is progressing at a high rate and that significant amounts of highly productive agricultural land continue to be converted into land used for infrastructure and settlements.

Country	Time Period	Built-Up Land	Agricultural Land
Belgium	1985 – 2000	+ 21%	±0%
Denmark	1985 – 2000	+ 44%	- 7%
France	1985 – 2000	+ 30%	- 6%
Germany*	1970 – 2000	+ 81%	- 10%
Netherlands	1970 – 2000	+ 75%	- 11%

Table 3: Development of Built-Up and Agricultural Land Across the Designated Time Period for Select EU15 MS,

Calculations based on: Eurostat 2010, *refers to the sum of values for East and West Germany before 1989

An EEA assessment of land take (EEA, 2005a) reported, that land uptake by urban areas and other artificial surfaces in 23 European countries covered by Corine Land Cover 2000 amounted to 9200 km² in the 10 years from 1990 to 2000. Total land take in these countries represented 0.3% of their total territory. This value may seem low, but spatial differences are very important and urban sprawl in many regions is very intense. In the period 1990 to 2000 artificial land uptake was fastest in Ireland (3.1% increase in urban area per year), Portugal (2.8%), Spain (1.9%) and the Netherlands (1.6%).

3.3 Extraction and use of biomass and land use

The European Union has a highly productive land use system. Biomass extraction (Figure 27a) in the EU-27 amounted to 1.6 billion tons in 2005, which corresponds to roughly 8% of total global biomass extraction. Crop harvest accounted for the largest share of total extraction (42%), followed by forage and grazed biomass (31%). The share of timber and fuel wood was 17% and that of crop residues 10%. The use of (plant) biomass in the EU-27 is clearly dominated by feeding domesticated livestock (Figure 27b). Data for biomass use in the year 2000 indicates that 57% of all biomass domestically consumed in the EU-27 countries was used to feed animals (market feed and non market feed including grazed biomass). Timber and fuel wood accounted for roughly 16% of used biomass, and only 9% of all plant based biomass was used for human nutrition.



Figure 27: Biomass extraction and use in the EU-27. Extraction data for 2005, use data for 2000.

Sources: Extraction based on Eurostat 2009, biomass use based on Krausmann et al., 2008a

While agricultural land shows a declining trend in the European Union, biomass extraction has been increasing considerably. Figure 28 highlights these opposite trends for the EU-15: Despite of a 13% reduction of both total agricultural area and cropland since 1970, biomass extraction from these areas has surged – and in particular did so in the period from 1970 to 1985. Over the whole period extraction of agricultural biomass grew by 15% and crop production by even 40%. While crop production continued to grow in the 1980s and 1990s, peak production of agricultural biomass was already reached in the mid 1980s.

Figure 28: Development of land use and harvest: a) Cropland and crop harvest; b) Agricultural area and agricultural harvest



Source: FAOSTAT 2010 (area) and Eurostat, 2007a (harvest)
The observed decoupling of the extent of agriculturally used areas and increases in biomass harvest was associated with significant increases in land use intensity and environmental pressures. The surge in output and yields was based on increasing inputs of agro-chemicals, fossil fuel use in agriculture and agricultural water use; It was associated with increased field size and loss of landscape structures; biodiversity loss, ground water pollution. However, since the early 1990s efficiency of agricultural inputs is increasing and pressures have been reduced. Figure 29 shows that the development of fertilizer consumption in the EU-15 peaked in the late 1980s and since has been declining markedly. A similar development has been observed for pesticide inputs (Figure 29): According to FAO data, pesticide input declined in the EU-27 since 1993.





Source: FAOSTAT 2010

3.4 Biomass trade

While biomass extraction in the European Union is stabilizing at a high level, trade with biomass and biomass products is growing dynamically. Figure 30 shows the trends of biomass trade (net imports and exports, see also section 3.2.3) of the EU-15 from 1970 to 2006.¹² In that period, biomass imports have increased by 54% and grew from 135 to 208 mio t. Exports grew at an even faster pace (over 300%) but are still considerably lower than imports (133 mio t in 2006).

¹² EU-15 trade data refer to extra EU-15 trade only. Trade within the EU between its member states is excluded.



Figure 30: Biomass imports and exports, EU15

Source: Eurostat 2007

3.5 Land use intensity: Human appropriation of net primary production

The intensification of land use has helped to increase production while the extent of land used for this production is declining. Overall, terrestrial ecosystems in the European Union are used very intensively. This is reflected in patterns of human appropriation of net primary production (HANPP).¹³ Net primary production (NPP) is the biomass produced by green plants through photosynthesis. It is the basis for all food chains, the ultimate food resource in all ecosystems. Two types of processes contribute the human appropriation of NPP: (1) Land use alters the productivity (NPP per unit area and year) of ecosystems (e.g., through replacement of natural ecosystems with agro-ecosystems or build-up land) and (2) used and unused harvest of biomass in ecosystems reduces the amount of biomass available for food chains in ecosystems. From a socioeconomic perspective, HANPP represents a composite measure of the impacts of biomass harvest and land-use induced productivity changes on biomass energy flows in terrestrial ecosystems. From an ecological perspective, HANPP measures the land-use induced changes in the annual availability of biomass energy for all heterotrophic organisms.¹⁴ It has been argued that HANPP and its components are indicative of the quality of land management as well as of pressures on biodiversity (Wright, 1990, Haberl et al., 2005), biogeochemical cycles (Steffen et al., 2004) and on the water cycle (Gerten et al., 2008).

From a global estimate of HANPP (Haberl et al., 2007) spatially explicit information on land use intensity in Europe can be derived. Figure 31 presents maps of harvested NPP (31a) and of HANPP for as percent of potential productivity of terrestrial ecosystems (31b) for the year 2000.¹⁵ The spatially explicit information in the maps is complemented by data for each country in Table 4. According to these data, several regions in Europe show exceptionally high levels of human appropriation of NPP. In the EU-27, HANPP averages at 46% which amounts to twice the reported global value (23%). Several countries in Europe have HANPP levels of 50% or more. The group of countries with high HANPP is dominated by the most densely populated countries (e.g.,

¹³ HANPP has been proposed as an indicator of human domination of ecosystems two decades ago as an (Vitousek et al., 1986, Vitousek et al., 1997)

¹⁴ i.e. food energy-consuming organisms, as opposed to autotrophic organisms that are capable of photosynthesis. ¹⁵ It is important to note that is contract to match it if

¹⁵ It is important to note, that in contrast to material flow accounts, HANPP accounts also include unused biomass extraction in harvested NPP.

Netherlands, Belgium) and countries with a high share of agricultural area of their total area (e.g., Hungary, Denmark). In contrast, HANPP is lowest in countries which are sparsely populated and/or have a high share of their land in forests (e.g. Sweden, Finland, Slovenia). Across the EU-27 member states, the rate of biomass extraction per unit of land area varies by one order of magnitude. It is as low as 69 t of dry matter per ha in Cyprus and reaches values above 700 t/ha in Belgium and the Netherlands. Relating the amount of used biomass extraction (consistent with domestic biomass extraction in MFA accounts) to the amount of appropriated NPP (both in tons dry matter) reveals that significant differences with respect to the HANPP efficiency of biomass harvest occur (factor 3). This suggests that in some regions efficiency gains might be possible, which would allow to increase biomass extraction without increasing HANPP, might be possible. Although there are no time series data of HANPP available in the European Union, existing case studies for Hungary, Spain and the United Kingdom indicate, that HANPP in Europe has stabilized in the second half of the 20th century (Erb et al., 2009b). In terms of HANPP, the growth in forest area is likely to counterbalance increases in harvest and soil sealing.

	Human appropriation of net primary production (HANPP)	Population density	Share of cropland in total land area	Biomass extraction per km ²	HANPP per ton used biomass
	[% of NPP of potential vegetation]	[cap/km ²]	[%]	[t/km²]	extraction [t dry matter]
Sweden	21%	20	6%	108	2.0
Finland	23%	15	7%	119	2.0
Cyprus	26%	85	14%	69	3.2
Slovenia	32%	98	10%	218	2.0
Greece	38%	80	30%	175	2.0
Latvia	39%	37	29%	136	3.5
Estonia	40%	31	23%	151	3.0
Austria	41%	96	18%	311	1.7
Spain	41%	79	36%	162	2.8
Bulgaria	45%	72	41%	167	3.0
Portugal	46%	109	29%	192	2.7
Ireland	47%	54	15%	518	1.1
Slovakia	48%	110	32%	262	2.4
France	50%	107	36%	435	1.5
Italy	51%	191	37%	283	2.0
Lithuania	51%	57	46%	178	3.5
Romania	52%	94	42%	209	2.7
Germany	53%	230	34%	485	1.4
United Kingdom	53%	245	24%	475	1.2
Belgium-	56%	323	26%	704	1.0
Dolond	58%	123	2070 46%	704	1.0
Czach Popublic	50%	130	40%	261	2.0
Hungary	53%	107	4270 53%	415	2.1
Denmark	65%	123	54%	588	1.9
Netherlands	690/	382	J470 2704	200 211	1.4
FU15	00%0 /20%	104	21% 27%	301	1.0
EU13 FU12	4070 570%	104	47%	247	2.5
FU27	<u>46%</u>	102	30%	247	2.5
Source: Calculation	ns based on Haberl et al	2007. Kraus	mann et al 20)08a. Haberl et a	I 2009.

Table 4: Human appropriation of net primary production in EU-27 member states



Figure 31: Harvested net primary production (NPPh) and human appropriation of NPP (HANPP) in Europe in the year 2000

Source: Haberl et al. 2007; NPPh is given in grams carbon per m² and year, HANPP as percentage of the NPP of potentially prevailing vegetation.

3.6 The impact of biomass use in the EU on global land use

During the last decades, technological progress in agriculture has triggered tremendous increases in area productivity and the production of agricultural biomass was increasing faster than demand in the European Union. On the one hand, this is reflected in rapidly increasing biomass exports, on the other hand, gains in area productivity allowed for the observed decline in agricultural areas. A significant part of the agricultural areas which have been taken out of production have been reforested. Another part has been consumed by the expansion of built up land. But European farmers were also paid for not growing crops. This so called set aside land became fallow land or it was used to grow so called non food crops. These trends and in particular the efforts to reduce agricultural production by taking land out of production lead to the widespread communication that the EU has spare agricultural land which could be used for the substitution of biomass for mineral materials and fossil fuels. Considering the growing imports of biomass, however, changes the picture: Soybeans and soybean cake may serve as an example here: The European Union has a large livestock sector and produces roughly 43 million tones of meat per year which equals 15-18% of global meat production. Most of this meat is consumed within the EU, the share of net exports is very small. To maintain this level of highly intensive livestock production system, large amounts of high quality protein feed are required. The largest share of this protein feed is based on soybeans and soybean cake and is imported from countries like Brazil or the United States. Figure 32 shows that the European Union is only producing minor quantities of soybeans domestically, but imports roughly 15 mio tons of soybeans and 23 mio tons of soybean cake. These imports correspond to an area of more than 20 mio ha of cropland (based on average yields obtained in Brazil) - an area actually larger than that used for soybean cultivation in Brazil. What this example shows, is that while European agricultural areas are declining, European imports are demanding large areas of fertile cropland in distant regions of the world and European consumption patterns are contributing to deforestation and land use change elsewhere.

Figure 32: Development of soybean production in the EU-27 and net-imports of soybean(cake) (32a) and Area-equivalent of net-imports of soybean(cake) in comparison with soybean area of Brazil (32b)



Source: calculations on the basis of FAOSTAT 2010

Hardly any comprehensive studies exist which provide quantitative data on European land imports. The best available material is a study by Bringezu and colleagues (Steger, 2005, Bringezu et al., 2009b) who have quantified the global land use that is related to domestic biomass use in the

European Union, taking into account that the European Union is a net importer of agricultural biomass.

According to this study global land used for the imports of agricultural biomass into the EU-15 countries in the period 1990 to 2000 by far exceeded the land used for exports. The net trade balance in terms of land in that period had a surplus of between 25 and 33 million ha with a slightly declining tendency – which reflects that exports were growing at a faster pace than imports. The study lists oil cakes, soybeans, sunflower coffee and cocoa as the major contributors to global land use of EU imports. In 2000 the global land use for agricultural goods consumption in the EU-15 was 4310 m²/cap. This area was 18% larger than the domestic agricultural area used. A more recent study on the EUs virtual land use abroad by ven der Sleen (2009) concludes, that "for every hectare of agricultural land use in the EU one hectare is used outside of the EU only for the production of the raw imported agricultural products." Assessments of global HANPP embodied in imported biomass products corroborate these results and indicate that the European Union is drawing considerably on the global land system. According to data derived from Erb et al. (2009c), net imports of biomass to the EU-27 are associated with a HANPP equivalent to 45% of domestic EU-27 HANPP in 2000.

European efforts to increase the use of biofuel might enhance pressures on European and global land use systems: During the last decade, biofuel consumption in the EU-27 has been growing rapidly. In 2008 roughly 10 mio tons of oil equivalents (mtoe) of biofuels (mostly biodiesel) have been consumed, equal to roughly 3% of the energy currently used in road transport (EurObserv'ER, 2009, Fischer et al., 2010). The implementation of the goals formulated in the European biofuels directive might lead to an increase of biofuel consumption towards 35 mtoe (Figure 33). A quantification of the agricultural area required to produce the feedstock for the production of these fuels is difficult, as it depends on the development of crop yields, assumptions on which crops are used and where they are produced and the share of 1st and 2nd generation biofuels in production. A study by the European Commission (2007) estimates that an area of 17.5 mio hectares would be required by 2020 if the 10% incorporation goal is fulfilled, others estimate up to 30 mio ha (Eickhout et al . 2008). A recent study concluded, that the European biofuel target can only be met by producing additional biofuel outside the European Community (Bringezu et al. 2009, Eickhout et al., 2008)



Figure 33: Development and projections of biodiesel and bioethanol demand and the incorporation rate until 2020 in the EU-27

A detailed estimate of the impact of n a scenario analysis for Germany, Bringezu et al. (2009a) showed, that if Germany was to fulfil biofuel demands of current policy targets, this would considerably expand its global cropland demand. The study estimates that roughly 32% to 42% of

Source: European Comission 2007 (http://ec.europa.eu/agriculture/analysis/markets/biofuel/impact042007/text_en.pdf)

Germany's biofuel demand in 2030 would have to be imported and that four fifths of the total land required for biofuels would have to be claimed abroad, for biodiese the share would be as high as 94-99%. Figure 34 from Bringezu et al (2009) show that Germany's global land requirement in 2004 was in line with the worldwide per capita availability, but exceeded its domestically available agricultural land of 2063 m2 per person by around 21%. Since domestic land could only meet about one-fifth (19–22%) of the demand for biofuels in 2030, increased imports would be necessary. In 2030, 43–44% of Germany's global land requirement would be for animal based nutrition, 23% for plant based nutrition, 27% for energetic biomass, and 6–7% for nonenergetic biomass. In this scenario Germany's global land requirement in 2030 would exceed its dowestically available agricultural land of 2160 m2 per person by 30–36%, under BAU development for non-food biomass and given unchanged nutrition habits. Overall, the German biofuel scenarios for 2030 result in an additional net requirement of land between to 2.5 to 3.4 million hectares, causing significant CO₂ emissions due to direct and indirect land use changes in tropical regions.

Figure 34: Global agricultural land use of Germany compared with domestically available agricultural land in Germany and cropland in the World (square meters per capita in 2004 and 2030).



On the basis of net consumption land, 2.800 m2 per Person would be available under BAU I in 2030 and 2930 m2 per Person under BAU II in 2030.

Source: Bringezu et al. 2009

These studies indicate that despite declining agricultural areas and a stabilization of HANPP there is little room for a shift towards an increased use of agricultural biomass and in particular crop products as a substitute for mineral materials and energy carriers. These attempts are likely to contribute to the existing tendency of shifting pressures from Europe to the land system in the rest of the world. Eickhout et al (2009), therefore argue that "this additional pressure on land, globally, asks for sustainability criteria. Criteria that can also be applied outside the EU. Even when most of the biofuels are grown within the EU (as concluded in the Commission's Impact Assessment), criteria need to address the displacement effect: food and feed will be grown elsewhere outside the EU because productive land will be occupied by biofuel crops."

3.7. Decoupling of land use and economic development

The relation between land use and economic development is complex. Land is not a flow resource like materials or energy and it can not be consumed or "used up" in economic processes. Economic development is rather related to shifts from one land use type to another and with changes in land use intensity. Data on the long term development of land use, land use intensity and economic development in the EU-27 reveal different trends: Figure 35 shows that in the European Union, like in many other industrialized countries a shift from intensively used agricultural land towards extensively used woodlands can be observed. This process, which has been termed forest transition (Kauppi et al., 2006), is common in almost all member states of the European Union: The largest reductions in agricultural area were observed in the new member states, above all in the Baltic States, Poland and Bulgaria, while the least decline occurred in the UK and Belgium/Luxembourg. (see Table 5). In addition to a shift from intensively used agricultural land towards forest land also a trend towards more efficient use of agricultural inputs with economic development is visible: While for example fertilizer application (and also pesticide use – Figure 29 above) is decreasing in the EU-27, yields are still on the rise. Also these trends occur in most of the EU-27 member states.

With respect to the loss of productive land to urban and infrastructure land, however, there is no decoupling from economic development observable. Even though comprehensive data are lacking, all available evidence suggests, that increase in built up land are progressing in all member states and are closely linked to economic development. In the period 1990 to 2000 roughly 1000 km² of productive land were converted into built up land per year in 23 European countries and conversion rates were highest in countries with high growth rates of GDP such as Spain, Portugal or Ireland (EEA, 2005a).





Source: based on data from FAOSTAT 2010

	GDP (constant prices)	Agricultural area	Forest area
Estonia	130%	-38%	5%
Malta	60%	-28%	0%
Latvia	138%	-27%	6%
Slovakia	105%	-21%	1%
Lithuania	101%	-19%	8%
Bulgaria	48%	-16%	11%
Poland	93%	-14%	3%
Italy	25%	-13%	17%
Portugal	39%	-12%	19%
Slovenia	84%	-11%	6%
Greece	65%	-10%	12%
Romania	58%	-8%	0%
Sweden	54%	-7%	1%
Austria	41%	-6%	2%
Hungary	65%	-5%	9%
Spain	63%	-5%	29%
Finland	69%	-4%	1%
Netherlands	48%	-4%	5%
Ireland	169%	-3%	41%
Denmark	40%	-3%	11%
France	36%	-3%	6%
Cyprus	79%	-1%	6%
Germany	26%	-1%	2%
Czech Republic	58%	-1%	1%
United Kingdom	52%	1%	8%
Belgium-			
Luxembourg	42%	1%	-1%

Table 5: Changes in GDP, Agricultural area and forest land in the EU-27 member states in the period 1993 to 2007

Source: United Nations 2010 (GDP) and FAOSTAT 2010 (land use)

4 Material Use of the European Union in a Global Context

4.1 Summary

In 2005 the European Union directly used 13% of all resources extracted globally. EU's global share was highest for materials of strategic importance, such as fossil energy carriers and metals (16% each). On top of this, the EU in physical terms is a large net importer of commodities that are associated with substantial upstream resource requirements in the exporting countries that do not reflect themselves in the MFA indicators. Thus, the European draw on global resource base is likely to be even pronounced than the data presented suggest. The European pattern of material use is typical for highly industrialized countries with. a high share of non renewable mineral materials in DMC, in particular of fossil energy carriers. The per capita rate of material use is more than 50% above the global average of 9-10 tonnes per year. In comparison with other industrialized regions, European material consumption per capita is average: DMC in the EU-27 is roughly 30% above the level of Japan and 40% below the level of the United States. However, while Japan has significantly reduced its DMC, material use in the EU-15 and the USA has only remained stable. In the EU-27, however, DMC is still growing, but at a lower rate than GDP.

At the global scale, material use is growing at a rapid pace. While industrialized countries still contribute an over proportionally high share to direct material use, their relative contribution is declining. Further growth in material extraction at the global scale is increasingly driven by newly industrializing countries such as China, Brazil or India. It is important to keep in mind, though, that a substantial portion of this material use in newly industrializing countries is due to the production of commodities for consumption in the industrial core.

There exist very few projections of material use over the coming decades, neither for the European Union nor at the global scale. Only recently the data base and the knowledge about patterns and drivers of material use surpassed the critical threshold required to make reasonable projections and scenario calculations. Up to date only two comprehensive scenario studies dealing with overall material flows in the European Union have been published (EEA 2005 and Lutz and Giljum 2009). These studies are, however, basically limited to forecasts of material extraction without covering trade and material consumption. The baseline scenarios of both studies assume overall material extraction in the European Union to rise during the next decades (up to 2020 and 2030, respectively). Lutz and Giljum (2009), for example, assume that material extraction in the EU-27 will increase by 16% during the next 20 years. Most of this growth is expected for construction minerals and forest biomass. The reasons for assuming these long term trends of material extraction are not clear, however. They run counter the trends observed in the past years in which material extraction in the European Union has been declining (fossil energy carriers and ores) or has stabilized (biomass and non metallic minerals). Also DMC has stabilized in the European Union during the last years: Average per capita DMC of the EU-15 countries is constant at xy t/cap/yr and has been growing in the 12 new member states to almost the level of the EU-15. Based on these trends the plausibility of the scenarios which predict further growth in materials use ought to be questioned.

At the global scale, the two existing projections (Lutz and Giljum 2009 and Fischer-Kowalski et al. 2010) expect a substantial increase in material extraction and consumption. Lutz and Giljum (2009) estimate that global DE will increase from currently 60 billion tons to 115 billion tons in 2030 and Fischer-Kowalski et al. (2010) create a very similar business-as-usual trajectory (material use in the developing countries reaching the stable levels typical for mature industrial economies) in which overall material use would climb towards 150 billion tons in 2050. Scenarios for a more sustainable development of global material use all rely upon a significant reductions in the material consumption in industrialized countries.

4.2 Share of the EU in Global Material Extraction and Use

The economy of the European Union contributes considerably to global material use (see Table 6). With respect to non-metallic minerals and fossil energy carriers, EU's share of global extraction and use was even higher (at 16%). As a consequence, per capita material use in the European Union (15.8 tons) is above global average (depending on the source between 9 and 10t).

Still the EUs overall material demand is likely to be underestimated in these figures due to a high reliance on net imports of materials (and in particular of metals): Considering indirect flows associated with net imports would considerably increase the share of Europe in global material consumption.

	% of Global DE	% of Global DMC	% of Global Population	% of Global GDP
Total	11%	13%	8%	22%
Biomass	8%	9%		
Non-Metallic Minerals	16%	16%		
Metal Ores	3%	6%		
Fossil Fuels	8%	16%		

Table 6: Share of the EU-27 in Global DE, DMC, Population, and GDP, 2005

Source: based on Eurostat 2009

The dominant role which the EU-15 play for the EU-27's level of resource use also means that the contribution of the EU-15 economies is significant at the global level. Due to the fact that material use in the EU-15 has stabilized while global material use is growing at high rates (Krausmann et al., 2009, SERI, 2009) the share of the EU-15 in global material use is declining (Figure 36). Non-metallic minerals made up 28% of global DMC in 1970, fossil fuels made up 22%, metal ores 13%, and biomass 11%. In the same year, the EU-15 had 9% of the global population and accounted for 30% of global GDP. Despite this relative decline, in 2004, the EU-15 still accounted for 13% of global fossil fuel DMC, 12% of non-metallic minerals DMC, 8% of biomass DMC, and 4% of metal ores DMC while at the same time having 6% of global population and 22% of global GDP.



Figure 36: Share of EU-15 DMC in Total Global DMC by Material Categories in Percent. 1970-2004

Source: based on Eurostat 2007

4.3 Comparison of material use patterns in the EU, Japan and the USA

In this section we compare the development and size of material use in the European Union with that in Japan and the USA, two of most important global economies and global trends. Data for Japan are derived from official Japanese statistics (Ministry of the Environment, 2008); Data for the USA are based on the SocialEcology database (see also Rogich, 2005) and global data from Krausmann et al. (2009).

In 2004 all three industrialized economies had a per capita material use above the global average. With a DMC of roughly 16 t/cap/yr per capita in 2004, resource us in the EU-27 is 31% above the Japanese level and 42% below the level in the USA (Figure 37). Per capita DMC in the USA is roughly three times the global average. Together, EU-27, Japan and the USA occupy approximately 14% of global population and they contribute 30% to global material use (Figure 38). Compared to the EU-27 and Japan the share of the USA in global material use is over proportionally high: The USA inhabit only 5% of the global population but use 14% of global resources.



Figure 37: Per capita DMC in 2004: Global Average, Japan, EU-15 and EU-27 and the USA

Figure 38: Share of Japan, EU-27 and USA in global DMC and population



Source: based on Eurostat 2009, Rogich et al. 2005, Ministry of the Environment 2008

Also the development over time differs between the three economies and the global pattern (Figure 39). While DMC has stabilized in the EU-15 and did not increase since 1980, material consumption at the global level is characterized by rapid growth. Overall, global DMC has surged by 64% between 1980 and 2004 (see Figure 39d). The physical economy of the USA also has been growing considerably in this period. With the exception of metals, all material groups have increased by 20-62%, overall DMC grew by 37%. In contrast, Japan is one of the few industrialized economies which managed absolute dematerialization: With the exception of fossil fuels (which grew by 44%), the DMC of all material groups significantly declined resulting in an overall reduction of material use between 1980 and 2004 by 14%. In Japan the turning point from physical growth to absolute dematerialisation occurred in 1990 and relates to economic crises and certain saturation effects and massive political efforts to establish sound material flow cycles (reduce, reuse and recycle strategy) (see e.g. Hashimoto et al., 2008).



Figure 39: DMC of the EU-15 (32a), Japan (32b), the USA (32c) and Global (32d) (indexed 1980=100)

Source: Eurostat 2007 (EU-15); Ministry of the environment (Japan); Social Ecology database and Rogich et al., 2005(USA) and Krausmann et al. 2009 (global).

4.4 Projections of European and global material use

While a significant body of literature is available assessing past developments of material use, only little is available with respect to projections or scenarios of future materials use. This section provides an overview of the few existing scenarios of future development of aggregate material use in the European Union and at the global level. We briefly review three scenario studies: Projections published by the European Environmental Agency in 2005 for materials extraction and use in the European Union in 2020 (EEA, 2005b). A recent study (Giljum et al. (2008), Lutz and Giljum (2009)) developed scenarios for future materials use in the European Union and world wide for 2020 and 2030. A study by Fischer-Kowalski et al. (2010) presents scenarios for global resource use for the year 2050.

4.4.1 Projections for European material flows by EEA 2005

The study "Outlook for waste and material flows. Baseline and alternative scenarios" was conducted by the European Topic Center on Resource and Waste Management (EEA, 2005b) and contributed to the EEA report "State and outlook of the European environment" (EEA, 2005d). The main objective of the study was *"to provide an assessment of the likely future trends of waste quantities and material flows"* (EEA, 2005b: p.5). It gives projections for so called "aggregate material flows" (95% of DMC components)¹⁶ and for the DEU (=domestic material extraction used) of minerals and biomass. The development of the DMC has been forecasted only in the case of fossil fuels. Thus, the scenarios on European material use and their results have their limitations: The comparability of the results is problematic because of the inadequate definition of "aggregate materials". The study only takes the European DE (domestic extraction of materials) into account and neglects the global context (except the exception of fossil fuels).

The selected material flows (aggregate material flows, minerals, biomass and fossil fuels) were modelled using two, in the case of fossil fuels three different scenarios: A **business as usual scenario (baseline)**, a **Low growth scenario** and a **Sustainable Emission Pathway scenario (SEP)**. All scenarios were calculated separately for the EU-15 and EU-10 (new accession) countries. The key assumptions on socio-economic variables are based on the LREM¹⁷ baseline scenario: Annual economic growth rates of 2.3% (EU-15) and 3.6-3.8% (EU-10), for the Low growth scenario economic growth rates of 1.6-1.7% (EU-15) and 3.4% (EU-10) were assumed. The SEP "is based on the assumption of certain energy and climate policy measures influencing particularly the energy mix. These changes relate e.g. to increased shares of renewable energies and switches from carbon-intensive coal towards less carbon-intensive crude oil and gas fuels." (EEA, 2005b: p.15). The study arrives at the following projections for material use:

Development of aggregate material extraction along with GDP for Europe

The Baseline as well as the low growth scenarios show that the aggregated material extraction increases, albeit more slowly than GDP (depending on countries and scenario). That is relative decoupling of materials use and economic growth is occurring, however no decrease of material use in absolute terms is predicted. According to the projections, resource productivity in the EU-10 will grow faster (51% in the baseline and 46% in the low growth) than in the EU-15 (35% and 31%, respectively) (Figure 40). The study concludes that according to a "business-as usual" development, technological progress (resource productivity) is not improving enough to achieve an absolute decoupling and furthermore, that in order to achieve a stagnating material input, as a minimum resource productivity has to grow at the same growth rate as the GDP (EEA, 2005b: p.67).

¹⁶ "The projections for material flows comprise main components of the Domestic Material Consumption (DMC), a composite indicator showing how much materials are consumed by a national economy. Not all components of the DMC are included, but the components which have been projected represent about 95% of composite DMC and is therefore a good proxy for it." (EEA, 2005 p. 8 and p. 18).
¹⁷ "The LREM baseline scenario presents a projection of the EU energy and transport outlook to 2030 on the

¹⁷ "The LREM baseline scenario presents a projection of the EU energy and transport outlook to 2030 on the basis of current market trends and existing polices. The LREM baseline scenario is based on a quantitative analysis, with the use of PRIMES and ACE mathematical models, and in a consultation process with energy experts and organisations." (EEA, 2005 p.5)

Figure 40: Development of GDP and aggregate materials extraction in the EU15 (34a) and the EU10 (new accession countries) (34b)





Source: EEA 2005a

Development of the DMC of fossil fuels along with imports

All three scenarios show that the share of domestically extracted fossil fuels in total consumption will decrease. This development goes along with a net increase of imports of fossil from outside the EU and the energy dependency (share of imports) of the EU will increase significantly. In the SEP the energy dependency is even higher due to a changing energy mix from coal to oil and gas.

EU-15 countries: In the business as usual scenario fossil fuels consumption increases slightly (from 1.49 billion tons in the year 2000 to 1.62 billion tons in 2020). The Low growth scenario shows a more or less constant level, even a slight decrease (from 1.49 to 1.44 billion tons) between 2000 and 2020. The SEP forecasts an absolute decrease in fossil fuel material consumption to 1.40 billion tons in 2020.

EU-10 countries.¹⁸ In the business as usual scenario fossil fuel materials consumption decrease slightly from 329 million tonnes in the year 2000 to 314 million tonnes in 2020. This is driven mainly by reductions in the Czech Republic and Estonia. The Low growth scenario shows almost the same results. In the Sustainable Emission Pathway scenario, the fossil fuel materials

¹⁸ "The historical data time series is limited to a relative short period of 8 years (1992-1999). For the historical period 1992-1999, only the Direct Material Input (DMI = domestic extraction + imports) is available for fossil fuel materials, whereas the DMC (= domestic extraction + imports – exports) is projected for the years 2000-2030." (EEA, 2005: p. 97)

consumption shows a clear and steady decrease from 329 million tonnes in 2000 to 272 million tonnes in 2020.

4.4.2 Scenarios of future European and global material extraction by Giljum et al. (2008) and Lutz and Giljum (2009).

This group of scenarios is based on the GINFORS¹⁹ model, a multi sector, multi country, macroeconometric model with global coverage. This economy-energy-environment model combines econometric-statistical analysis with input-output analysis and is extended by a worldwide database on material input. The scenarios are based on assumptions concerning population development, economic growth, energy consumptions and emission development according to national and international projections. Resource supply restrictions were considered only in the case of fossil fuels. Physical flows are presented only for resource extraction in the published material. A first set of scenarios was published in 2008 (Giljum et al., 2008) and an updated version by Lutz and Giljum (2009). Scenarios are provided for a business as usual case; Giljum et al. (2008) also provide scenarios for more sustainable materials use. They assume EU environmental policies (policy goals and measures) and investigate their effect on European and worldwide material use. Here we focus on the updated version of Lutz and Giljum (2009).

Business as usual up to 2030 - used material extraction (domestic material extraction)

According to the business as usual scenario the total used domestic extraction in the EU-25 will increase moderately from 6 to slightly above 7 billion tons (Figure 41). Also according to this model, the stabilization of resource extraction in the EU observed during the last decade ends and a new dynamic of growth sets in.



Figure 41: Used domestic extraction in the business as usual case in EU-25, BASE

Source: Lutz and Giljum, 2009

Extraction of forestry products, non-ferrous metals and construction metals show major increases in the projections for the EU-25, whereas the extraction of fossil fuels declines, which is mostly due to the assumed supply restrictions (see Figure 41).

¹⁹ GINFORS (Global INterindustry FORecasting System model).

In contrast to the European projection, the development at the global level (see Figure 42) is characterized by drastic increase. Very high growth rates are forecasted for metals (with high production growth in emerging economies and high extraction growth in other parts of the world) and for the material extraction for agriculture and construction, which are forecasted with annual growth rates of about 2.6%. Overall, global materials extraction is projected to more than double between 2000 and 2030 to 115 billion tons.



Figure 42: Global used material extraction in the business-as-usual case (billions of tonnes)

According to the business as usual scenario the share of the EU-25 of worldwide material extraction will decline by roughly 50% in the period 2000 to 2030. The same is foreseen for the OECD countries. In contrast to the high industrialised countries, the BRICS²⁰ countries and the "rest of the world" will increase their share from almost 40% in 2000 up to almost 80% in 2030 (see Figure 43). This indicates, that the significance of material imports into the EU and its draw on global resources compared to domestic resources will continue to increase in this scenario.

Source: Lutz and Giljum, 2009

²⁰ BRICS countries = Brazil, India, China, Russia and South Africa.



Figure 43: Global used material extraction for country groups in the business-as-usual case

Business as usual up to 2020 by Giljum et. al. (2008) - extraction rates

In an earlier version of scenario runs with the GINFORS model, Giljum and colleagues (2008) arrive at similar results: Global extraction rises to more than 80 billion tons in 2020. Metal ores are expected to show the highest grow rates. Extraction rates (DE/capita)²¹ are forecasted to increase up to 32 tonnes in the group "other industrialised countries" (from around 28 tons in 1995) due to high extraction rates in Australia, Canada and the US. The highest grow rates – about 60% -are projected for the group Anchor countries due to rapid economic growth and less population growth compared with other developing countries). Europe shows stable rates (10 tons/capita/yr), the country group "rest of the world" show increases from around 8 tons in 1995 to 10 tons in 2010.

LOW and HIGH sustainability scenarios up to 2020 (Giljum et. al 2008)

The results of both the LOW and HIGH sustainability scenario show, that European policy measures might have positive effects on European material use in terms of reduction of the DE (see Figure 44). They do not have strong (positive) effects on global material use: 1% reduction is forecasted in the LOW scenario, 2.1% in the HIGH scenario compared to 1995. The study concludes that these moderate effects results from negative effects by the policy measures on trade volumes.

Source: Lutz and Giljum, 2009

²¹ The global average per capita metabolic rate in the year 2000 is somewhere between 8.0 tons Behrens et al., 2007, Krausmann et al., 2009 and 10 tons Krausmann et al., 2008b of annual resource use.



Figure 44: Used domestic extraction in the EU-25, three scenarios, 1995–2020

Source: Giljum et al., 2008

The authors point out, that both sustainability scenarios indicate positive effects on economic performance with increasing real GDP per capita in the EU-25. Economic growth is strongest between 2015 and 2020, with direct consequences for material extraction, in particular of construction minerals. This result is mainly driven by strong positive effects on growth through productivity gains.

4.4.3 Scenarios of future global material use by Fischer-Kowalski et al. 2010

Based on detailed material extraction data for the year 2000, three scenarios for global materials extraction in 2050 have been calculated (Figure 45)²². The scenarios are forced future scenarios assuming different trends of contraction (industrialized countries) and convergence (developing countries) for per capita material use (so called metabolic rates) and population development. In addition to a business as usual scenario two scenarios with a more sustainable resource use based on the idea of "contraction & convergence" put forward in the climate debate (GCI, 2003) have been developed.

The scenarios assume

- a continuation of the current patterns: namely, that densely populated regions and countries require only about half the metabolic rate (annual resource use per capita) for the same standard of living as sparsely populated areas.
- a population change according to UN projections (medium variant), calculated country by country.
- the ratios of metabolic rates between high and low density countries to remain stable, and
- that the composition by material components remains unchanged.

²² The year 2000 was used as a baseline, as it best reflects a metabolic equilibrium that had dominated the 25 preceding years (see section 3.2) and was mainly shaped by the trends in the industrialized countries. In the years since, a new phase of growth can be observed that we chose to capture in the scenario part of our analysis, as according to more detailed data it is already due to a "catching up"-process by major developing countries (such as China or several Latin American countries).

	Baseline 2000	Freeze and caching up	Moderate contraction and convergence	Tough contraction and convergence
Global metabolic use [billlion t/year]	50	140 (more than tripling)	70 (about 40% increase)	50 (constant)
Global metabolic rate [t/cap/yr]	8	16	8	6
CO ₂ [tons/capita /yr]		3.2	1.6	0.75
Global emissions [GtC/yr]		28.8	14.4	6.7
Implications for industrialized countries		maintaining the resource consumption patterns	substantial structural change	reduction of metabolic rate by factor 3-5
Implications Developing countries		an increase of metabolic rates by a factor 1.2 to1.3	doubling of metabolic rates	10-20% reductions of metabolic rate

Table 7: Overview of 3 scenarios of future global material use compared to 2000

Source: based on Fischer-Kowalski et al. (2010)

Scenario 1: Business as usual - Freeze (industrial countries) and catching up (developing countries)

Industrial countries maintain their metabolic rates of the year 2000 (freeze), developing countries catch up by 2050 to the same rates (catching up). For developing countries, this implies something more than a doubling of their metabolic rates which, in combination with projected population growth, boosts their material demand. This scenario complies well with the projections on global material use described above (see Figure 43 "Global used material extraction in the business-as-usual case") and trends observed in the past decades (Krausmann et al. 2009):

Results:

By 2050, this scenario results in a global metabolic scale of 140 billion tons annually, and an average global metabolic rate of 16 tons / cap. In relation to the year 2000, this would imply more than a tripling of annual global resource extraction, and establish global metabolic rates that correspond to the present European average. Average per capita carbon emissions would triple to 3.2 tons/cap and global emissions would more than quadruple to 28.8 GtC/yr.

This scenario represents an extremely unsustainable future in terms of both resource use and emissions, exceeding all possible measures of environmental limits. Its emissions are higher than the highest scenarios in the IPCC SRES (Nakicenovic and Swart, 2000), but since the IPCC scenarios have already been outpaced by the evolution since 2000 (Raupach et al., 2007), it might in fact be closer to the real business-as-usual.

<u>Scenario 2: Moderate contraction and convergence - Reduction by Factor 2 (industrial countries)</u> and catching up (developing countries)

In this scenario, industrial countries reduce their metabolic rates by a factor of 2 while developing countries catch up to these reduced rates by the year 2050.

This scenario presupposes substantial structural change, amounting to a new pattern of industrial production and consumption. So far, despite technical efficiency gains in various domains, there are very few industrial countries whose metabolic rates have declined. On the other hand, such metabolic rates correspond roughly to the conditions in Spain or Greece in the early 1970s - a situation many people still remember as comfortable. Given the resource efficiency gains that occurred meanwhile, living by these rates today would be much more comfortable. For developing countries, this scenario implies an increase of metabolic rates by a factor 1.2 to1.3 (depending upon density).

By 2050, this scenario amounts to a global metabolic scale of 70 billion tons, which means about 40% more annual resource extraction than in the year 2000. The average global metabolic rate would stay roughly the same as in 2000, at 8 tons / cap. The average CO_2 emissions per capita would increase by almost 50% to 1.6 tons per capita, and global emissions would more than double to 14.4 GtC.

Taken as a whole, this would be a scenario of friendly moderation: while overall constraints (e.g. food supply) are not transgressed in a severe way beyond what they are now²³, developing countries have the chance for a rising share in global resources, and for some absolute increase in resource use, while industrial countries have to cut on their overconsumption. Its carbon emissions correspond to the middle of the range of IPCC SRES climate scenarios.

<u>Scenario 3: Tough contraction and convergence - Freeze global resource consumption at the 2000</u> <u>level, and converge (industrial & developing countries)</u>

In this scenario, the level of global consumption of primary resources in 2050 is limited to equal the global resource consumption of the year 2000; industrial and developing countries converge in their metabolic rates. This scenario requires the industrialized countries to reduce their metabolic rate by factor 3-5, and also even requires 10-20% reductions in metabolic rate on the part of the countries that were classified as "developing" in the year 2000.

By 2050, this scenario amounts to a global metabolic scale of 50 billion tons (the same as in the year 2000) and allows for an average global metabolic rate of only 6 tons /cap (equal, for example to that of India in the year 2000). The average per capita carbon emissions would be reduced by roughly 40% to 0.75 tons/cap – global emissions obviously would remain constant at the 2000 level of 6.7 GtC/yr.

Taken as a whole, this would be a scenario of tough restraint. Even in this scenario the global ecological footprint of the human population on earth would exceed global biocapacity (unless substantial efficiency gains and reductions in carbon emissions would make it drop), but the pressure on the environment, despite a larger world population, would be roughly the same as it is now. The carbon emissions correspond approximately to the lowest range of scenario B1 of the IPCC SRES, but are still 20% above the roughly 5.5 GtC/yr advocated by the Global Commons Institute for contraction and convergence in emissions (GCI, 2003).

²³ If we think in terms of global footprint, already present resource consumption exceeds earth's carrying capacity, let alone another increase of 40%.



Figure 45: Projections of resource use up to 2050: three forced future scenarios

Source: Fischer-Kowalski et al. 2010

Scenario interpretation:

The implications of these scenarios are far reaching. The "freeze and catching up" scenario **(scenario 1: BAU)** implies almost tripling global annual resource extraction and consumption by 2050, as developing countries catch up with the resource consumption patterns of the industrialized countries (Lutz and Giljum, 2009). In more detail, this means globally more than doubling biomass use, while almost quadrupling fossil fuel use tripling annual metals use (ores) and the use of construction minerals. This scenario would place an equivalent burden on the planet as if the human population tripled by the year 2050 to 18 billion people, while maintaining the resource consumption patterns of the year 2000. Moreover, this increase would, to a very large extent, take place in countries that were classified as developing countries with a very high population density in the year 2000, such as China and India. Thus, the burden of resource flows per unit area would in 2050 be substantially above the European or Japanese levels of today. This BAU scenario is incompatible with IPCC's climate protection targets, even if highly improbable carbon-capture-and-storage (CCS) rates on top of very high rates of (non-biomass-based) renewable energy supplies are assumed.

Scenario 2 (moderate contraction and convergence), although assuming substantial structural change of the dominant industrial production and consumption patterns, still implies a roughly 40% increase in annual global resource use. Practically all of that increase would occur in the countries classified as "developing" in the year 2000. Such a fast increase in resource consumption would render the existing policies of "circular economy" (OECD, 2008d) very difficult, if only because the potentially re-usable wastes are – and will always be - very much smaller than the required inputs. For the industrialized countries, achieving a factor 2 reduction of metabolic rates would imply resource productivity gains of 1-2% annually (which is within the range of the productivity gains of the past two decades), net of any income-based rebound effects (Greening et al., 2000). More realistically, it would require much higher innovation rates and productivity (efficiency) gains.²⁴ In either case, this scenario would require substantial economic structural change.

²⁴ One should be aware that achieving a substantial reduction of resource use on an economy-wide per capita level is much more difficult than achieving substantial resource productivity gains within certain areas of production. For an overall "Factor 2"-reduction of metabolic rate, much larger resource productivity gains

Scenario 3 (tough contraction and convergence), by definition, does not raise global resource consumption above the 2000 levels; thus it would be most compatible with the existing (if unknown) limits to the earth's resource base, and best adjusted for as much circularity in economies as technically feasible. However, it would be quite restrictive in terms of other goals such as reducing poverty and providing for material comfort.

What these scenario calculations demonstrate is that there exist strong drivers for a continued upward trend of annual resource extraction, pertaining to practically all resources – from biomass to fossil fuels to minerals and metals. Not only ever more resources, also ever more diverse resources, across the whole spectre of chemical substances (UNEP 2010), are being extracted and put into use. Such increases of multiple resources also defeat the traditional hopes for mechanisms of substitution: if there is rising consumption of all resources, there is nothing to switch to if we run out of some of them. If, on the contrary, growth in natural resource extraction should be contained, quite drastic reductions in metabolic rates in industrial and newly industrializing countries will be required.

5 Resource productivity

5.1 Summary: Resource Productivity

Resource productivity (RP) is a ratio measuring the economic output per resource input: the higher the RP, the more economic wealth is produced per unit of resource use. RP is an indicator of *relative decoupling*. A high level of RP can be achieved at high levels of resource use, and progress in RP can accompany increases in resource use. It is thus meaningless to discuss progress in RP without corresponding information on economic growth: absolute dematerialization happens only when RP growth is larger than economic growth. Accordingly, since the EU Lisbon strategy calls for 3% annual economic growth, RP growth needs to be at or above that level simply to stabilize resource use levels.

Individual countries in the EU-27 have experienced growth in RP larger than their GDP growth, leading to absolute dematerialization – but in the vast majority of cases, this was for economic growth rates below 2%. In general, in Europe, high economic growth is still correlated with increases in resource use. Absolute decoupling will thus require actions beyond business as usual, and beyond the "best performance" of most countries.

There is an ongoing debate on whether higher RP is correlated to income or to competitiveness in the EU. We find that material productivity in the EU-27 is significantly correlated to income, but only weakly to competitiveness (and the correlation with competitiveness disappears when both income and competitiveness are considered). Thus countries with larger RP may simply benefit from richer economies rather than being more environmentally efficient.

At the global level, RP is strongly correlated to income. This can be explained by the "inelasticity" of resource use: the more inelastic a resource, the stronger the correlation of RP with income. The challenge of maintaining RP growth at or above economic growth rates can also be expressed in terms of the income elasticity of resource use. The resource elasticity should drop and eventually become negative at higher incomes (as in an Environmental Kuznets Curve), in contradiction with past evidence and present trends.

The conclusion of this analysis is that aggressive and ambitious measures far beyond the usual promotion of technical efficiency need to be pursued in order for reductions or even stabilization in resource use levels to be achieved.

The goal of increases in productivity which are on par or above economic growth is certainly laudable. However, it constitutes a departure from the business-as-usual of EU economies: a more

have to be achieved in some areas (cf. Weizsäcker et al., 1997 "factor 4" or Schmidt-Bleeks "factor 10", Hinterberger and Schmidt-Bleek, 1999), while, for example, food supply can only be reduced by a much smaller margin.

significant departure than has perhaps been acknowledged to date. Increases in resource efficiency are generally translated into further economic growth through macro-economic rebound effects: effectively, increases in resource productivity constitute increases in factors of production in the economy. New sustainability measures will have to be wide-ranging indeed to overcome this normal phenomenon of market economies.

What is thus required is sweeping changes in the operation of EU economies:

- The most resource-efficient technology must be systematically implemented (and nonefficient technologies need to be phased out faster than their normal lifetime);
- Long-lasting infrastructure choices, such as urban and regional planning, transportation networks and grid/distribution infrastructure, need to be made explicitly in such a way as to reduce future resource use (denser cities, freight by rail rather than road, public transit rather than private, and so on);
- The very structure of economic transactions should be reoriented to favour resource savings. The type of economy where profits are made from resource savings rather than resource throughput is known as a "performance economy" and it requires fundamental changes in financing, insurance, legal and other regulatory and contractual frameworks for its implementation;
- Beyond these measures promoting more resource efficient technologies, infrastructure investments and economic transactions, significant reductions in resource use will likely require further measures, such as carbon taxes and quotas (possibly extended to other key resources).

5.2 Resource productivity as a sustainability metric

Resource productivity (shortened here as **RP**) is defined as the ratio of economic output (usually Gross Domestic Product, GDP) and resource input (usually materials or energy in tons /joules).

(Eq. 1) $RP = \frac{\text{Economic output (GDP)}}{\text{Resource input}}$

and its units are typically \notin kg or \notin MJ. RP is the inverse of resource intensity (resource/GDP), which is measured in kg/ \in or MJ/ \in . Resource intensity is also sometimes called "resource efficiency." All of these terms (resource productivity, intensity and efficiency) are used in the literature and policy documents. In this report, we present our findings in terms of resource productivity.

RP can be estimated for various types of resources, at various levels of the economy (product, firm, industry, economic sector, whole economy). RP studies often also consider energy productivity and carbon or greenhouse gas emissions productivity. In general, we do not expect all resources to exhibit the same behaviour with the economy, and one should be cautious in attempting to extrapolate the results from one type of RP to another. In this report, we address the macroeconomic level (whole economy GDP) and focus on material productivity: the ratio of economic output to material use.

RP combines two of the three traditional "pillars of sustainability": economic and environmental (the third pillar is concerned with social aspects) (World Commission on Environment and Development, 1987), and can thus be seen as a comprehensive sustainability measure. In the European Environmental Agency's DPSIR framework (EEA, 2000; EEA, 2002), which divides environment-society interactions into Drivers, Pressures, State, Impacts and Response, resource

use is seen as a Pressure, whereas economic activity is a Driver (Stanners et al., 2007). In the context of the DPSIR framework, RP can be seen as an indicator of the balance between a society's economy and its pressures on the environment, and can measure the progress towards decoupling economic growth from negative environmental effects. It is thus understandable that RP is often considered a key indicator of sustainable development. In this interpretation, an increase in RP would be interpreted as "more sustainable," or progress towards decoupling.

RP is central to the EU's main policy document on resource use, the "Thematic Strategy on the Sustainable Use of Resources." (Commission of the European Communities, 2005). According to the Thematic Strategy, "The overall objective is therefore to **reduce the negative environmental impacts generated by the use of natural resources in a growing economy** – a concept referred to as decoupling. In practical terms, this means reducing the environmental impact of resource use while at the same time improving resource productivity overall across the EU economy." The Thematic Strategy is based on the concept of "double decoupling": decoupling resource use from economic growth, and decoupling environmental impacts from resource use (see Figure 46). As described in Section 3.6 of this report, the decoupling of resource use from the economy all the more crucial.

Figure 46: Schematic of the double decoupling concept proposed by the EU Thematic Strategy on sustainable use of resources



2005

2030

Source: Commission of the European Communities, 2005b

RP is indeed an indicator of decoupling of resource use from the economy. However, as many critics have pointed out, considering RP alone provides an incomplete picture. RP effectively measures the average resource use required for an increment of economic activity. When it increases, it is a sign of *relative* decoupling of the economy from the environment: not absolute. This can be easily understood from Eq. 1. If the GDP growth rate is x% a year, and the RP growth

rate is y%, the condition on total resource use decreasing is that y% > x%: that the growth rate of RP is larger than economic growth. The policy goal described in the annexes of the Thematic Strategy on the sustainable use of natural resources is of 3% economic growth and 3% productivity growth, resulting in a constant level of resource use. These growth rates are shown schematically in Figure 47, where it is clear that increases in productivity are compatible with increases in resource use – and that decreases in productivity are possible with decreasing resource use, depending on the level of economic growth they are associated with.

Figure 47: Economic growth (horizontal) and resource productivity growth (vertical) and their effect on decoupling.

If there is positive economic growth, there is only absolute decoupling in the white area (1), otherwise relative decouple in the light green area (2) or no decoupling in the dark blue area (3). The 2005 policy goal of the EU is shown as a star: 3% economic growth (Lisbon Strategy) and 3% resource productivity growth (Thematic Strategy on the sustainable use of natural resources)



In this sense, we can see that RP growth is merely a measure of *relative decoupling*, or *weak sustainability*, if it is lagging behind economic growth. RP is an indicator of *absolute decoupling*, or *strong sustainability*, only when its growth dominates that of the economy. This distinction between absolute and relative decoupling was already made by the OECD in 2003. Mathematically, the relation between economic growth, RP and absolute vs. relative decoupling can be written as:

$$(Eq. 2) \qquad growth(Resource use) \approx growth(GDP) - growth(RP)$$
$$\Rightarrow Relative decoupling : growth(GDP) > growth(RP) > 0$$
$$\Rightarrow Absolute decoupling : growth(GDP) < growth(RP)$$

These correspond to the different regions shown in Figure 47.

In fact, RP can only be a measure of absolute decoupling if the economy is somehow in a regime where economic growth and resource use decrease go together. Figure 48 shows some of the most basic functional relations between resource use and economic activities. Curve 1 has a constant RP and no decoupling at all: resource use is simply proportional to economic growth. Curve 2 has an RP which grows with the economy, but corresponds to relative decoupling only, whereas curve 4 demonstrates absolute decoupling. Curve 3 is an Environmental Kuznets Curve (EKC): absolute decoupling occurs only above a certain economic level.





Source: After Wilkinson et al., 2007

In fact, proportional resource decrease with economic growth (curve 4) typically corresponds to a resource which is abandoned at higher incomes (for instance dried animal dung for heating and cooking), but is replaced by a higher quality resource, like kerosene or electricity (curves 1 or 2). Thus curve 4 type behavior should be viewed with caution: it may simply correspond to the substitution of a lower quality resource by a higher one (also known as "transmaterialization" (Labys, 2002)). Moreover, curves 2, 3 and 4 can all be evidence of resource use displacement: often richer economies have apparently lower resource use and associated environmental impacts simply because the resource-intensive industries have been displaced to lower income economies.

This has recently been shown to be the case for CO2 emissions of Annex B countries of the Kyoto Protocol (Peters and Hertwich, 2008).

From this brief introduction to the concept of RP, we conclude that this indicator cannot be interpreted in isolation from other information. High resource productivity coupled with a high GDP may well result in more resource consumption than lower resource productivity at a lower level of economic activity. In the following sections, we thus combine RP and other information to gain a more complete picture of the relevance and limitations of this sustainability indicator.

5.3 Past studies relevant to material productivity

In this section, we review the recent literature on RP, focusing on the European debate. Material productivity has been defined as an indicator of (relative) decoupling of the economy from the environment by Eurostat (Bringezu and Schütz, 2001; Eurostat et al., 2002) and the OECD (OECD, 2008a). The EU-wide application of Material Flow Analysis having only been achieved in the last decade, the interpretation and true meaning of material productivity are still open questions.

Initial cross-national EU studies compared the values in RP of different EU countries (mainly the EU-15), and described the changes in material use, GDP and RP between 1980-1997 and 1980 respectively (Bringezu and Schütz, 2001; Eurostat et al., 2002). They noted the distinction between RP improvements and actual decrease in material use (Bringezu and Schütz, 2001) and investigated whether material use per capita followed an Environmental Kuznets Curve (Eurostat et al., 2002). The conclusion of the EKC investigation was that some EU countries had experienced decreases in material use per capita with increases in income, whereas others had increased their material consumption with economic growth. The EU as a whole did not exhibit any EKC behaviour. A follow-up report covering the EU-15 countries for the period 1970-2001 noted large fluctuations in RP over time, with an overall improvement for the EU-15 as whole – which, however, did not translate into absolute material decoupling (Weisz et al., 2005).

The best shape to fit the relation between material input per capita and GDP per capita was investigated for many EU countries by Bringezu et al. (2004). They did not find conclusive evidence of a particular functional shape. Perhaps this is not surprising, since it has been suggested that industrialized countries will tend to undergo phases of dematerializing and rematerializing over time (De Bruyn, 2002).

5.4 The current debate: resource productivity, income and economic competitiveness

A more systematic investigation of the links between RP and socioeconomic factors was conducted by van der Voet et al. (2005b). They found that there were great disparities between European countries in RP, if the GDP was taken in Market Exchange Rate (MER) euros, with the eastern European and Baltic states having very low RP, but that using Purchasing Power Parity (PPP) euros reflected more comparable values of RP. As they point out, resource use should be compared to the consuming power of the economy, which is reflected by PPP rather than MER monetary values. Accordingly, we use PPP economic values throughout this report.

van der Voet et al. (2005b) then proceed to investigate the socioeconomic factors underlying the variations in RP at the EU level. They find that "around half the variation in resource efficiency can be attributed to the structure of the economy and per capita GDP levels (measured in purchasing power parities)." This has significant implications for the policy relevance of RP: wealthier economies, and those with a smaller share of agriculture, extraction and industry, have higher

resource productivities. Does this mean these economies are necessarily more sustainable? Many of the high RP performance countries are only demonstrating relative decoupling. Van der Voet and colleagues suggest that countries should be compared on the basis of "benchmarked" RP values, which are corrected for the influence of income and economic structure, to remove the bias favoring rich and service-dominated economies.

Recently, two significant additions to the RP literature were published. The first is an edited volume entitled "Sustainable growth and resource productivity" (Bleischwitz et al., 2009b). The chapter "Decoupling GDP from resource use, resource productivity and competitiveness: a cross-country comparison" (Steger and Bleischwitz, 2009) is of particular interest here (it is partly based on a longer report: Bleischwitz et al. (2009a). Taking data for the EU-15, EU-25, Japan, Turkey and the USA, they contrast Domestic Material Consumption (DMC) per capita in 2000, and changes in material RP (GDP/DMC) between 1980-2004 and 1992-2000. The choice of different time spans is due to insufficient data for various countries. Overall, most countries in their sample experienced growth in RP, with the exceptions of Greece, Lithuania, Portugal (for 1980-2004, not 1992-2000) and the Slovak Republic. They note that, within the EU, the higher RP of the EU-15 goes hand in hand with higher material consumption, but they still conclude that "Despite the higher consumption in the EU-15, energy and raw materials are used more efficiently in the new EU member states [...]." In this chapter, RP is thus interpreted as an indicator of the economic efficiency of material use, and higher RP to a higher efficiency which the new member states should aspire to ("potential for increasing the resource productivity"). They also point out "the need for addressing the absolute level of resource use," but without facing the apparent contradiction of attaining a high RP without the increase in material consumption. They note that that some countries achieve a high RP with lower material consumption, whereas others have high material consumption but still higher GDP.

Steger and Bleischwitz (2009) then contrast RP values with national measures of economic competitiveness according to the World Economic Forum, and note that these are positively correlated: in general, high RP is accompanied by higher competitiveness. However, they do not consider the correlation of RP with income or economic structure as measured by van der Voet et al. (2005b), which is a considerable oversight. In the longer report (Bleischwitz et al., 2009a), Bleischwitz and colleagues investigate drivers of RP, and come up with a mix of sectoral and other variables which explain differences in RP in the EU-15 from 1980 to 2000 (8 variables) and EU-27 from 1992 to 2000 (7 variables). It is not clear if they consider income as an initial variable in their model, and also unclear how this analysis ties in with either the competitiveness metric or income.

The second report is "Resource productivity, competitiveness and environmental policies" by De Bruyn et al. (2009). They first discuss the concept of resource efficiency and competitiveness at the firm level, which is known as the "Porter hypothesis": the idea that a resource efficient firm will tend to gain a competitive advantage. This hypothesis is extrapolated to the national level by De Bruyn and colleagues, but it is far from clear that the Porter hypothesis withstands the leap in scale from the firm level to the national level.

At the national level, resource use is influenced by larger and more complex forces than for a single firm. For instance, the macroeconomic "rebound effect" explains how resource efficiency improvements at the firm level may in fact translate to cheaper goods and increased aggregate demand (hence more resource throughput overall) (Hertwich, 2005; Herring and Roy, 2007). Moreover, technical efficiency improvements are a factor of economic growth (Warr et al., 2010; Ayres et al., 2007; Ayres et al., 2003): efficiency improvements overall drive economic growth (and hence a larger scale of economy-driven resource use). In this understanding, national increases in resource productivity would tend to lead to growing economies: not reduced resource use. Superficially, the economies may be more "efficient" in terms of higher RP – at a larger level of resource use.

De Bruyn and colleagues then criticize the relation between competitiveness and RP observed by Steger and Bleischwitz (2009). They use energy productivity (GDP/primary energy) to show that a simultaneous regression taking into account both income and competitiveness finds only income to be significant. Although it is helpful to have such a direct comparison between these two hypothesized drivers of RP, it is not clear that energy productivity will behave in the same way as material productivity in this respect. Moreover, it is not clear which countries are used in comparing energy productivity, income and competitiveness.

To summarize, there is an ongoing, decade-old research effort focused on first consistently measuring material flows of European countries, and then on systematically understanding the links between the physical economy. However, there is some confusion regarding the potential links between RP and economic activity: is higher RP a competitive advantage, or simply linked to higher income levels? We will attempt to settle this question, at least for the EU-27, further on in this report.

5.5 Description of the data used in this study

Our productivity overview takes into account diverse datasets, which are summarized in Table 8.

Geographical area	Source	Time coverage	Material categories
EU-15	Eurostat	1970-2004	 Total Biomass
Global *	SEVI global material flow data	2000	 3. Fossil fuels 4. Minerals
	v2.0b http://www.uni-		
	klu.ac.at/socec/inhalt/1088.htm		
EU-27 + Norway and	Eurostat	2000-2005	1. Total
Switzerland			2. Biomass
			3. Fossil fuels
			4. Construction minerals
			5. Ores/Industrial minerals

Table 8: Description and sources of the datasets

* Note: the global dataset used here is derived purely from biophysical data and estimations (without derivations based on economic status, for instance). It is internally consistent, but not directly comparable to the other datasets. In particular, for the global dataset, construction minerals are a conservative estimate and around 30% smaller than the value measured by other methods (Steinberger et al., 2010).

Since the datasets have different geographical, temporal and material flow coverage, we will use each one of them for a specific purpose.

EU-27 + Norway and Switzerland

This dataset is the most interesting from a geographical coverage perspective for the EU, but it has very little time coverage. It will thus be used mostly to showcase cross-country differences and short-term trends.

<u>EU-15</u>

The EU-15 Eurostat dataset has the best time coverage, and can thus be utilized to investigate the evolution of material use, material productivity and economic performance of the EU-15 over several decades. We will also single out a few individual countries with outstanding performance in terms of their productivity growth, decline, materialization or dematerialization.

<u>Global</u>

The global dataset allows us to understand EU productivity in an international context.

5.6 Material productivity in the EU-27 + Norway and Switzerland

The data for the EU-27, Norway and Switzerland is only available for 2000-2005. In Table 9, we summarize some of the most important parameters. We show both total (extensive) and ratio (intensive) values, and their average yearly growth. As we explained above, for reasonable growth values (i.e. excluding Malta and Romania), growth in productivity is approximately economic growth minus DMC growth.

Economic and productivity growth factors are compared in Figure 49, which also shows the areas of increasing and decreasing material productivity, and absolute dematerialization. In the period 2000-2005, 6 countries demonstrated absolute dematerialization: Belgium, France, Germany, Italy, the Netherlands, and Portugal. The EU-15 countries as a whole experienced slight dematerialization. In contrast, 11 countries of the EU-27, the EU-27 as a whole, and Norway and Switzerland only demonstrate relative decoupling (material growth), and 10 of the EU-27 countries showed no decoupling at all, with double digit material growth seen by Romania and Malta (although Malta is so small that large fluctuations are expected simply due to scale effects).

Perhaps more troubling, there is quite a good systematic trend between economic growth and material growth (R2 = 0.49), implying that economic growth and material growth are NOT decoupled or in the process of decoupling in the EU. The dematerializing countries are also those with the smallest economic growth. This raises important, critical questions for the "double decoupling" concept on which the EU thematic strategy for sustainable resources is based (see Figure 40 above).

Figure 49: Productivity vs. economic growth in the EU-27 (yearly growth averages 2000-2005)



The combined economic growth and resource productivity policy goal of the EU is shown as a grey star. See Table 9 for the data and list of country codes and names.

The EU-27 countries and their GDP, material and productivity growth rates are shown as a bar chart in Figure 50, ranked by the magnitude of their productivity growth. It is clear that (1) productivity growth is just economic growth minus material growth, and that (2) the productivity growth is seldom associated with negative material growth, and that when it is, economic growth tends to be moderate.

9 GDP growth Material growth 6 5 growth rates 4 3 2 percentage ſ early -3 -4 -5 -6 -7 SK LU CHEU27NO SI PT PL BE BUEU15FR UK GR IE DE CZ NL LV RO SE HU ES CY DK AT FL IT LT EE

Figure 50: EU-27 countries plus Norway and Switzerland, ranked by productivity percentage growth rates (averages 2000-2005). Romania's material growth is 16.6%, and Malta is not shown.

5.7 Settling the RP, competitiveness and income debate for the EU-27

The recent debate between Steger and Bleischwitz (2009), on one hand, and de Bruyn and colleagues (2009) on the other, is a crucial one for understanding the implications of RP as a sustainability metric for Europe. Is RP linked to income, competitiveness, or both? Do material and energy productivity behave similarly in this respect? In order to bring some clarity to the discussion, we have reproduced their analysis with a set of consistent data, for the year 2005, and the countries of the EU-27 plus Switzerland and Norway, and both energy and material resource use. We have consistent time, geographical and data source coverage, and can conduct a rigorous and comparative analysis.

Our data sources are the following:

- Domestic Material Consumption (Eurostat)
- Total Primary Energy Supply (International Energy Agency)
- Purchasing Power Parity GDP (World Bank World Development Indicators)
- Growth Competitiveness Index (World Economic Forum).

Our results for materials are shown in Figures 51 (materials) and 52 (energy). For materials, there is a weak relation between productivity and competitiveness (fig. 51 (d)), but a very strong relation between productivity and income (fig. 51 (c)), which confirms the result of Van de Voet et al.

Material consumption per capita is only weakly linked to income or material productivity (fig. 51 (a) and (b)). For energy, the link between productivity and competitiveness is even weaker than for materials, which could be one source of the difference between Steger & Bleischwitz and de Bruyn et al (fig. 52 (d)). Energy productivity is weakly but significantly linked to income (fig. 52 (c)), an effect seen by de Bruyn et al for a larger sample of countries. The strongest correlation for energy is between per capita energy consumption and income (fig. 52 (a)), which is a result often seen in international and time-series studies.

Figure 51: Economic dependence of material use in the EU-27, year 2005: (a) material consumption vs. income; (b) material consumption vs. material productivity; (c) material productivity vs. income; and (d) material productivity vs. competitiveness.



The country name codes are listed in Table 9.

Figure 52: Economic dependence of energy use in the EU-27, year 2005: (a) energy consumption vs. income; (b) energy consumption vs. energy productivity; (c) energy productivity vs. income; and (d) energy productivity vs. competitiveness.



The country name codes are listed in Table 9.

Overall, the findings shown in figures 45 and 46 support the results of Van der Voet and her colleagues: the variation in material productivity among European countries can be largely explained (46% according to our regression) by income alone. These findings also support the conclusion of de Bruyn et al, despite the significant differences between material and energy productivities. Indeed, when we conduct a multivariate regression on the productivity indicator, with income and GCI as independent variables, the only significant variable is income, and GCI is insignificant (has little or no explanatory power), for both energy and material productivity.

The links we find for Europe between material and energy consumption, productivity and income, (figures 45 and 46, (a) and (c)) are in fact consistent with the results of a recent global study on material flows (Steinberger et al., 2010), which showed that fossil fuel consumption had a stronger link to the economy than material consumption as whole, and that material productivity was strongly correlated with income, but that fossil fuel productivity was not. Thus regarding the economic links of material and energy use, and material and energy productivity, the EU-27 countries, with Norway and Switzerland, are consistent with the global trends.
	Time span		2005			2005			2000-20005			2000-20005	
		E	xtensive variab	les		Intensive		Average	yearly growth: Ext	tensive	Average y	early growth: In	tensive
		Total DMC *	Population	GDP	DMC per capita	Productivity	Income	Total DMC *	Population	GDP	DMC per capita	Productivity	Income
	Units	1000 t	1000 persons	Million 1990 PPP €	t per cap	€ per kg	€ per cap	%	%	%	%	%	%
AT	Austria	169,189	8,189	259,835	20.7	1.54	31,728	2.20	0.23	1.49	1.97	-0.61	1.26
BE	Belgium	190,772	10,398	315,185	18.3	1.65	30,312	-0.22	0.40	1.46	-0.62	1.71	1.06
DK	Denmark	151,309	5,431	172,308	27.9	1.14	31,729	2.48	0.34	1.36	2.13	-0.88	1.02
FI	Finland	205,135	5,249	157,962	39.1	0.77	30,093	2.88	0.28	2.27	2.59	-0.52	1.99
FR	France	852,441	62,312	1,732,177	13.7	2.03	27,798	-0.42	0.43	1.49	-0.85	2.21	1.06
DE	Germany	1,297,491	82,689	2,275,315	15.7	1.75	27,516	-2.26	0.08	0.74	-2.35	3.12	0.66
GR	Greece	191,799	11,120	243,130	17.2	1.27	21,864	1.87	0.26	4.40	1.60	2.59	4.13
IE	Ireland	132,393	4,148	149,973	31.9	1.13	36,156	2.28	1.76	5.34	0.51	3.09	3.52
IT	Italy	828,531	58,093	1,565,801	14.3	1.89	26,953	-2.80	0.13	0.64	-2.93	3.93	0.51
NL	Netherlands	226,002	16,299	499,523	13.9	2.21	30,647	-2.23	0.50	0.84	-2.72	3.24	0.34
LU	Luxembourg	11,067	457	25,760	24.2	2.33	56,415	4.08	0.89	3.30	3.16	0.47	2.38
PT	Portugal	180,901	10,495	201,642	17.2	1.11	19,214	-0.58	0.52	0.64	-1.10	1.62	0.12
ES	Spain	860,466	43,064	1,104,197	20.0	1.28	25,641	4.52	1.13	3.15	3.36	-1.26	2.00
SE	Sweden	165,080	9,041	274,867	18.3	1.67	30,401	6.95	0.37	2.24	6.56	-4.05	1.87
UK	United Kingdom	699,862	59,668	1,874,667	11.7	2.68	31,418	0.05	0.34	2.34	-0.29	2.38	1.99
BU	Bulgaria	118,070	7,745	65,470	15.2	0.55	8,454	3.38	-0.65	4.94	4.06	1.74	5.63
CY	Cyprus	22,511	836	16,190	26.9	0.72	19,358	4.48	1.24	2.95	3.20	-1.25	1.69
CZ	Czech Republic	190,331	10,192	196,842	18.7	1.03	19,314	0.61	-0.06	3.65	0.67	3.18	3.71
EE	Estonia	30,516	1,344	19,511	22.7	0.64	14,514	0.54	-0.38	7.60	0.92	7.24	8.00
HU	Hungary	165,980	10,086	168,964	16.5	1.02	16,752	8.45	-0.25	4.17	8.73	-3.59	4.44
LV	Latvia	24,290	2,302	29,399	10.6	1.21	12,772	4.86	-0.66	8.12	5.55	3.24	8.83
LT	Lithuania	33,864	3,425	46,345	9.9	1.37	13,531	3.43	-0.45	7.63	3.89	4.46	8.11
MT	Malta	2,764	403	7,251	6.9	2.62	18,010	40.70	0.70	0.06	39.74	-17.57	-0.63
PL	Poland	543,607	38,196	494,903	14.2	0.91	12,957	1.32	-0.12	3.01	1.45	1.69	3.14
RO	Romania	334,459	21,628	183,555	15.5	0.55	8,487	16.04	-0.47	5.70	16.58	-6.19	6.19
SK	Slovak Republic	67,558	5,387	80,068	12.5	1.19	14,863	5.73	0.00	4.88	5.73	-0.18	4.88
SI	Slovenia	37,540	1,999	41,726	18.8	1.11	20,869	2.16	0.16	3.44	2.00	1.38	3.28
NO	Norway	96,672	4,639	179,333	20.8	1.86	38,659	0.94	0.66	2.06	0.28	1.37	1.39
СН	Switzerland	91,451	7,424	248,175	12.3	2.71	33,427	0.58	0.44	1.01	0.14	0.52	0.57
	EU15	6,162,439	386,653	10,852,340	15.9	1.76	28,067	-0.13	0.38	1.60	-0.51	1.78	1.22
	EU27	7,733,929	490,195	12,202,563	20.0	1.40	24,893	0.71	0.24	1.86	0.33	0.92	1.61

Table 9: Key parameters relevant to material productivity in the EU-27

*Note: DMC = Domestic Material Consumption = Extraction + Imports – Exports

5.8 Productivity trends in the EU-15

Material consumption data is available for a longer time for the EU-15 than the EU-27 (since 1970 instead of 2000). We use this data to complement our EU-27 analysis with a longer time perspective. As discussed in 3.2, the EU-15 as a whole shows stagnating material consumption, with some of the larger economies decreasing their material use over the past decades (Germany, the UK, France) and some of the others drastically increasing their material use (Greece, Spain, Portugal, Ireland).

The macro-level trends for the EU-15 and EU-27 relevant to material productivity are shown in Fig. 53 for extensive variables: total DMC, GDP and population, and in Fig. 54 for intensive variables: DMC per capita, income and material productivity.

Figure 53: Macro-trends in the EU-15 and EU-27 for extensive parameters: DMC, population and GDP. The GDP is measured in 2000 constant PPP euros.



Figure 54: Macro-trends the EU-15 and EU-27 for intensive parameters: DMC per capita, income and material productivity. The GDP is measured in 2000 constant PPP euros.



As can be seen in fig. 54, the level of per capita material use in the EU-15 and EU-27 is remarkably constant, leading to increases in material productivity simply due to economic growth. In sustainability terms, the EU is exhibiting relative decoupling, not absolute dematerialization.

At the country level, the EU-15 have widely differing behaviour. As explained above, changes in RP are best understood when shown in combination with economic growth. In figure 49, we use 5-year averaged growth rates (1970-1974, ..., 2000-2004) to examine productivity and economic growth of the EU-15. Fig 55 is analogue to Figure 49 for the EU-27 and the time span 2000-2005.

Figure 55: Productivity and economic growth rates for the EU-15 (each point represents a 5 year average: 1970-1974, ..., 2000-2004)



The largest countries, France, Germany and the UK, are often in the dematerializing upper right triangle, consistent with their overall dematerialization – but not for the periods of their largest economic growth. The Sourthern European countries, Greece, Italy, Portugal and Spain, are mostly materializing (either demonstrating relative decoupling, as is often the case for Italy, or no decoupling at all, as is most often the case for Greece and Portugal). Interestingly, Portugal was one of the few EU-27 countries showing absolute decoupling in Fig 49, marking the importance of considering longer term trends. The Northern European countries, Denmark, Finland, Ireland and Sweden, are mostly in the relative decoupling area, as are the Netherlands, Belgium/Luxembourg and Austria.

Perhaps the most interesting feature of Fig. 55 is that countries only experience absolute dematerialization when they are at the lower end of their economic growth. Apart from the Netherlands and Ireland, no country experienced economic growth rates of 3% or more while reducing material consumption – and even these two countries did not durably dematerialize. Moreover, the countries which did experience large and consistent dematerialization (France, Germany and the UK) did so by a combination of fuel shifts (moving from coal to oil and gas, or nuclear), and de-industrialization. The fuel shifts may not be available to all in a world where coal is

more plentiful than either oil or gas, and the process of de-industrialization generally means that manufacturing activities are displaced overseas – not rendered more efficient. In general, the countries which were dematerializing also had economic grow rates of 2% or below. And the two countries with a period of negative economic growth, Finland and Greece, did dematerialize during that time. It appears from this analysis that resource use and economic activities are still coupled in an absolute sense in the EU-15, even though many countries and the region as a whole has been experiencing relative decoupling for decades.

5.9 International productivity

In this section, we show some results from an international material flow data set for the year 2000, which was constructed based solely on biophysical data and estimations, without economicallyderived estimations. The data set and the analysis summarized here are described in more detail in Steinberger et al., 2010. Since the material flows are independent from economic assumptions, they can be correlated with economic parameters. In particular, this data set was used to measure the international economic elasticity of material consumption: the exponent *B* in Eq. 3 (*A* is just a scaling constant).

(Eq. 3)
$$\frac{DMC}{capita} = A \cdot \left(\frac{GDP}{capita}\right)^{B}$$

The economic elasticity *B* has the following interpretation:

- if B = 1, DMC is proportional to income: when income increases by 10%, so does DMC/cap.
- if B >1, DMC is *elastic* with income: when income increases by 10%, DMC/cap increases by a larger amount.
- if B <1, DMC is *inelastic* with income: when income increases by 10%, DMC/cap increases, but by a smaller amount.
- if B = 0, DMC is constant with income.
- if *B* < 0, DMC decreases when income increases.

It can thus readily be seen that *B* corresponds to the slope of resource use in Fig. 48 (curve 1: *B* =1; curve 2: *B* decreasing with income, but positive; curve 3: *B* changing from positive to negative at higher incomes; curve 4: B = -1). Indeed, the elasticity does not have to remain constant, but can change at different income levels. However, for international material use, no strong changes in elasticity are seen as a function of income. We can thus measure a single material elasticity for each type of material use. The results are shown in Table 10. The material categories have a large range in elasticities, from very inelastic biomass (0.19) to elastic fossil fuels (1.35).

Domestic Material Consumption per capita:	В	Standard error of B
Total	0.52	0.03
Biomass	0.19	0.04
Fossil fuels	1.35	0.07
Construction Minerals	0.69	0.03
Ores/Industrial Minerals	1.01	0.10

Table 10: Elasticity coefficients of international material use

The economic elasticity of resource use in fact has profound implications for its productivity, as can be seen from the following simple mathematical relationship (which uses Eq. 3):

(Eq. 4) Material Productivity =
$$\frac{DMC}{GDP} = \left(\frac{DMC}{capita}\right) \cdot \left(\frac{GDP}{capita}\right)^{-1} = A \cdot \left(\frac{GDP}{capita}\right)^{B-1}$$

From Eq. 4, we see that material productivity will be systematically correlated with income unless the material elasticity exponent is 1. In fact, from this analysis, it is *only* in the case of material use which is proportional to income that we expect there to be no correlation of material productivity with income: from Table 10, this would be for ores/industrial minerals and possibly fossil fuels. In figure 56, we show the correlation of international material productivity with income for 4 material categories, and indeed they behave as one would expect from Eq. 4 and the elasticities measured in Table 10.

Figure 56: International correlation of material productivity and income for different material categories



Source : from Steinberger et al., 2010

From this international perspective, the challenge of increasing RP faster than economic growth appears all the more daunting. In order for RP to grow faster than economic growth, the elasticity of material consumption would have to drop from 0.5 to 0 and below, at least for EU countries. It is hard to imagine that this large drop in income elasticity of material use could be achieved without dramatic changes in the very structures and operations of EU economies: it is certainly not going to be attained by simply promoting incremental and small increases in efficient technologies.

5.10 Policy implications regarding material productivity

As a conclusion to this discussion of material productivity as an indicator of sustainable economic development, we can state that the goal of increases in productivity which are on par or above economic growth is certainly laudable. However, it constitutes a departure from the business-asusual of EU economies: a more significant departure than has perhaps been acknowledged to date. What is required is fundamental change in the operation of EU economies:

- the most resource-efficient technology must be systematically implemented (and nonefficient technologies need to be phased out faster than their normal lifetime);
- long-lasting infrastructure choices, such as urban and regional planning, transportation networks and grid/distribution infrastructure, need to be made explicitly in such a way as to reduce future resource use (denser cities, freight by rail rather than road, public transit rather than private, and so on, as described in Jaccard et al. (1997);
- the very structure of economic transactions should be reoriented to favor resource savings. The type of economy where profits are made from resource savings rather than resource throughput is known as a "performance economy" (Stahel, 2006) and it requires fundamental changes in financing, insurance, legal and other regulatory and contractual frameworks for its implementation (Steinberger et al., 2009).

6 Resource use and environmental impacts

6.1 Summary

In this chapter, we continue the attempt of reframing the notion of "environmental impacts" started in the introduction. We seek to establish two key links. One link is to earth system and ecosystem services. We feel the conceptualization of the environment in terms of "media" is under-complex and leaves the legitimation of "negative impacts" to policy concerns only. We suggest instead conceiving of the environment in terms of systems that provide human societies with certain services. These services can be put at risk by socio-economic activities (such as resource use), and exactly this may be conceptualized as negative environmental impact. The idea links up to the concept of "ecosystem services" that plays an important role in the Millennium Assessment, for example, and to the "earth systems" that play an important role in climate modelling and policy. We think that much of the more traditional functional references for environmental impacts (toxicity, acidification etc.) can be fairly easily translated into earth system or ecosystem services put at risk by certain socio-economic activities. Such a functional reference would provide with a legitimation for being concerned about the environmental side effects of an activity. The second link should be with resource use ("from cradle to grave") as a key quantifiable representation of socio-economic activities.

Thus we define (negative) **environmental impacts** as side effects causally linked to socioeconomic activity that put certain earth system / ecosystem services at risk.

Our next argument builds upon past research experience that environmental impacts can well be identified for specific activities and with reference to specific functionalities ("climate change", for example), but that it is chronically difficult to aggregate them to plausible and consistently measurable aggregates on higher levels. We therefore suggest making use of the methodological strength of impact identification on lower levels of aggregation to create a strong link to resource use. This should, for each social system (such as a country) of concern, result in impact coefficients that link one unit of resource use (from cradle to grave) to a specific ecosystem service, coefficients for Impacts _{ij}, where i refers to a certain resource and j to a certain ecosystem service potentially put at risk. In a next step, we suggest modelling an aggregate environmental impact across all the various resource uses on the system level according to the classical IPAT-formula in a slightly different interpretation.

We see the advantage of this procedure in the potential of delivering reliable aggregate information in time series without the need to monitor impacts in continuous time series (which is chronically difficult, if not impossible. It would nevertheless allow to reflect major environmental policy achievements (such as, for example, the elimination of lead from transport fuels, or the introduction of effective sewage systems, or the shift away from fluorchlorocarbons, or the introduction of CSS) in changes of impact coefficients for certain resource use aggregates. In turn, this would show up, depending on the size of the change, in the aggregate impacts.

In a next step, we review the existing literature linking environmental impacts to resource use. We come up with fairly disappointing results. So far, no comprehensive impact coefficients per unit resource use have been calculated. To our knowledge, no quantitative time series data for environmental impacts exists, not even for specific countries or specific impacts. And finally, the few aggregate impact indicators that have been constructed (EMC, ecological footprint) are criticised for a number of methodological weaknesses.

The final section reviews efforts at targeting resource use and environmental impacts politically. It becomes fairly clear that employing quantifiable targets for overall environmental impacts or for

overall resource use does not look very promising and would be hard to justify. We review one existing effort at reflecting and justifying reasons for a more differentiated targeting of resource use. It could be an interesting exercise to compare this with the efforts of IPCC to manage a targetting process with reference to a specific impact. It would be a separate intellectual effort to compare these two principal strategies (i.e. targeting resource use or targeting impacts, or may be a combination of both), but this effort is beyond the scope of our report.

6.2 What is an environmental impact?

In the past decades, a broad literature on environmental impacts and impact assessment has evolved. Environmental impacts are usually described as impacts on environmental media and impacts on human health. An assessment of environmental impacts is mainly operationalised on the product level in Life Cycle Assessments (LCA) and a definition is found in ISO 14.040 standards where the following seven impact categories are differentiated (Nielsen et al., 2005): acidification, climate change and global warming, ecotoxicity, human toxicity, eutrophication / nutrient enrichment, photochemical ozone formation (summer smog), and stratospheric ozone depletion. From the list we see that environmental impacts considered are "those which are known, well explored and operationalised, and for which statistical information is available." (Moll et al., 2004, p. 4f) This literature did not, however, converge in a shared understanding of what environmental impacts actually are, how they should be conceived and classified. On the most general level, the notion is shared that environmental impacts are **undesirable changes in the natural environment (or one of its compartments)** that can be **causally linked to some socio-economic activity.** Often this is placed within the traditional DPISR or DPSIR model: driving force – pressure – state – impact - response (EEA, 2000, EEA, 2002).

As the term "undesirable" suggests, there is inevitably some value judgement involved in drawing a distinction between causal effects of socio-economic activities that ought to be considered as relevant (negative) impacts, and other causal effects that need not be considered. And this value judgement, as many authors before have noted (Althaus, 2005, Nielsen et al., 2004, p35f), is historically variable, depending on the prominent environmental problems perceived and policy issues of the time. CFC emissions for example were not considered an environmental problem before the ozone depletion became well-known. Also, environmental problems 40 years ago were quite different compared to current problems. Environmental impacts may occur with considerable time delay which leads to high uncertainty about the effects of substances released to the environment which may occur in 50 to 100 years. Even new impacts can appear that were previously unknown. (EEA, 2005d, p. 59f) Impacts also vary across regions. For very densely populated countries like Japan, wastes and emissions and impacts from these are highly relevant, whereas countries in arid areas may suffer from water shortages, or countries with intensive agriculture observe impacts from eutrophication. In the end, as reviewers of the relevant literature do not fail to note (e.g. Nielsen et al., 2005, p. 25, Hertwich et al., 2009), hardly ever do two different studies select the same environmental impact categories for their lists. Depending on disciplinary background and policy focus, impacts tend to have a strong health/epidemiology inclination, may be dominated by environmental chemistry issues, biodiversity concerns or climate change - to name but a few. With time progressing, lists have a tendency to get longer, but not necessarily more consistent or consensual. A certain pragmatic stability is provided by the key LCA (life cycle assessment) databases that build upon sets of criteria (e.g. ISO 14.040), but they do not necessarily provide the criteria that would be chosen from the point of view of a most recent state of the art. And even when the appearance of comprehensiveness is created, the information behind is rarely as comprehensive as one would like it to be.

The "undesirability" of an environmental impact of a socioeconomic activity always needs to be legitimized, as the socioeconomic activity as such usually pursues desired goals and environmental impacts occur as trade-offs, as unintended side-effects, of in reaching these goals. This legitimacy can be most easily established for cases where there are two or more functional equivalents for

pursuing the goal (products, production processes, materials...) that can be compared in terms of their environmental trade-offs. It is indeed broadly accepted that the choice between alternatives should take into account negative side effects. Classical examples of this kind were the choice between plastic or paper bags, and between chloride or ozone bleaching in paper production. If the outcomes of impact assessments are contested, they can be debated impact by impact on this level of complexity.

On higher levels of aggregation, overall impact assessments become increasingly indeterminate. It is no surprise that only few solid conventions could be established in this field despite substantial efforts. Among the difficulties encountered are

- problems of impact selection: which environmental concerns need to be accounted for, on which spatial and temporal level, on which level of causal proximity (e.g. habitat loss or threat for biodiversity)...?
- problems of impact weighting and composing aggregates
- problems of system completeness (potential omissions) and double counting.

Even the few existing high quality studies that made serious attempts at comprehensive solutions (such as van der Voet et al., 2005b, EEA, 2005c) did not come up with fully satisfactory results that would help to establish solid conventions for the field.

On higher system levels and higher levels of aggregation, the purpose of impact assessments changes. It is no more about a choice between two functionally equivalent alternatives, but more about system descriptions. It does not really seem possible, for example, to advise an economy to reduce its agricultural activities and instead focus on, for example, medical and health business, because the latter have fewer environmental impacts.

Could it be a step ahead to accept the qualitative selectiveness of environmental impacts and functionally relate them to the – equally problem-oriented and selective – concept of ecosystem/earthsystem services, as proposed in the introduction?

The notion of ecosystem services came of age conceptually (Daily et al., 1997; Mooney et al., 2009) and policy-wise (Millennium Ecosystem Assessment, 2005) in the past decade, despite sometimes being fairly weakly defined and despite difficulties of quantification. This development may be owed to a change in perspective: seeing the environment not as something potentially threatened by human activity, as something that ought to be protected at least partly on its own account, but as a source of often indispensable benefits to humans. By that change of perspective, the legitimacy of caretaking and preserving future services is implicitly incorporated, and positive thinking about demands on nature is stimulated.

Functionally interrelating environmental impacts and ecosystem services would make use of and harvest the qualitative richness of both concepts. It would free environmental impacts of their historical links with certain policy issues and re-link them to a new and creative research field. Applying this idea to the definition of environmental impacts would lead in the direction sketched below:

(Negative) **environmental impacts** are side effects **causally linked to socio-economic activity** which put **certain earth system/ecosystem services at risk.**

Such a conceptualization would allow for the re-introduction of the somewhat antiquated notion of environmental media / compartments by reframing them in system language as a classification scheme linking socioeconomic activities, environmental impacts, and earthsystem/ecosystem services.

This re-framing would of course not allow resolving all the problems of impact measurement and aggregation mentioned above. We rather tend to believe that many of those problems can be overcome only partially, for concrete system services (such as an acceptable climate system) and concrete policy goals, but not on a generic level. Maybe the weakness can also be turned into a strength: in communication, one does not always succeed with aggregate numbers, but often by a plausible and rich qualitative storyline.

6.3 How does resource use relate to environmental impacts?

Behind the question of the relation between resource use and environmental impacts there lingers an attractive policy model: the model of "double decoupling". It is possible, as has been repeatedly demonstrated and recently been argued by UNEP's Panel for Sustainable Resource Management (Swilling and Fischer-Kowalski, 2010) to "decouple" resource use from economic activity. This, for highly industrialized countries, is the most common outcome of technological innovation (see chapter 3.5). This decoupling, though, is rarely strong enough to create a situation of declining resource use. As long as environmental impacts grow proportionally to resource use and resource use grows along with GDP, this leads to GDP growth causing a growing environmental burden. But if, as suggested in Figure 57, environmental policy can contribute to an additional decoupling of impacts from resource use, the possibility arises to reach a situation in which, in the face of a growing economy, the state of the environment is improving.

Figure 57: Policy model of "double decoupling" as proposed by the EU Thematic Strategy on sustainable use of resources



2005

2030

Source: Commission of the European Communities, 2005b

Wilkinson et al. (2007) add another dimension to the issue: the authors built on a hypothesis formulated by Holdren et al. (2000) which identifies a relation between the scale level of environmental impact and its relation to economic activity and increasing wealth. They assume that household level environmental burdens (such as dirty water, or indoor pollution) decline with a rise in wealth, community-level burdens (such as urban air pollution) display a hump-shaped, typical environmental Kuznets function, while finally global environmental burdens (such as greenhouse gas emissions) rise.





Source: Wilkinson et al., 2007

This hypothesis has not yet been empirically corroborated. However, the argument holds potential for a more sophisticated understanding of the complex relations between pressures and impacts. The authors of the UNEP report share the assumption that "short term and local environmental impacts of resource use across the life cycle have been and can be mitigated in a way that allows for "impact decoupling" to be larger than "resource decoupling". With global and far reaching environmental impacts, this is less likely to be the case." (Swilling and Fischer-Kowalski, 2010, p. 23)

Before exploring the empirical relation between resource use and environmental impacts, it is required to clarify their interrelation on the conceptual level. In the chapter 3.1, we claimed that resources and resource use conceptually serve as the most important links between the environment and socioeconomic activities; even more strongly, we claimed that socio-economic activities that do not translate into resource use are environmentally irrelevant. Thinking in terms of the DPSIR model, economic activity (in monetary terms) serves as a driver for resource use²⁵, and resource use represents pressure that translates into environmental impacts.

²⁵ Economic activity in monetary terms is not the only driver for resource use. Demographic change (in particular, but not only, change in population numbers) has to be looked upon, according to recent findings (Krausmann et al., 2009, Steinberger et al., 2010), as an even stronger driver. More people does not only mean more food demand (which, particularly in subsistence economies, need not reflect itself in economic growth), but also more demand for all material and energy commodities common in a certain society. In contrast to the relation with GDP, there is no "relative decoupling" between resource use and population numbers.

This relationship can more clearly be expressed with the help of a slight extension of the classical Ehrlich I=PAT formula (Ehrlich and Holdren, 1971), where I = environmental impact, P = population, A = affluence/population, T = technology/affluence.

The extension would read as follows:

I(t) = P * A/P * R/A * I/R, where:

I(t) = (total) environmental impact

P = population numbers

A = affluence (GDP), A/P income per capita

R = Resources used, R/A resource productivity

T = I/R = technology, impact per resource unit (environmental efficiency)

The interpretation would be the following:

The environmental impacts of a social system (e.g. a nation state) would

- 1. equal its population,
- 2. weighted by the per capita income, times the
- 3. amount of resources used per unit of income, times
- 4. the environmental impact per unit of resource use (depending on technology)

On this plain level the policy implications would be that component 1. is subject to demographic politics, 2. would be subject (among others) to economic policies, 3. would be mainly a function of technological and organizational innovation leading to resources savings, and 4. would be mainly influenced by environmental policies taking care of an environmentally friendly (composition and) use of resources across their life cycle.

This of course is a very simplistic model assuming homogeneity and linearity, but it is good enough to sketch the overall mental picture.

For all these considerations, it is important not to conceive of the impact of "resources" and "resource use" in terms of impact of specific materials. The environmental impact potential (see Moll et al., 2004) of resource use is **not mainly a function of the material (chemical, physical) qualities** of a resource, but a **function of the ways it is used across a life-cycle** from extraction through production/manufacture to consumption and the end-of-life-phase. The ways a resource is used does not directly reflect itself in the quantities (tonnes, Joules) it is used. But the standard uses of resources are not so extremely different between societies: nobody feeds coal to cows, uses spice metals for fertilizing gardens or wood for constructing roads. This is to say that the amounts and structure of resources used is not a bad approximation to a society's production and consumption patterns.

Nevertheless, local and regional environmental impacts of the same level of use of one resource can be influenced, as we try to illustrate in Figure 59 for sand and gravel (bulk minerals used for construction), a particularly "harmless" resource. If we look at the potential impacts from the use of sand and gravel across their life cycle from extraction to deposition, they can clearly be lessened by wise use and specific environmental measures: How much dust is released during extraction, the risk of groundwater contamination due to extraction activites, how the soil removed is taken care of (and possibly replaced after the active phase of the mine), and the noise that is created in the process, can be improved. In the production phase, the key question will be how high a proportion of this resource is transformed into concrete – this may be variable. Similarly, in the use

phase impacts will clearly depend on the purposes for which these minerals are being used. If it is mainly for renovating houses, most impacts will be smaller than if it is for large scale construction of highways or dams, for example. Finally, in the end-of-life phase the recycling rates will matter. Nevertheless, some impacts will relate in a fairly linear way to the amount of material used: resource depletion, for example; or the indirect impacts via the associated use of fossil fuels for transportation. Some of the impacts might have a tendency to become worse instead of better: when mines in close proximity of settlements have been exhausted, there is a need to accept further distances and increased transportation.

In effect, major changes in the use of the same resource category (such as a shift from road construction to the renovation of buildings) or major changes in technology (resulting, for example, in a substantial reduction of CO_2 emissions per ton of cement produced) would reflect themselves in the change of impact coefficients, and would also influence total environmental impacts via the IPAT formula. It would not necessarily require continuous monitoring of impacts to estimate such changes of coefficients.

Figure 59: Describing the resource use of "bulk construction minerals" across their life cycle in terms of environmental impacts (illustration)

	Ecosystems Use of sand and gravel	Atmo- sphere	Aquatic systems	Soil	Litho-sphere	Live systems	Human health		
-	Extraction phase	Dust particles	ground-water pollution	Soil loss	Resource depletion	Habitat loss	noise		
-	Production and delivery phase	CO ₂ (con- crete pro- duction) Dust part.			Wastes: use of deposition capacity	Dust particles	Dust particles noise		
	Consumption/ Dust use/end of life particles		Interference water cycle	Soil loss, sealing	Interference with erosion	Habitat loss	noise		
-	Afflicted ecosystem services	Local air quality, climate	Local water quality	Reduction of productive soil	Resource depletion, waste accumulation	Wildlife, biodiversi ty	Silence (??)		
-	Associated fos	sil fuel use	→]						
-	Associated land	d use	indirect impacts captured with other resource use						

It would be useful to design a moderate R&D programme to find a pragmatic strategy and draw the necessary distinctions and valuations from existing LCA work to feed into that kind of algorithm and apply some sensitivity analyses to find out which effects are worth while pursuing. In the end, this might become a tool that is both robust and flexible.

Associated water use

How much use of other resources like fossil fuels, land or water is associated with the focal resource can be – under certain assumptions – modelled from the given international MFA data. As discussed above, the use of different resources is typically interlinked: it is not possible to extract resources without consequences in terms of energy, land, and water, or to change land use without modifying water cycles, and so on. The DPSIR approach expressed through the extended IPAT formulation may be the best way to quantify the population-economy-resource-impact nexus, but since it treats each resource separately, it does not analyse the coupling between resources. However, the intra-resource links should not be ignored, since they may be the key to sustainability policy success or failure. As an example, in figure 60 we show the correlations (or lack thereof) between fossil fuels and other material flows. Fossil fuels are very strongly correlated with construction minerals, significantly correlated with ores/industrial minerals, and not at all with biomass. Climate, energy, and resource policy are clearly best understood together in terms of their implications. Moreover, the large scale substitution of biomass for fossil fuels would clearly represent a massive change in biomass flows with immense environmental consequences.





Source: ca. 160 countries for the year 2000, based on data from Steinberger et al., 2010

Because of this strong statistical (and causal) interrelation of the quantities of various resources used, it is a great challenge to estimate "indirect impacts" (such as the impact of the use of a specific material resource **and** the impact of the energy use associated with it) without ending up with double counting. We therefore suggest to focus on direct impacts, but care for system completeness by taking into account all resources used by a particular social system.

Across time, a "double decoupling" could be proven (or disproven) by comparing the total impacts (Impacts (t)) on the system level as modelled through the IPAT formula across time with the time line of total resource use. This would actually allow a test of the relative dependence or independence of the two indicators.

6.4 Empirical findings to the interrelation between resource use and environmental impacts

Indicators measuring environmental impacts of resource use are scarce. This reflects the above mentioned difficulties concerning the link between resources and impacts and the lack of clarity in definitions and coverage of impacts as such. Environmental impact assessments also do not take a material flow perspective but rather take a consumption or product perspective. (see for example Hertwich et al., 2009, p. 45ff, Nielsen et al., 2004, p. 18, Tukker and Jansen, 2006)

Currently mainly two aggregate indicators are applied that are supposed to measure environmental impacts on the macro level, i.e. the Environmentally Weighted Material Consumption (EMC) and the Ecological Footprint (EF).

The EMC (van der Voet et al., 2005a, 2005b and 2009) combines material flow data (basically DMC) with Life Cycle Assessment (LCA) data by multiplying material consumption with environmental impacts. "For every considered material, an estimate is made of its contribution to environmental problems throughout its life cycle. This includes not only the impacts related to the material itself, but also the impacts of auxiliary materials, energy used for its extraction and production, emissions of impurities and pollutants included in the material during use or waste treatment, etcetera. Energy use in the consumption phase is not allocated to the materials' chains." (van der Voet et al., 2005b, p. 6f) For determining environmental impacts, 13 impact categories are applied, i.e. abiotic resource depletion, land use, global warming, ozone layer depletion, four types of toxicity, acidification, eutrophication, smog formation, radiation, and final solid waste formation. (van der Voet et al., 2005a) These impact categories were applied to 6 material groups containing 100 materials. (Nielsen et al., 2005) Results of the 13 separate impact calculations are then weighted and aggregated to arrive at EMC.

The Ecological Footprint (EF) was originally not defined as impact measure but rather as a headline indicator of high communicative power which combines information from resource use with CO₂ emissions and land use. "The Ecological Footprint measures how much biologically productive land and water area is required to provide the resources consumed and absorb the wastes generated by a human population, taking into account prevailing technology. The annual production of biologically provided resources, called biocapacity, is also measured as part of the methodology. The Ecological Footprint and biocapacity are each measured in global hectares, a standardised unit of measurement equal to 1 hectare with global average bioproductivity." (Best et al., 2008, p. 3f)

The EF meanwhile reached high visibility and calculations are conducted for all countries in the world also in time series. The main strength of the EF is that it refers to a very comprehensive benchmark – land area. Furthermore, results appear to be self explaining. However, there are several methodological weaknesses (see for example Haberl et al., 2001) the EF suffers from.

The EMC or the EF are either applied individually and taken as a rough proxy for environmental impacts, or they are combined with other indicators. As an example of the latter, the EEA promotes the "Environmental Sustainability Dashboard (basket of indicators)" which includes the EMC, the Ecological Footprint, Human Appropriation of Net Primary Production (HANPP), and Land and Ecosystem Accounts (LEAC) (Best et al., 2008).

Another accounting framework is given by Environmentally Extended Input Output Analysis (EE-IOA) (see for example Moll et al., 2004). This approach combines Input Output Tables with national accounting matrices including environmental accounts (NAMEA) which contain information on the most prominent emissions, wastes and resource use. The information from NAMEA matrices is then fed into Input Output Tables. This reveals how environmental pressures are allocated to

economic sectors and how they then are distributed to other branches or final consumption categories. By that, the accumulated pressures throughout the production process can be calculated and allocated to final consumption categories. (Moll and Watson, 2009, p. 13f) However, no aggregate indicator was yet derived from these approaches.

Results from studies on material use and environmental impacts

Moll et al. (2004) conducted an analysis of the link between resource use and impacts and identified the following interrelations: Fossil fuel use (measured in TMR) showed high correlation with generation of bulk wastes, fairly high with global warming potential and potential acidifying effects. The latter is due to the combustion during fossil fuel use. Metals correlated high to medium (depending on the correlation measure used) with global warming potential, tropospheric ozone forming potential and waste generation, and fairly high to medium with potential acidifying effect. The analysis was conducted for Germany, where metal extraction is not an important activity. In countries that do engage in metal extraction, a high correlation can be expected between metals and bulk wastes (mining wastes and overburden). Industrial and construction minerals correlated high with bulk wastes, and moderately high correlation with impact potentials related to air emissions due to the high energy requirements in processing industries such as ceramics. Biomass resources correlated only with impact potentials related to air emissions such as methane emissions and the contribution to global warming potential and tropospheric ozone forming potential or NH₃ emissions contributing to potential acidifying effect. (Moll et al., 2004, p. 38ff)

In a follow up study, Moll and Watson (2009) described agriculture, the electricity industry, transport services and some basic manufacturing industries (refinery and chemical products, nonmetallic mineral products, basic metals) as the sectors that contributed most to environmental impacts. They account for 75% of greenhouse gas emissions, 93% of acidifying emissions and 84% of emissions of ground ozone precursors. Related to economic growth, Moll et al. described the EU as successful in "decoupling air emissions from growth in production. Production-related emissions of acidifying gases and tropospheric ozone precursors decreased by 17% and 28% respectively between 1995 and 2004 despite an economic growth of 27%. Production-related greenhouse gas emissions remained fairly stable during the same period." (Moll and Watson, 2009, p. 39f) Decoupling was to a significant extent achieved through a shift towards service sectors and moving heavy industry abroad. (Moll and Watson, 2009, p. 33f)

EMC measures categorize intensive agriculture as causing highest environmental impacts followed by construction activities. (van der Voet et al., 2005b, p. 8ff) On a more detailed level, highest environmental impacts were identified for the following products: 1. animal products, 2. crops, 3. plastics, 4. oil for heating and transport, 5. concrete, 6. hard coal for electricity, 7. brown coal for electricity, 8. iron and steel, 9. gas for heating, 10. paper and board, followed by glass, oil for electricity, aluminium, ceramics, gas for electricity, clay, lead, nickel, hard coal for heating, and zinc. Among metals, van der Voet et al. (2005b) identified iron and steel, aluminium, copper and emissions from fuel combustion during the various stages of processing.

In general, very small flows with high impact potential hardly show up as significant flows in EMC measures. Likewise, large material flows with low impact potentials do not count either. Material flows of high relevance due to significant environmental impacts are large material flows with a reasonably high score on more than one impact category. Among those the authors found agricultural biomass materials and fossil energy carriers as well as bulk metals such as steel and aluminium. (EEA, 2005c, p. 6f)

EMC trends (1992 to 2000) show that some countries decreased their environmental impacts, others increased, and some remained stable. (see van der Voet et al., 2005b, p. 8) For the 28

countries (EU15 + AC13) in total, the EMC per capita remained rather stable. On the country level, largest increase could be observed for Portugal, Spain and Greece. Related to GDP, the EMC/€ showed a decrease over time. The same trend can be observed for the individual countries but with different rates of improvement. Van der Voet et al. (2005b) identified as the single largest contribution to eco-efficiency in Europe the reduction in the use of coal.

The high importance of agriculture is confirmed in studies using the product approach. Agriculture is again classified as one of the sectors that contribute most to global environmental impacts. (see for example Nielsen et al., 2004) Among the impacts from agricultural activities are eutrophication through ammonia from animal manure or nitrate and phosphorus emissions to water, acidification, global warming through enteric fermentation and manure management, and ecotoxicity through pesticides. Apart from this, agriculture puts serious pressure on water resources and on land area. (Nielsen et al., 2004, p. 20) The impact of agriculture on habitat change is described in FAO reports which state that agricultural land is expanding in 70% of countries (Swilling and Fischer-Kowalski, 2010 p. 23f).

Moreover, "industrial" agriculture is very energy intensive and puts pressure on land and water resources. Swilling and Fischer-Kowalski (2010) argue that "currently about half of the world's land is used for agriculture and 70% of total water use". This is expected to aggravate with increasing animal production. Demand for animal fodder is expected to increase to 40–50% of global cereal production in 2050 (Aiking et al., 2006 cited in Swilling and Fischer-Kowalski, 2010 p. 24f; Erb et al. 2009a).

Fossil fuels are fundamental to the functioning of the industrial mode of production and modern lifestyles and thus used intensively by industrial societies. Impacts from the use of fossil fuels include global warming, acidification, eutrophication and toxicity. Additionally, scarcity of fossil fuels is an issue. Physical limits are not yet reached but peak oil for example is expected to be passed in the near future. Alternative fossil fuel sources (e.g. tar sands) are sought and increasingly used. However, environmental impacts from these are not yet clear (Hertwich et al., 2009, p. 74f).

Environmental impacts of metals are related to the energy intensive mining and refining processes (about 7% of world's energy use is demanded by the metals sector) and cause air, water and soil pollution. Further environmental impacts occur due to accumulation of metals in wastes and resulting toxicity which affects human and ecosystem health (Hertwich et al., 2009, p. 74f).

Further pressure on the environment is expected due to falling ore grades and resulting increases in energy demand. Technological development and new applications add another perspective: "Metals, such as platinum, indium and selenium, are scarce and are mostly mined as co- or by-products. In view of their high impacts per kg, this may cause priority orders to change. Other by-produced metals include cadmium (a by-product of zinc) and mercury (a by-product of natural gas). The issue of co- and by-produced metals is very unique. Their supply is unrelated to their demand and therefore market fluctuations may cause enormous price fluctuations as well. Any policies aimed at phasing out toxic heavy metals fail for this reason and have unwanted side-effects. Both scarcity and pollution problems behave differently for these materials. Recycling poses difficulties and requires careful design (Reuter et al., 2005; Buchert, 2008), and may, moreover, not always be the best option from a sustainability point of view (Hagelücken and Meskers, 2009)" (cited in Hertwich et al., 2009, p. 74f).

In the 8 studies reviewed in Nielsen et al. (2004) construction materials were identified as a material group of high environmental significance (see also EEA, 2005c, p. 6f) Extraction of construction minerals leads to noise and air pollution, and cement production causes high amounts of CO_2 emissions. However, the high relevance is mostly result of building up infrastructure (for transport and housing) and resulting demand for energy and metals inputs, but also of the land area needed, and finally due to the significant quantities of construction minerals required. In case the energy use related to heating of buildings is attributed to construction minerals the

environmental impacts even become more significant. (Hertwich et al., 2009, p. 75-79). Another important issue about construction minerals is the link to land area. Extraction of construction minerals as well as built artefacts (buildings, built infrastructure) require considerable amounts of land area and soil sealing is considered among the three most important threats to European soils next to erosion, and contamination (EEA, 2005c, p. 6f). See also section 3.3 on land use.

To summarize: impacts from the use of fossil fuels mainly arise from combustion and related CO_2 emissions. Biomass use puts pressure on land and water resources, and contributes to climate change, land degradation, and biodiversity loss. Extraction of industrial minerals and ores requires a lot of energy, and adds to ecotoxicity. Finally, bulk construction materials contribute to land degradation, wastes and CO_2 emissions due to transport activities and cement production.

Finally, we want to look at the links between material use, carbon emissions as the most important category among impact potentials and the Ecological Footprint as a representative of an applied impact measure. Figure 61 correlates the results for ca. 160 countries and shows that the three variables are highly correlated. Material use, impact potentials and the EF thus show similar results, which supports the strong mutual link between resource use and environmental impacts.

The high correlations support the strong link between resource use and environmental impacts that researchers already stated such as scholars engaged in the UNEP Resource Panel who "found environmental impacts closely proportional to the volumes of extraction and use of the respective resource". (Swilling and Fischer-Kowalski, 2010, p. 23) Some researchers therefore claim that "reducing resource use in absolute terms will automatically lead to fewer impacts, even if we do not know precisely how much a change in resource consumption will change the resulting environmental impacts". (EEA, 2005c, p. 60)

It can be concluded that so far, no comprehensive impact coefficients per unit resource use have been calculated. To our knowledge, no quantitative time series data for environmental impacts exists, not even for specific countries or specific impacts. And finally, the few aggregate impact indicators that have been constructed (EMC, ecological footprint) are criticised for a number of methodological weaknesses and are far from satisfactory with regard to measuring environmental impacts and far from ready for use in regular monitoring and reporting.

Additionally, the results for environmental impacts from resource use excerpted above are rather illustrating environmental impacts from economic sectors or activities than impacts from material use. This step towards relating environmental impacts to resource use still has to be taken but is possible with reasonable effort.

Figure 61: Correlation between Ecological Footprint and Carbon Emissions with DMC, and of Carbon Emissions with Ecological Footprint



Source: ca. 160 countries for the year 2000, based on data from Steinberger et al 2010

6.5 Targets for resource use and environmental impacts

The open question that follows from the above given arguments is whether it is possible to set targets on the reduction of environmental impacts or of resource use. The answer is not an easy one and for several reasons we will not propose specific targets at this point. First, we argued before that there is still a lack of consistent and agreed upon indicators as well as empirical data for environmental impacts. But a serious discussion of targets needs to be related both conceptually, and ethically, to the meaning of long-term sustainability. Secondly, they need the potential to be defined and broken down to various levels, globally, nationally, and possibly on the level of economic sectors, firms and products. Otherwise, they would not be practical. And thirdly, they must be comprehensive and integrative in terms of resource use.

Targeting environmental impacts or resource use can be approached from different angles. The underlying condition is sustainable development and its double components: preserving the capacity of the earth to sustain humans, to produce resources and to absorb residues; equal distribution of the benefits of resource use – including the planetary waste absorptive capacity – in the future as compared to unequality in past or present. There must be room for development of those in need, and there must be a converging trajectory in the future.

Following these principles, we can discuss targets from four perspectives: (1) the perspective of limitations to the resource base, (2) the perspective of limitations to absorption capacities of the earth's ecosystems, (3) the perspective of efficient and equitable resource supply for people, and (4) the perspective of efficient and equitable resource supply for economies.

6.5.1 Policy targets with reference to extraction rates from a limited resource base

In principle, any policy target that refers to a possibly limited resource base needs to be argued on a global level, and has to relate to quantities of global primary resource extraction. By means of world trade, resources can be and are being exchanged across world regions. Equity considerations with respect to the amount of extracted resources do not apply across different countries and regions: resources need to be extracted where they can be found. This refers particularly to resources with localized geological deposits (e.g. copper, petroleum, phosphates), while for more ubiquitous resources (biomass, silica, iron, aluminium) other criteria may be also relevant. These other criteria are particularly important when concerning resources of daily need, such as food and water. For such resources, local and regional security of supply and affordability also come into play.

Equity considerations concerning resource extraction must apply, though, with regard to future generations. The higher the resource extraction from exhaustible stocks today, the less there will be for future extraction (this holds even if stocks are very difficult to quantify). The earlier sustainability discourse used to draw a distinction between "non-renewable resources" which ought to be extracted as little as possible in order to save them for future generations, and "renewable resources", which should be extracted only at rates not exceeding their regeneration rates (Daly, 1990). While these may be wise principles, they have long been overtaken by reality. Depending on definition, one third to half of the over 50 billion tons of primary resources extracted each year globally is "non-renewable", with this fraction rising (fossil fuels, ores and industrial minerals, and parts of construction minerals). For a number of these resources, concerns about imminent scarcity have been articulated, and increasing efforts required for their extraction are reported (Gordon et al., 2006, Mudd, 2009, Norgate, 2009).

At the same time, "renewable resources" like biomass or many bulk minerals used for construction are also extracted in very high and increasing quantities, and there exist no clear standards as to their global regeneration rates. Thus the partial substitution of non-renewables with renewable resources as a strategy may be possible, but a general target of withdrawing from the use of non-renewables is not advocated by anyone and appears unrealistic.

A general target on resource use does not seam plausible. The aggregated materials are too different in terms of their characteristics, their possible environmental impacts from use, their availability, their use in economic sectors and for specific products etc. Thus, possible targeting only makes sense on a more disaggregated level.

Fossil fuels make up roughly 50 billion metric tons of annual global resource extraction, about one fifth (20%) consists of fossil fuels (coal, petroleum, natural gas). With regard to fossil fuels, possible future scarcities are meanwhile undisputed. Both "peak oil" and "peak gas" are apparently due to occur in the near future, while global demand (particularly in developing countries) is rapidly rising. At the same time, fossil fuel extraction and use (in particular also the use of coal which is less scarce) needs to be dealt with under the header of climate change.

Another 30% of global resource extraction consists of biomass, a renewable energy carrier. There is currently a heated debate as to what the limits on biomass extraction are or ought to be. On the one hand, there is major concern over the disappearance of the last pristine wilderness areas and tropical rainforests, and an associated loss of biodiversity. On the other hand, there is some hope in further increasing area productivity so to allow for increased harvests, although increased use of mineral fertilizers will probably be required also. Global biomass demand is bound to increase significantly during the coming decades due to population growth and income related changes in diet and the substitution of biomass for fossils (Erb et al., 2009a). The relation between biomass and scarcity is complex: supplying sufficient biomass for a growing population and changing dietary patterns relate to scarcity of land (competing with wilderness/biodiversity), of water and of energy, and with the threat of soil depletion. The significance of these scarcity issues varies from region to region and over time (due, among other things, to climate change). There is concern that the growing demand of biomass for the provision of food, fibre and fuel will increase the pressure on the few remaining pristine ecosystems as well as land use intensity on the managed areas.

A small fraction, roughly 10%, of global resource extraction consists of metal ores and industrial minerals – a mixed bag of the very scarce and precious elements or gems down to the ubiquitous. For some of these materials scarcity issues play a major role, but the scarcity constraints cannot easily be translated into policy targets. One classical argument that applies here is reference to recycling. By accumulating previously extracted primary resources in our infrastructure and our waste deposits, we create potential new sources for extraction (cf. Brunner, 2004). This argument, though, does not apply to all minerals. Recycling is particularly difficult for the often precious "spice" metals (used in very small but crucial quantities, for example in electronic equipment (Hilty, 2008) or minerals which are used in a dissipative way such as fertilizer minerals. Additionally, the recycling of dispersed materials requires significant amounts of energy. More generally speaking, as long as overall resource use is continuously rising, remains from the past will always run short of demand. We cannot "recycle ourselves into sustainability" (UNEP, 2010, Hashimoto et al., 2007).

Finally, the largest fraction (about 40%) of extracted resources consists of construction minerals. Sand, gravel and stone, and limestone for cement production, may be considered effectively unlimited, if not precisely renewable resources and do not present a scarcity challenge, except in some localities (EEA, 2008; Habert et al., 2010) – and thus do not offer themselves for being targeted under this perspective.

A major advantage of choosing global primary resource extraction as a reference point for policy targets is measurability and clear spatial assignment. However, the overall amount of resources extracted does not lend itself easily for targeting, as standards of scarcity and resource preservation strongly vary by type of resource. We are not aware of any one policy case in which decisions were taken to preserve some fraction of known resource reserves for future generations.

6.5.2 Policy targets with reference to the limited capacity of the Earth of absorbing wastes and providing ecosystem services

In principle, any policy with reference to limited absorption capacities has to refer to resource use, and both on a global and on regional and local levels. During recent past decades, the major focus of what was considered "environmental impacts" has been on the side of wastes and emissions as a consequence of resource use, rather than on the input side. Indeed, most policies have targeted this side of the equation. How can more general policy targets for sustainable resource management be formulated from such a perspective?

The most far-reaching effort along these lines was made by the IPCC: In effect, the IPCC said that to protect the global climate, CO_2 emissions from anthropogenic sources must be curtailed. As long as there is no powerful technology for carbon capture and storage (CCS) in place, this implies reducing the combustion of fossil fuels, and limiting Portland cement production. If an atmospheric CO_2 concentration above 450 ppm is to be avoided, annual fossil fuel combustion (and cement production) must be reduced from the current levels of 10 billion tons of fossil fuels globally, or about 1.7 tons per capita (corresponding to 5 tons of CO_2) roughly by a factor 4. Thus, from the perspective of keeping world climate change below a dangerous threshold, there follows the target to reduce global fossil fuel combustion gradually much below present levels. The same would apply to cement production. Thus, climate considerations legitimize a target of reducing fossil fuel use and the use of (certain) construction materials to much lower levels than today. How this correspondence can be established, must be elaborated in more detail.

Climate considerations also apply to certain aspects of biomass use. As has been shown recently (Canadell et al., 2007; Crutzen et al., 2007), IPCC's assumed "carbon-neutrality" of biomass use does not hold in all, or even many cases. The substitution of forest cover by cultivated land leads to net emissions of CO_2 to the atmosphere. Thus, insofar as the increase of biomass use implies an extension of agricultural land, it also has climate implications. Similarly, the increase in grazing animal livestock (which was driving some of the most recent global rise in biomass use) leads to an increase in greenhouse gas emissions in the form of methane from bacterial action in the stomachs of ruminants. The contribution of the livestock sector to global greenhouse gas emissions (18%, measured in CO_2 equivalents) is larger than that of transport (FAO, 2006). From this perspective, one might even consider a policy target of global stabilization of livestock numbers, as these numbers both drive deforestation and greenhouse gas emissions. (See also McMichael et al., 2007).

As far as the use of metal ores and industrial minerals is concerned, some of them (e.g. arsenic, lead, cadmium, mercury) are among the most dangerous toxic wastes industrial societies need to deal with. There, again, it is very hard to formulate general targets except at the level of specific elements or industrially produced compounds. There are huge differences in environmental impact between the various substances and chemical compounds which are in use. But, the scarce metals are most often mined and used in conjunction with one another. Thus, it does make sense to have very specific policy targets limiting specific types of uses of certain resources (e.g. lead in gasoline or paint). But a sustainable resource management perspective can probably best be directed at the recovery and recycling (and avoidance of dissipative uses) of dangerous materials. If policy targets were formulated, not relative to waste output (i.e., recovery rates), but rather relative to primary

resource input (perhaps by limiting the virgin fraction of materials use), this would also have beneficial implications in curbing raw material extraction.

Finally, how should the use of construction materials be treated within this perspective? Major environmental impacts of the use of construction materials include land-use associated with resource extraction and construction activities (e.g. the paving of farmland or the destruction of habitats), the GHG emissions associated with the production of Portland cement, and fossil fuel use in quarrying and transport of large quantities of construction materials. In addition, and maybe most importantly, the use of construction materials creates legacies for future resource use as their maintenance and operation directly and indirectly influences the use of energy, materials and water (EEA, 2008). The main considerations to guide policy in this domain should therefore be functional, i.e. to encourage future savings. But the lifetime resource use associated with the built environment is not directly related to the amount of construction materials used, but primarily to urban design and architecture.

In general, the use of construction materials per se is closely linked to fossil fuel use (Steinberger et al., 2010). Consequently, if the use of fossil fuels is constrained, the use of construction materials will be, at least to some degree, be constrained, too. Thus, from the perspective of endof-life and use-related environmental consequences of resource use, policy targets formulated from a climate protection angle will have some bearing on sustainable resource management. (A major concern here, though, has to be that competing sustainability goals related to fossil fuel use and biomass use are taken into consideration when strategies to meet the climate related emission targets are formulated!)

6.5.3 Policy targets from the angle of efficient and equitable supply of services to people

Economic activity is about providing societies specific services and benefits. Sustainability thus is about resource productivity in the sense of providing a maximum benefit for people at the expense of a minimum of resources. This has to relate per capita resource use (as an input) to some desired outcome per capita, such as (healthy) life expectancy, opportunity for education, sufficient and healthy nutrition or a certain level of material comfort (housing, water and electricity supply etc.).

Social wellbeing is usually expressed with GDP or economic welfare. However, other measures for social wellbeing such as the HDI do better in reflecting social welfare. Resource use such as the primary energy supply of countries can then be related to the development of HDI or social wellbeing. Steinberger and Roberts (2009) have demonstrated that in the past three decades the amount of energy needed for a threshold of 0.8 HDI has decreased by 50%. This means an increase in energy productivity – in producing human life chances - of 50%! As could be expected, this relation is almost identical for carbon emissions and HDI, and similar results can be seen with material consumption data.

The main implication of this result is that basic human needs can be met at lower and lower resource use levels, or that reductions in resource use do not have to come at a cost of lower living standards, if their implementation is done correctly.

The food system can serve as an example for the potential to increase resource use efficiency: A number of recent studies have analysed the wastefulness of the human food system in industrial countries. It has been shown that currently up to 40% of all produced food is not used but thrown away (e.g. Griffin et al., 2009, Hall et al., 2009, Lackner, 2008): A large fraction of this waste is up to private households that buy more than they can eat, to restaurants that serve too large portions, to retailers that calculate their storage too generously, and to producers. While some of this waste is obviously inevitable, there sure is some savings potential. The second largest "reducible" share

refers to food people eat (or drink) in excess of their metabolic needs – food overconsumption can be estimated to roughly 1/6 of the food consumed. Finally, a reduction of the animal based food share (meat and other animal based products) could lead to another reduction, both of biomass use and even more so of environmental impact (Smil, 2002, Erb et al., 2009a, McMichael et al., 2007).

Other examples to increase resource productivity (service per unit of primary resource input) are strategies increasing recycling rates (Japan; Ministry of the Environment, 2008); policies aiming at energy/heat efficient housing units or increasing passengers per car or mileage per fuel input.

As analyses have shown (see Krausmann et al., 2008b, Fischer-Kowalski et al., 2007), metabolic rates in given contexts tend to be rather stable, unless structural change occurs. There is good reason for this: the use of various resources is strongly interlinked, especially mineral resources (Steinberger et al., 2010). The use of various materials depends on the use of others, and requires specific amounts of energy and water, based upon technologies and infrastructure. Moreover, a certain material standard of living becomes habitual within societies. As technical efficiency and incomes rise, they seemingly balance each other out to maintain a relatively constant metabolic rate. As a consequence, under structurally stable conditions, the total amount of resource use of a country strongly corresponds to population numbers.

In terms of absolute resource consumption, there is a trade-off between population dynamics and metabolic rates: there is an equivalent environmental impact if the population grows (while metabolic rates remain the same) or if population stays stable but metabolic rates rise. This is highly relevant in developing countries facing structural change. For instance, China has been fairly successful in curbing population growth, but is now confronted with rapidly rising metabolic rates. The impact on the environment is equivalent to further population growth. The same also applies to industrialized European countries with stable metabolic rates and no endogenous population growth when facing immigration pressures. Within a very short time period, immigrant populations may be expected to adjust to the metabolic rates of the host countries. Thus, focusing on metabolic rates implies addressing consumption and lifestyles.

An advantage of basing policy targets on population numbers and metabolic rates is reasonably good measurability and fairly reliable projections over longer time spans. What is difficult to determine and to agree upon is the outcomes that should be referred to (such as life expectancy, HDI, or other indicators for quality of life). This could be alleviated by a multi-criteria approach (Munda, 1995).

6.5.4 Policy targets for efficient and equitable resource supply to economies

In principle, any policy for an economic system (whether a nation, a region, sector, a firm or a production process) needs to refer to overall resource inputs and relate them to economic output, usually value-added. The goal then would be to raise economic resource productivity, which means to achieve a higher value added per unit resources used. This is the inverse of material intensity; insofar, dematerialization is equivalent to raising resource productivity. Technological progress can and does raise resource productivity. But for larger systems under conditions of economic growth and stable (or even declining) resource prices usually rebound effects occur that (out)balance those productivity gains – thus the resource use of the larger system, despite resource productivity gains, remains the same or even rises (Jevon's paradox) (see Polimeni and Alcott, 2008, Binswanger, 2001, Holm and Englund, 2009, Alcott, 2005, Ayres et al., 2007).

Another inherent problem in measuring and comparing (economic) resource productivity was already spelled out in the seminal work of Ayres and Kneese (1969). While the economic value of a product, of a commodity, due to labour input increases in the life cycle from raw material extraction

to consumption, and finally disappears or even turns negative after consumption, when disposed as waste, its material weight is highest in the phase of extraction (if all materials that will ever be incorporated in the final commodity are counted), this weight is gradually decreased through the stages of production, with the final commodity weighing no more than, say, ten percent of all the materials that had been mobilized to produce it, with the remaining ninety percent having occurred as extraction and production wastes before consumption. In the last stage, waste after consumption, the weight of the product does not, like its value, "disappear", but remains constant.

If an indicator like resource productivity relates the value (or the value added) of a product to its weight, there is bound to be a bias depending on the phase in life cycle: in the early phases of resource extraction, resource productivity (that is: economic value / unit of weight) systematically is lower than in the late phases. It is, therefore, difficult and often inconclusive to compare resource productivities between different systems (such as economic sectors, firms, or even countries) that have a different position on the life cycle axis. Even with comparisons for the same system across time, this problem may occur: If a country, for example, gives up resource extraction or production in some areas in favour of importing manufactured products and specializing in services, its resource productivity is likely to increase – while the resource productivity of the larger system, that is, this country plus the countries it imports from, may remain unchanged or even decline (if the exporting countries have a less advanced technology than the importing country). This problem has to be kept in mind when interpreting economic resource productivities.

In the past two-and-a-half decades, resource productivity in industrial countries has been consistently rising 1-3 percent annually, about at the same pace as GDP. In developing countries though, such a trend cannot consistently be found. This has much less to do with lacking technological efficiency than with the bias due to different positions in the extraction-consumption cycle and the size of the GDP. In a cross country correlation for 175 countries in the year 2000, Steinberger et al. (2010) found a very strong correlation between GDP/cap and the material resource productivity indicator GDP/DMC, with a goodness-of-fit R2 of 0.84.

Despite these precautions, using economic material productivity as a basis for political targets makes a lot of sense, particularly if this is one among other targets (as it is, for example, in the Japanese "3R: reduce, reuse, recyle" policy (Ministry of the Environment, 2008, Hashimoto et al., 2008)). Without increases in productivity, one cannot expect to be able to save resources without reducing the standard of living of people. The big challenge is to have substantial productivity increases but small rebound effects, or else savings are (over)compensated by growth of consumption: effectively, to push economic productivity beyond the business-as-usual levels. Economic resource productivity can be reliably measured on various system levels. It cannot always be so easily interpreted, though.

This discourse about targeting and possible approaches shows the difficulty of this task. At the moment, no clear recommendation can be given towards setting a specific target. However, some conditions can be derived from the above mentioned arguments that can feed into policy debates on the setting of targets:

- Any targeting has to bear in mind the mutual dependencies of resources, resource use and environmental impacts. A systemic view can help preventing from overlooking some outsourcing or shifting of effects.
- Targets on resource use or environmental impacts have to be linked to other existing policies such as climate policies, agricultural policies, energy policies etc.
- Setting targets on the aggregate level is not reasonable neither for environmental impacts nor for resource use.

7 Acronyms

- bio: billion
- cap: capita
- CO2: Carbon dioxide
- DE: Domestic (material) Extraction (used)
- DMC: Domestic Material Consumption
- DMI: Domestic material input
- GDP: Gross Domestic Product
- ha: hectare
- HANPP: Human appropriation of net primary production
- km²: square kilometre
- LCA: Life Cycle Assessment
- MER: Market Exchange Rate
- MFA: Material flow accounting
- mio: million
- PPP: Purchasing Power Parity
- RME: Raw Material Equivalen
- RP: Resource Productivity
- t: metric ton
- yr: year

List of countries

EU-15: Austria (AT), Belgium/Luxembourg (BE), Denmark (DK), Finland (FI), France (FR), Germany (DE), Greece (GR), Ireland (IE), Italy (IT), Netherlands (NL), Portugal (PT), Spain (ES), Sweden (SE), United Kingdom (UK).

EU-27: EU-15, Bulgaria (BG), Cyprus (CY), Czech Republic (CZ), Estonia (EE), Hungary (HU), Latvia (LV), Lithuania (LT), Malta (MT), Poland (PL), Romania (RO), Slovak Republic (SK), Slovenia (SI).

8 References

Alcott, B., 2005. Jevons' paradox. Ecological Economics, 54 (1), 9-21.

- Althaus, H.-J., 2005. Short Introduction to LCA. EMPA T&S/LCAM,
- Ayres, R.U., Kneese, A.V., 1969. Production, Consumption and Externalities. American Economic Review, 59 (3), 282-297.
- Ayres, R.U., Turton, H., Casten, T., 2007. Energy efficiency, sustainability and economic growth. Energy, 32 (5), 634-648.
- Ayres, R.U., Warr, B., Ayres, L.W., 2003. Exergy, power and work in the US Economy, 1900-1998. Energy, 28 (3), 219-273.
- Behrens, A., Giljum, S., Kovanda, J., Niza, S., 2007. The material basis of the global economy: Worldwide patterns of natural resource extraction and their implications for sustainable resource use policies. Ecological Economics, 64 (2), 444-453.
- Best, A., Blobel, D., Cavalieri, S., Giljum, S., Hammer, M., Lutter, S., Simmons, C., Lewis, K., 2008. Potential of the Ecological Footprint for monitoring environmental impacts from natural resource use. Analysis of the potential of the Ecological Footprint and related assessment tools for use in the EU's Thematic Strategy on the Sustainable Use of Natural Resources. DG Environment, Luxembourgh.
- Binswanger, M., 2001. Technological progress and sustainable development: what about the rebound effect? Ecological Economics, 36 (1), 119-132.
- Bleischwitz, R., Bahn-Walkowiak, B., Onischka, M., Röder, O., Steger, S., 2009a. The relation between resource productivity and competitiveness. Wuppertal Institute,
- Bleischwitz, R., Welfens, P.J.J., Zhang, Z., 2009b. Sustainable Growth and Resource Productivity. Greenleaf Publishing Limited, Sheffield.
- Bringezu, S., Schütz, H., 2001. Material use indicators for the European Union, 1980-1997. Economy-wide material flow accounts and balances and derived indicators of resource use. Eurostat, Luxembourg.
- Bringezu, S., Schütz, H., Arnold, K., Merten, F., Kabasci, S., Borelbach, P., Michels, C., Reinhardt, G.A., Rettenmaier, N., 2009a. Global implications of biomass and biofuel use in Germany - Recent trends and future scenarios for domestic and foreign agricultural land use and resulting GHG emissions. Journal of Cleaner Production, 17, S57-S68.
- Bringezu, S., Schütz, H., Saurat, M., Moll, S., Acosta-Fernandez, J., Steger, S., 2009b. Europe's resource use. Basic trends, global and sectoral patterns and environmental and socioeconomic impacts. In: Bringezu, S. and Bleischwitz, R. (Eds.), Sustainable Resource Management. Global Trends, Visions and Policies. Greenleaf, Sheffield, pp. 52-155.
- Bringezu, S., Schutz, H., Steger, S., Baudisch, J., 2004. International comparison of resource use and its relation to economic growth: The development of total material requirement, direct material inputs and hidden flows and the structure of TMR. Ecological Economics, 51 (1-2), 97-124.
- Bringezu, S., van der Sand, I., Schütz, H., Bleischwitz, R., Moll, S., 2009c. Analysing global resource use of national and regional economies across various levels. In: Bringezu, S. and Bleischwitz, R. (Eds.), Sustainable Resource Management. Global Trends, Visions and Policies. Greenleaf, Sheffield, pp. 10-52.
- Brunner, P.H., 2004. Materials Flow Analysis and the Ultimate Sink. Industrial Ecology, 8 (3), 4-7.
- Buyny, Š., Klinker, S., Lauber, U., 2009. Verbesserung von Rohstoffproduktivität und Ressourcenschonung -Weiterentwicklung des direkten Materialinputindikators. Statistisches Bundesamt, Wiesbaden.
- Canadell, J.G., Le Quere, C., Raupach, M.R., Field, C.B., Buitenhuis, E.T., Ciais, P., Conway, T.J., Gillett, N.P., Houghton, R.A., Marland, G., 2007. Contributions to accelerating atmospheric CO2 growth from economic activity, carbon intensity, and efficiency of natural sinks. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America, 104 (47), 18866-18870.
- Commission of the European Communities, 2003. Communication from the Commission to the Council and the European Parliament. Towards a thematic strategy on the sustainable use of natural resources. Brussels.
- Commission of the European Communities, 2005. Thematic strategy on the sustainable use of natural resources (Communication and Annexes). Commission of the European Communities (CEC), COM (2005) 670 final, SEC 1684, Brussels.
- Crutzen, P.J., Mosier, A.R., Smith, K.A., Winiwarter, W., 2007. N2O release from agro-biofuel production negates global warming reduction by replacing fossil fuels. Atmospheric Chemistry and Physics Discussion, 7 (4), 11191-11205.
- Daily, G.C., Alexander, S., Ehrlich, P.R., Goulder, L., Lubchenco, J., Matson, P.A., Mooney, H.A., Postel, S.L., Schneider, S.H., Tilman, D., Woodwell, G.M., 1997. Ecosystem Services: Benefits Supplied to Human Societies by Natural Ecosystems. Issues in Ecology, 2 (1), 18-

- Daly, H.E., 1990. Toward some operational principles of sustainable development. Ecological Economics, 2, 1-6.
- De Bruyn, S., Markowska, A., De Jong, F., Blom, M., 2009. Resource productivity, competitiveness and environmental policies. CE Delft,
- De Bruyn, S.M., 2002. Dematerialization and rematerialization as two recurring phenomena of industrial ecology. In: Ayres, R.U. and Ayres, L.W. (Eds.), A Handbook of Industrial Ecology. Edward Elgar, Cheltenham, Northampton, pp. 209-222.
- EEA, 2000. Environmental signals 2000. European Environment Agency (EEA), Copenhagen.
- EEA, 2002. Environmental Signals 2002 Benchmarking the Millenium. European Environmental Agency, Copenhagen.
- EEA, 2005a. Land take assessment (CSI 014). European Environmental Agency, <u>http://themes.eea.europa.eu/IMS/IMS/ISpecs/ISpecification20041007131735/IAssessment11165049</u> <u>72257/view_content</u>.
- EEA, 2005b. Outlook for waste and material flows. Baseline and alternative scenarios. European Environment Agency, Copenhagen.
- EEA, 2005c. Sustainable use and management of natural resources. EEA, Copenhagen.
- EEA, 2005d. The European Environment State and Outlook 2005. European Environment Agency, Copenhagen.
- EEA, 2008. Effectiveness of environmental taxes and charges for managing sand, gravel and rock extraction in selected EU countries. EEA Report 2/2008. European Environment Agency (EEA), Copenhagen.
- Ehrlich, P.R., Holdren, J.P., 1971. Impact of Population Growth. Science, 171 (3977), 1212-1217.
- Eickhout, B., van der Born, G.J., Notenboom, J., van Oorschot, M., Ros, J.P.M., van Vuuren, D.P., Westhoek, H.J., 2008. Local and global consequences of the EU renewable directive for biofuels. Testing the sustainability criteria. MNP Report 5001433001/2008. Netherlands Environmental Agency, Bilthoven.
- Eisenmenger, N., Fischer-Kowalski, M., Weisz, H., 2007. Indicators of Natural Resource Use and Consumption. In: Hak, T., Moldan, B. and Dahl, A.L. (Eds.), Sustainability Indicators. A Scientific Assessment. SCOPE, Island Press, Washington, D.C., pp. 193-209.
- Erb, K.-H., Haberl, H., Krausmann, F., Lauk, C., Plutzar, C., Steinberger, J.K., Müller, C., Bondeau, A., Waha, K., Pollack, G., 2009a. Eating the planet: Feeding and fuelling the world sustainably, fairly and humanely a scoping study. Institute of Social Ecology and PIK Potsdam. Report commissioned by Compassion in World Farming and Friends of the Earth, UK, Vienna, Potsdam.
- Erb, K.-H., Krausmann, F., Gaube, V., Gingrich, S., Bondeau, A., Fischer-Kowalski, M., Haberl, H., 2009b. Analyzing the global human appropriation of net primary production - processes, trajectories, implications. An introduction. Ecological Economics, 69 (2), 250-259.
- Erb, K.-H., Krausmann, F., Lucht, W., Haberl, H., 2009c. Embodied HANPP: Mapping the spatial disconnect between global biomass production and consumption. Ecological Economics, 69 (2), 328-334.
- EurObserv'ER, 2009. Biofuels Barometer. http://www.eurobserv-er.org/pdf/baro192.pdf.
- European Parliament and Council, 2002. Sixth Community Environment Action Programme, Decision 1600/2002/EC. Official Journal of the European Communities L242/1-15, Brussels.
- Eurostat, 2001. Economy-wide Material Flow Accounts and Derived Indicators. A methodological guide. Eurostat, European Commission, Office for Official Publications of the European Communities, Luxembourg.
- Eurostat, 2007a. Economy Wide Material Flow Accounts and Resource Productivity. EU15 1970-2004. European Statistical Office, Luxembourg.
- Eurostat, 2007b. Economy-wide Material Flow Accounting. A Compilation Guide. European Statistical Office, Luxembourg.
- Eurostat, 2009a. Economy-wide Material Flow Accounts. Compilation Guidelines for reporting to the 2009 Eurostat questionnaire (Version 01 - June 2009). European Statistical Office, Luxembourg.
- Eurostat, 2009b. Material Flow Data (MFA data collection 2007). Eurostat, Luxembourg.
- Eurostat, 2010. Material Flow Data (MFA data collection 2009). Available online at http://epp.eurostat.ec.europa.eu/portal/page/portal/statistics/search_database. Eurostat, Luxembourg.
- Eurostat, Weisz, H., Fischer-Kowalski, M., Amann, C., Eisenmenger, N., Erb, K.-H., Hubacek, K., Krausmann, F., 2002. Material Use in the European Union 1980-2000. Indicators and Analysis. Eurostat working paper. Office for Official Publications of the European Communities, Luxembourg.
- FAO, 2006. Livestock's long shadow environmental issues and options. Food and Agriculture Organisation of the United Nations, Rome.
- FAOSTAT, 2010. FAO Statistical Database. Food and Agriculture Organization (FAO) <u>http://faostat.fao.org/site/573/default.aspx#ancor</u> (accessed 03/2010), Rom.

- Fischer, G., Prieler, S., van Velthuizen, H., Berndes, G., Faaij, A., Londo, M., de Wit, M., 2010. Biofuel production potentials in Europe: Sustainable use of cultivated land and pastures, Part II: Land use scenarios. Biomass and Bioenergy, 34 (2), 173-187.
- Fischer-Kowalski, M., Haberl, H., Krausmann, F., 2007. Conclusions: Likely and unlikely pasts, possible and impossible futures. In: Fischer-Kowalski, M. and Haberl, H. (Eds.), Socioecological transitions and global change: Trajectories of Social Metabolism and Land Use. Edward Elgar, Cheltenham, UK, Northampton, USA, pp. 223-256.
- Fischer-Kowalski, M., Krausmann, F., Steinberger, J., and Ayres, R.U. Towards a low carbon society: Setting targets for a reduction of global resource use. [115], -forthcoming. 2010. Vienna, IFF Social Ecology Vienna. Social Ecology Working Paper. 16-3-2010.
- Foerster, H.v., 1960. On self-organizing systems and their environments. In: Yovits, M.C. and Cameron, S. (Eds.), Self-organizing systems: Proceedings of an International Conference. Pergamon Press, Oxford, pp. 31-50.
- GCI. GCI Briefing "Contraction & convergence". <u>http://www.gci.org.uk/briefings/ICE.pdf</u> . 2003. Global Commons Institute. 25-1-2008.
- Gerten, D., Rost, S., Bloh, W.v., Lucht, W., 2008. Causes of change in 20th century global river discharge. Geophysical Research Letters, 35 (L20405), doi:10.1029/2008GL035258-
- Giljum, S., Behrens, A., Hinterberger, F., Lutz, C., Meyer, B., 2008. Modelling scenarios towards a sustainable use of natural resources in Europe. Environmental Science & Policy, 11 (3), 204-216.
- Gleick, P.H., 2003. Global Freshwater Resources: Soft-Path Solutions for the 21st Century. Science, 302 (5650), 1524-1528.
- Gordon, R.B., Bertram, M., Graedel, T.E., 2006. Metal stocks and sustainability. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America, 103 (5), 1209-1214.
- Greening, L.A., Greene, D.L., Difiglio, C., 2000. Energy efficiency and consumption the rebound effect a survey. Energy Policy, 28 (6-7), 389-402.
- Griffin, M., Sobal, J., Lyson, T.A., 2009. An analysis of a community food waste stream. Agriculture and Human Values, 26, 67-81.
- Haberl, H., 2001. The Energetic Metabolism of Societies, Part I: Accounting Concepts. Journal of Industrial Ecology, 5 (1), 11-33.
- Haberl, H., Erb, K.-H., Krausmann, F., 2001. How to calculate and interpret ecological footprints for long periods of time: the case of Austria 1926-1995. Ecological Economics, 38 (1), 25-45.
- Haberl, H., Erb, K.-H., Krausmann, F., Berecz, S., Ludwiczek, N., Musel, A., Schaffartzik, A., Martinez-Alier, J., 2009. Using embodied HANPP to analyze teleconnections in the global land system: Conceptual considerations. Geografisk Tidsskrift - Danish Journal of Geography, 109 (1), 119-130.
- Haberl, H., Erb, K.-H., Krausmann, F., Gaube, V., Bondeau, A., Plutzar, C., Gingrich, S., Lucht, W., Fischer-Kowalski, M., 2007. Quantifying and mapping the human appropriation of net primary production in earth's terrestrial ecosystems. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America, 104 (31), 12942-12947.
- Haberl, H., Plutzar, C., Erb, K.-H., Gaube, V., Pollheimer, M., Schulz, N.B., 2005. Human Appropriation of Net Primary Production as Determinant of Avifauna Diversity in Austria. Agriculture, Ecosystems & Environment, 110 (3-4), 119-131.
- Habert, G., Bouzidi, Y., Chen, C., Jullien, A., 2010. Development of a depletion indicator for natural resources used in concrete. Resources, Conservation and Recycling, 54 (6), 364-376.
- Hall, K.D., Guo, J., Dore, M., Chow, C.C., 2009. The Progressive Increase of Food Waste in America and its Environmental Impact. PLoS ONE, 4 (11), e7940-
- Hashimoto, S., Matsui, S., Matsuno, Y., Nansai, K., Murakami, S., Moriguchi, Y., 2008. What Factors Have Changed Japanese Resource Productivity ? Journal of Industrial Ecology, 12 (5-6), 657-668.
- Hashimoto, S., Tanikawa, H., Moriguchi, Y., 2007. Where will large amounts of materials accumulated within the economy go? A material flow analysis of construction minerals for Japan. Waste Management, 27 (12), 1725-1738.
- Herring, H., Roy, R., 2007. Technological innovation, energy efficient design and the rebound effect. Technovation, 27, 194-203.
- Hertwich, E.G., 2005. Consumption and the Rebound Effect: An Industrial Ecology Perspective. Journal of Industrial Ecology, 9 (1-2, Special Issue on Consumption and Industrial Ecology), 85-98.
- Hertwich, E.G., Voet, E.v.d., Huijbregts, M.A.J., Suh, S., Kazmierczyk, P., Lenzen, M., McNeely, J.A., Moriguchi, Y., 2009. Environmental impacts of consumption and production: priority products and materials. UNEP International Panel for Sustainable Resource Management, Paris.
- Hilty, L.M., 2008. Information Technology and Sustainability. Essays on the Relationship between Information Technology and Sustainable Development. Books on Demand, Norderstedt.
- Hinterberger, F., Schmidt-Bleek, F., 1999. Dematerialization, MIPS and Factor 10, Physical sustainability indicators as a social device. Ecological Economics, 29, 53-56.

- Hoekstra, A.Y., Chapagain, A.K., 2008. Globalization of Water. Sharing the Planet's Freshwater Resources. Blackwell Publishing, Malden.
- Holdren, J., Smith, K.R., Kjellstrom, T., Streets, D.G., Wang, X., 2000. Energy, the Environment, and Health. In: Goldemberg, J., Baker, J.W. and Khatib, H. (Eds.), World Energy Assessment. United Nations Development Program, New York, pp. 61-110.
- Holm, S.-O., Englund, G., 2009. Increased ecoefficiency and gross rebound effect: Evidence from USA and six European countries 1960-2002. Ecological Economics, 68, 879-887.
- Jaccard, M., Failing, L., Berry, T., 1997. From equipment to infrastructure: community energy management and greenhouse gas emission reduction. Energy Policy, 25 (13), 1065-1074.
- Kauppi, P.E., Ausubel, J.H., Fang, J., Mather, A.S., Sedjo, R.A., Waggoner, P.E., 2006. Returning forests analyzed with the forest identity. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America, 103 (46), 17574-17579.
- Krausmann, F., Erb, K.-H., Gingrich, S., Lauk, C., Haberl, H., 2008a. Global patterns of socioeconomic biomass flows in the year 2000: A comprehensive assessment of supply, consumption and constraints. Ecological Economics, 65 (3), 471-487.
- Krausmann, F., Fischer-Kowalski, M., Schandl, H., Eisenmenger, N., 2008b. The global socio-metabolic transition: past and present metabolic profiles and their future trajectories. Journal of Industrial Ecology, 12 (5/6), 637-656.
- Krausmann, F., Gingrich, S., Eisenmenger, N., Erb, K.-H., Haberl, H., Fischer-Kowalski, M., 2009. Growth in global materials use, GDP and population during the 20th century. Ecological Economics, 68 (10), 2696-2705.
- Labys, W.C., 2002. Transmaterialization. In: Ayres, R.U. and Ayres, L.W. (Eds.), A Handbook of Industrial Ecology. Edward Elgar, Cheltenham, Northampton, pp. 202-208.
- Lackner, M. Sozialökologische Dimensionen der österreichischen Ernährung. Eine Szenarienanalyse. 103[103], 1-59. 2008. Vienna, IFF Social Ecology. Social Ecology Working Paper. 31-10-2008.
- Lutz, C., Giljum, S., 2009. Global resource use in a business-as-usual world up to 2030: updated results from the GINFORS model. In: Bleischwitz, R., Welfens, P.J.J. and Zhang, Z. (Eds.), Sustainable growth and resource productivity. Economic and global policy issues. Greenleaf, Sheffield, pp. 30-42.
- Maturana, H.R., Varela, F.G., 1975. Autopoietic Systems. A characterization of the living organization. University of Illinois Press, Urbana-Champaign, Illinois.
- McMichael, A.J., Powles, J.W., Butler, C.D., Uauy, R., 2007. Food, livestock production, energy, climate change, and health. The Lancet, 370 (9594), 1253-1263.
- Millennium Ecosystem Assessment, 2005. Our Human Planet: Summary for Decision-makers. Island Press, Washington, DC.
- Ministry of the Environment, G.o.J., 2008. Annual Report on the Environment and the Sound Material-Cycle Society in Japan. Tokyo.
- Moll, S., Acosta Jose, Villanueva, A., 2004. Environmental implications of resource use. Insights from inputoutput analyses. EEA ETC/WMF, Copenhagen.
- Moll, S., Watson, D., 2009. Environmental Pressures from European Consumption and Production. A study in integrated environmental and economic analysis. European Topic Centre on Sustainable Consumption and Production, Copenhagen.
- Mooney, H., Larigauderie, A., Cesario, M., Elmquist, T., Hoegh-Guldberg, O., Lavorel, S., Mace, G.M., Palmer, M., Scholes, R., Yahara, T., 2009. Biodiversity, climate change, and ecosystem services. Current Opinion in Environmental Sustainability, 1, 46-54.
- Mudd, G.M., 2009. The Sustainability of Mining in Australia Key Production Trends and Their Environmental Implications for the Future (updated version). Department of Civil Engineering, Monash University and the <u>Mineral Policy Institute</u>.,
- Munda, G., 1995. Multicriteria evaluation in a fuzzy environment. Theory and application in ecological economics. Physica Verlag, Heidelberg.
- Nakicenovic, N., Swart, R., 2000. Special Report on Emission Scenarios. Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change (IPCC), Cambridge University Press, Cambridge.
- Nielsen, P., Tukker, A., Weidema, B., Lauridsen, E.H., Notten, P., 2005. Environmental Impact of the Use of Natral Resources. Technical Report EUR 21485 EN. Joint Research Centre. Institute for Prospective Technological Studies.
- Nielsen, P.H., Tukker, A., Weidema, B.P., Lauridsen, E.H., Notten, P., 2004. Environmental Impact of the Use of Natural Resources. Joint Research Centre (DG JRC), Seville, Spain.
- Norgate, T.E., 2009. Deteriorating Ore Resources. Energy and Water Impacts. In: Graedel, T.E. and van der Voet, E. (Eds.), Linkages of Sustainability. MIT Press, Cambridge, MA, pp. 131-148.
- OECD, 2003. Environmental Indicators: Development, Measurement, and Use. OECD, Paris.
- OECD, 2004. Recommendation of the Council on Material Flows and Resource Productivity. OECD, Paris, France.

- OECD, 2008a. Measuring Material Flows and Resource Productivity. Synthesis Report. OECD, Paris.
- OECD, 2008b. Measuring Material Flows and Resource Productivity. Volume I. The OECD Guide. OECD, Paris.
- OECD, 2008c. Measuring Material Flows and Resource Productivity. Volume II. The Accouting Framework. OECD, Paris.
- OECD, 2008d. Measuring Material Flows and Resource Productivity. Volume III. Inventory of Country Activities. OECD, Paris.
- Peters, G.P., Hertwich, E.G., 2008. CO2 Embodied in International Trade with Implications for Global Climate Policy. Environmental Science & Technology, 42 (5), 1401-1407.
- Polimeni, J.M.M.K.G.M., Alcott, B., 2008. The Myth of Resource Efficiency. The Jevons Paradox. Earthscan, London.
- Raupach, M.R., Marland, G., Ciais, P., Le Quere, C., Canadell, J.G., Klepper, G., Field, C.B., 2007. Global and regional drivers of accelerating CO2 emissions. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America, 104 (24), 10288-10293.
- Rogich, D., Cassara, A., Matos, G., Wernick, I., and Miranda, M. Material Flows in the United States: A Physical Accounting of the U.S. Industrial Economy. World Resources Institute (WRI). 2005. 6-7-2006.
- Schaffartzik, A., Krausmann, F., and Eisenmenger, N. Der Rohmaterialbedarf des österreichischen Außenhandels. [125], 1-forthcoming. 2010. Vienna, IFF Social Ecology Vienna. Social Ecology Working Paper. 16-3-2010.
- Schandl, H., Eisenmenger, N., 2006. Regional patterns in global resource extraction. Journal of Industrial Ecology, 10 (4), 133-147.
- Schellnhuber, H.-J., Crutzen, P.J., Clark, W.C., Hunt, J., 2005. Earth System Analysis for Sustainability. Environment, 47 (8), 10-24.
- Schütz, H., Moll, S., Bringezu, S., 2003. Globalisierung und die Verlagerung von Umweltbelastungen. Die Stoffströme des Handels der Europäischen Union. Wuppertal Institut für Klima, Umwelt, Energie, Döppersberg.
- SERI, 2009. Global Resource Extraction 1980 to 2007. Online database. Sustainable Europe Research Institute,
- Smil, V., 2002. Eating Meat: Evolution, Patterns, and Consequences. Population and Development Review, 28 (4), 599-639.
- Smil, V., 2008. Energy in Nature and Society. General Energetics of Complex Systems. MIT Press, Cambridge, MA.
- SOER 2005. The European Environment. State and Outlook 2005. European Environmental Agency.
- Stahel, W.R., 2006. The Performance Economy. Palgrave Macmillan, New York.
- Stanners, D., Bosch, P., Dom, A., Gabrielsen, P., Gee, D., Martin, J., Rickard, L., Weber, J.-L., 2007. Frameworks for environmental assessment and indicators at the EEA. In: Hak, T., Moldan, B. and Dahl, A.L. (Eds.), Sustainability Indicators. A Scientific Assessment. SCOPE 67. Island Press, Washington, Covelo, London, pp. 127-144.
- Steffen, W., Sanderson, A., Tyson, P.D., Jäger, J., Matson, P.A., Moore III, B., Oldfield, F., Richardson, K., Schellnhuber, H.J., Turner II, B.L., Wasson, R.J., 2004. Global Change and the Earth System. A Planet Under Pressure. Springer, Berlin.
- Steger, G., Bleischwitz, R., 2009. Decoupling GDP from resource use, resource productivity and competitiveness: a cross-country comparison. In: Bleischwitz, R., Welfens, P.J.J. and Zhang, Z. (Eds.), Sustainable growth and resource productivity. Economic and global policy issues. Greenleaf, Sheffield, pp. 172-194.
- Steger, S., 2005. Der Flächenrucksack des europäischen Außenhandels mit Agrarprodukten: Welche Globalisierung ist zukunftsfähig? Wuppertal Institut für Klima, Umwelt, Energie, Wuppertal.
- Steinberger, J.K., Krausmann, F., Eisenmenger, N., 2010. Global patterns of material use: a socioeconomic and geophysical analysis. Ecological Economics, 69 (5), 1148-1158.
- Steinberger, J.K. and Roberts, J.T. Across a Moving Threshold: energy, carbon and the efficiency of meeting global human development needs. [114], 1-25. 2009. Vienna, IFF Social Ecology. Social Ecology Working Paper. 21-7-2009.
- Steinberger, J.K., van Niel, J., Bourg, D., 2009. Profiting from negawatts: reducing absolute consumption and emissions through a performance-based energy economy. Energy Policy, 37 (1), 361-370.
- Swilling, M., Fischer-Kowalski, M., 2010. Decoupling and Sustainabel Resource Management: Scoping the challenges. UNEP International Panel for Sustainable Resource Management, Paris.
- Tukker, A., Jansen, B., 2006. Environmental Impacts of Products: A Detailed Review of Studies. Journal of Industrial Ecology, 10 (3), 159-182.

- UNEP, 2009. Assessing Biofuels Towards Sustainable Production and Use of Resources. United Nations Environment Programme, Division of Technology Industry and Economics, International Panel for Sustainable Resource Management, <u>http://www.unep.fr</u>, Paris.
- UNEP, 2010. The Recycling of metals: A status report. United Nations Environment Programme,
- van der Sleen, M., 2009. Trends in EU virtual land flows: EU agricultural land use through international trade between 1995 and 2005. Report to the European Environmental Agency.
- van der Voet, E., De Bruyn, S., Tukker, A., 2009. Environmental Impact of the use of Natural Resources and Products. Department Industrial Ecology, Leiden.
- van der Voet, E., Oers, L.v., Nikolic, I., 2005a. Dematerialization: not just a matter of weight. Journal of Industrial Ecology, 8 (4), 121-137.
- van der Voet, E., van Oers, L., Moll, S., Schütz, H., Bringezu, S., De Bruyn, S.M., Sevenster, M., Warringa, G., 2005b. Policy Review on Decoupling: Development of indicators to assess decoupling of economic development and environmental pressure in the EU-25 and AC-3 countries. Universitair Grafisch Bedrijf, Leiden.
- Vitousek, P.M., Ehrlich, P.R., Ehrlich, A.H., Matson, P.A., 1986. Human Appropriation of the Products of Photosynthesis. BioScience, 36 (6), 363-373.
- Vitousek, P.M., Mooney, H.A., Lubchenco, J., Melillo, J.M., 1997. Human Domination of Earth's Ecosystems. Science, 277 (5325), 494-499.
- Warr, B., Eisenmenger, N., Ayres, R.U., 2010. Natural resource exergy, useful work and economic growth through the 20th century: The Austrian case. Ecological Economics, forthcoming.
- Weinzettel, J., Kovanda, J., 2009. Assessing Socioeconomic Metabolism Through Hybrid Life Cycle Assessment - The Case of the Czech Republic. Journal of Industrial Ecology, In Press
- Weisz, H., Krausmann, F., Amann, C., Eisenmenger, N., Erb, K.-H., Hubacek, K., Fischer-Kowalski, M., 2006. The physical economy of the European Union: Cross-country comparison and determinants of material consumption. Ecological Economics, 58 (4), 676-698.
- Weisz, H., Krausmann, F., Eisenmenger, N., Amann, C., Hubacek, K., 2005. Development of Material Use in the European Union 1970-2001. Material composition, cross-country comparison, and material flow indicators. Eurostat, Office for Official Publications of the European Communities, Luxembourg.
- Weizsäcker, E.U.v., Lovins, A.B., Lovins, H.L., 1997. Factor four doubling wealth halving resource use. The new report to the Club of Rome. Earthscan, London.
- Wilkinson, P., Smith, K.R., Joffe, M., Haines, A., 2007. A global perspective on energy: health effects and injustices. The Lancet, 370 (9591), 965-978.
- World Commission on Environment and Development, 1987. Our Common Future, The Brundtland-Report. Oxford University Press, Oxford.
- Wright, D.H., 1990. Human impacts on the energy flow through natural ecosystems, and implications for species endangerment. Ambio, 19 (4), 189-194.



Band 1

Umweltbelastungen in Österreich als Folge menschlichen Handelns. Forschungsbericht gem. m. dem Österreichischen Ökologie-Institut. Fischer-Kowalski, M., Hg. (1987)

Band 2

Environmental Policy as an Interplay of Professionals and Movements - the Case of Austria. Paper to the ISA Conference on Environmental Constraints and Opportunities in the Social Organisation of Space, Udine 1989. Fischer-Kowalski, M. (1989)

Band 3

Umwelt &Öffentlichkeit. Dokumentation der gleichnamigen Tagung, veranstaltet vom IFF und dem Österreichischen Ökologie-Institut in Wien, (1990)

Band 4

Umweltpolitik auf Gemeindeebene. Politikbezogene Weiterbildung für Umweltgemeinderäte. Lackner, C. (1990)

Band 5

Verursacher von Umweltbelastungen. Grundsätzliche Überlegungen zu einem mit der VGR verknüpfbaren Emittenteninformationssystem. Fischer-Kowalski, M., Kisser, M., Payer, H., Steurer A. (1990)

Band 6

Umweltbildung in Österreich, Teil I: Volkshochschulen. Fischer-Kowalski, M., Fröhlich, U.; Harauer, R., Vymazal R. (1990)

Band 7

Amtliche Umweltberichterstattung in Österreich. Fischer-Kowalski, M., Lackner, C., Steurer, A. (1990)

Band 8

Verursacherbezogene Umweltinformationen. Bausteine für ein Satellitensystem zur österr. VGR. Dokumentation des gleichnamigen Workshop, veranstaltet vom IFF und dem Österreichischen Ökologie-Institut, Wien (1991)

Band 9

A Model for the Linkage between Economy and Environment. Paper to the Special IARIW Conference on Environmental Accounting, Baden 1991. Dell'Mour, R., Fleissner, P., Hofkirchner, W.,; Steurer A. (1991)

Band 10

Verursacherbezogene Umweltindikatoren - Kurzfassung. Forschungsbericht gem. mit dem Österreichischen Ökologie-Institut. Fischer-Kowalski, M., Haberl, H., Payer, H.; Steurer, A., Zangerl-Weisz, H. (1991)

Band 11

Gezielte Eingriffe in Lebensprozesse. Vorschlag für verursacherbezogene Umweltindikatoren. Forschungsbericht gem. m. dem Österreichischen Ökologie-Institut. Haberl, H. (1991)

Band 12

Gentechnik als gezielter Eingriff in Lebensprozesse. Vorüberlegungen für verursacherbezogene Umweltindikatoren. Forschungsbericht gem. m. dem Österr. Ökologie-Institut. Wenzl, P.; Zangerl-Weisz, H. (1991)

Band 13

Transportintensität und Emissionen. Beschreibung österr. Wirtschaftssektoren mittels Input-Output-Modellierung. Forschungsbericht gem. m. dem Österr. Ökologie-Institut. Dell'Mour, R.; Fleissner, P.; Hofkirchner, W.; Steurer, A. (1991)

Band 14

Indikatoren für die Materialintensität der österreichischen Wirtschaft. Forschungsbericht gem. m. dem Österreichischen Ökologie-Institut. Payer, H. unter Mitarbeit von K. Turetschek (1991)

Band 15

Die Emissionen der österreichischen Wirtschaft. Systematik und Ermittelbarkeit. Forschungsbericht gem. m. dem Österr. Ökologie-Institut. Payer, H.; Zangerl-Weisz, H. unter Mitarbeit von R.Fellinger (1991)

Band 16

Umwelt als Thema der allgemeinen und politischen Erwachsenenbildung in Österreich. Fischer-Kowalski M., Fröhlich, U.; Harauer, R.; Vymazal, R. (1991)

Band 17

Causer related environmental indicators - A contribution to the environmental satellite-system of the Austrian SNA. Paper for the Special IARIW Conference on Environmental Accounting, Baden 1991. Fischer-Kowalski, M., Haberl, H., Payer, H., Steurer, A. (1991)

Band 18

Emissions and Purposive Interventions into Life Processes - Indicators for the Austrian Environmental Accounting System. Paper to the ÖGBPT Workshop on Ecologic Bioprocessing, Graz 1991. Fischer-Kowalski M., Haberl, H., Wenzl, P., Zangerl-Weisz, H. (1991)

Band 19

Defensivkosten zugunsten des Waldes in Österreich. Forschungsbericht gem. m. dem Österreichischen Institut für Wirtschaftsforschung. Fischer-Kowalski et al. (1991)

Band 20*

Basisdaten für ein Input/Output-Modell zur Kopplung ökonomischer Daten mit Emissionsdaten für den Bereich des Straßenverkehrs. Steurer, A. (1991)

Band 22

A Paradise for Paradigms - Outlining an Information System on Physical Exchanges between the Economy and Nature. Fischer-Kowalski, M., Haberl, H., Payer, H. (1992)

Band 23

Purposive Interventions into Life-Processes - An Attempt to Describe the Structural Dimensions of the Man-Animal-Relationship. Paper to the Internat. Conference on "Science and the Human-Animal-Relationship", Amsterdam 1992. Fischer-Kowalski, M., Haberl, H. (1992)

Band 24

Purposive Interventions into Life Processes: A Neglected "Environmental" Dimension of the Society-Nature Relationship. Paper to the 1. Europ. Conference of Sociology, Vienna 1992. Fischer-Kowalski, M., Haberl, H. (1992)
WORKING PAPERS SOCIAL ECOLOGY



Band 25

Informationsgrundlagen struktureller Ökologisierung. Beitrag zur Tagung "Strategien der Kreislaufwirtschaft: Ganzheitl. Umweltschutz/Integrated Environmental Protection", Graz 1992. Steurer, A., Fischer-Kowalski, M. (1992)

Band 26

Stoffstrombilanz Österreich 1988. Steurer, A. (1992)

Band 28

Naturschutzaufwendungen in Österreich. Gutachten für den WWF Österreich. Payer, H. (1992)

Band 29

Indikatoren der Nachhaltigkeit für die Volkswirtschaftliche Gesamtrechnung - angewandt auf die Region. Payer, H. (1992). In: KudlMudl SonderNr. 1992:Tagungsbericht über das Dorfsymposium "Zukunft der Region - Region der Zukunft?"

Band 31

Leerzeichen. Neuere Texte zur Anthropologie. Macho, T. (1993)

Band 32

Metabolism and Colonisation. Modes of Production and the Physical Exchange between Societies and Nature. Fischer-Kowalski, M., Haberl, H. (1993)

Band 33

Theoretische Überlegungen zur ökologischen Bedeutung der menschlichen Aneignung von Nettoprimärproduktion. Haberl, H. (1993)

Band 34

Stoffstrombilanz Österreich 1970-1990 - Inputseite. Steurer, A. (1994)

Band 35

Der Gesamtenergieinput des Sozio-ökonomischen Systems in Österreich 1960-1991. Zur Erweiterung des Begriffes "Energieverbrauch". Haberl, H. (1994)

Band 36

Ökologie und Sozialpolitik. Fischer-Kowalski, M. (1994)

Band 37

Stoffströme der Chemieproduktion 1970-1990. Payer, H., unter Mitarbeit von Zangerl-Weisz, H. und Fellinger, R. (1994)

Band 38

Wasser und Wirtschaftswachstum. Untersuchung von Abhängigkeiten und Entkoppelungen, Wasserbilanz Österreich 1991. Hüttler, W., Payer, H. unter Mitarbeit von H. Schandl (1994)

Band 39

Politische Jahreszeiten. 12 Beiträge zur politischen Wende 1989 in Ostmitteleuropa. Macho, T. (1994)

Band 40

On the Cultural Evolution of Social Metabolism with Nature. Sustainability Problems Quantified. Fischer-Kowalski, M., Haberl, H. (1994)

Band 41

Weiterbildungslehrgänge für das Berufsfeld ökologischer Beratung. Erhebung u. Einschätzung der Angebote in Österreich sowie von ausgewählten Beispielen in Deutschland, der Schweiz, Frankreich, England und europaweiten Lehrgängen. Rauch, F. (1994) Band 42

Soziale Anforderungen an eine nachhaltige Entwicklung. Fischer-Kowalski, M., Madlener, R., Payer, H., Pfeffer, T., Schandl, H. (1995)

Band 43

Menschliche Eingriffe in den natürlichen Energiefluß von Ökosystemen. Sozio-ökonomische Aneignung von Nettoprimärproduktion in den Bezirken Österreichs. Haberl, H. (1995)

Band 44

Materialfluß Österreich 1990. Hüttler, W., Payer, H.; Schandl, H. (1996)

Band 45

National Material Flow Analysis for Austria 1992. Society's Metabolism and Sustainable Development. Hüttler, W. Payer, H., Schandl, H. (1997)

Band 46

Society's Metabolism. On the Development of Concepts and Methodology of Material Flow Analysis. A Review of the Literature. Fischer-Kowalski, M. (1997)

Band 47

Materialbilanz Chemie-Methodik sektoraler Materialbilanzen. Schandl, H., Weisz, H. Wien (1997)

Band 48

Physical Flows and Moral Positions. An Essay in Memory of Wildavsky. A. Thompson, M. (1997)

Band 49

Stoffwechsel in einem indischen Dorf. Fallstudie Merkar. Mehta, L., Winiwarter, V. (1997)

Band 50+

Materialfluß Österreich- die materielle Basis der Österreichischen Gesellschaft im Zeitraum 1960-1995. Schandl, H. (1998)

Band 51+

Bodenfruchtbarkeit und Schädlinge im Kontext von Agrargesellschaften. Dirlinger, H., Fliegenschnee, M., Krausmann, F., Liska, G., Schmid, M. A. (1997)

Band 52+

Der Naturbegriff und das Gesellschaft-Natur-Verhältnis in der frühen Soziologie. Lutz, J. Wien (1998)

Band 53+

NEMO: Entwicklungsprogramm für ein Nationales Emissionsmonitoring. Bruckner, W., Fischer-Kowalski, M., Jorde, T. (1998)

Band 54+ Was ist Umweltgeschichte? Winiwarter, V. (1998)

Mit + gekennzeichnete Bände sind unter http://www.uni-klu.ac.at/socec/inhalt/1818.htm Im PDF-Format und in Farbe downloadbar.



Band 55+

Agrarische Produktion als Interaktion von Natur und Gesellschaft: Fallstudie SangSaeng. Grünbühel, C. M., Schandl, H., Winiwarter, V. (1999)

Band 57+

Colonizing Landscapes: Human Appropriation of Net Primary Production and its Influence on Standing Crop and Biomass Turnover in Austria. Haberl, H., Erb, K.H., Krausmann, F., Loibl, W., Schulz, N. B., Weisz, H. (1999)

Band 58+

Die Beeinflussung des oberirdischen Standing Crop und Turnover in Österreich durch die menschliche Gesellschaft. Erb, K. H. (1999)

Band 59+

Das Leitbild "Nachhaltige Stadt". Astleithner, F. (1999)

Band 60+

Materialflüsse im Krankenhaus, Entwicklung einer Input-Output Methodik. Weisz, B. U. (2001)

Band 61+

Metabolismus der Privathaushalte am Beispiel Österreichs. Hutter, D. (2001)

Band 62+

Der ökologische Fußabdruck des österreichischen Außenhandels. Erb, K.H., Krausmann, F., Schulz, N. B. (2002)

Band 63+

Material Flow Accounting in Amazonia: A Tool for Sustainable Development. Amann, C., Bruckner, W., Fischer-Kowalski, M., Grünbühel, C. M. (2002)

Band 64+

Energieflüsse im österreichischen Landwirtschaftssektor 1950-1995, Eine humanökologische Untersuchung. Darge, E. (2002)

Band 65+

Biomasseeinsatz und Landnutzung Österreich 1995-2020. Haberl, H.; Krausmann, F.; Erb, K.H.;Schulz, N. B.; Adensam, H. (2002)

Band 66+

Der Einfluss des Menschen auf die Artenvielfalt. Gesellschaftliche Aneignung von Nettoprimärproduktion als Pressure-Indikator für den Verlust von Biodiversität. Haberl, H., Fischer-Kowalski, M., Schulz, N. B., Plutzar, C., Erb, K.H., Krausmann, F., Loibl, W., Weisz, H.; Sauberer, N., Pollheimer, M. (2002)

Band 67+

Materialflussrechnung London. Bongardt, B. (2002)

Band 68+

Gesellschaftliche Stickstoffflüsse des österreichischen Landwirtschaftssektors 1950-1995, Eine humanökologische Untersuchung. Gaube, V. (2002)

Band 69+

The transformation of society's natural relations: from the agrarian to the industrial system. Research strategy for an empirically informed approach towards a European Environmental History. Fischer-Kowalski, M., Krausmann, F., Schandl, H. (2003)

Band 70+

Long Term Industrial Transformation: A Comparative Study on the Development of Social Metabolism and Land Use in Austria and the United Kingdom 1830-2000. Krausmann, F., Schandl, H., Schulz, N. B. (2003)

Band 72+

Land Use and Socio-economic Metabolism in Preindustrial Agricultural Systems: Four Nineteenth-century Austrain Villages in Comparison. Krausmann, F. (2008)

Band 73+

Handbook of Physical Accounting Measuring biophysical dimensions of socio-economic activities MFA – EFA – HANPP. Schandl, H., Grünbühel, C. M., Haberl, H., Weisz, H. (2004)

Band 74+

Materialflüsse in den USA, Saudi Arabien und der Schweiz. Eisenmenger, N.; Kratochvil, R.; Krausmann, F.; Baart, I.; Colard, A.; Ehgartner, Ch.; Eichinger, M.; Hempel, G.; Lehrner, A.; Müllauer, R.; Nourbakhch-Sabet, R.; Paler, M.; Patsch, B.; Rieder, F.; Schembera, E.; Schieder, W.; Schmiedl, C.; Schwarzlmüller, E.; Stadler, W.; Wirl, C.; Zandl, S.; Zika, M. (2005)

Band 75+

Towards a model predicting freight transport from material flows. Fischer-Kowalski, M. (2004)

Band 76+

The physical economy of the European Union: Crosscountry comparison and determinants of material consumption. Weisz, H., Krausmann, F., Amann, Ch., Eisenmenger, N., Erb, K.H., Hubacek, K., Fischer-Kowalski, M. (2005)

Band 77+

Arbeitszeit und Nachhaltige Entwicklung in Europa: Ausgleich von Produktivitätsgewinn in Zeit statt Geld? Proinger, J. (2005)

Band 78+

Sozial-Ökologische Charakteristika von Agrarsystemen. Ein globaler Überblick und Vergleich. Lauk, C. (2005)

Band 79+

Verbrauchsorientierte Abrechnung von Wasser als Water-Demand-Management-Strategie. Eine Analyse anhand eines Vergleichs zwischen Wien und Barcelona. Machold, P. (2005)

Band 80+

Ecology, Rituals and System-Dynamics. An attempt to model the Socio-Ecological System of Trinket Island. Wildenberg, M. (2005)

Band 81+

Southeast Asia in Transition. Socio-economic transitions, environmental impact and sustainable development. Fischer-Kowalski, M., Schandl, H., Grünbühel, C., Haas, W., Erb, K-H., Weisz, H., Haberl, H. (2004) Helmut Haberl

Band 83+

HANPP-relevante Charakteristika von Wanderfeldbau und anderen Langbrachesystemen. Lauk, C. (2006)

Band 84+

Management unternehmerischer Nachhaltigkeit mit Hilfe der Sustainability Balanced Scorecard. Zeitlhofer, M. (2006)

Band 85+

Nicht-nachhaltige Trends in Österreich: Maßnahmenvorschläge zum Ressourceneinsatz. Haberl, H., Jasch, C., Adensam, H., Gaube, V. (2006)

Band 87+

Accounting for raw material equivalents of traded goods. A comparison of input-output approaches in physical, monetary, and mixed units. Weisz, H. (2006)



Band 88+

Vom Materialfluss zum Gütertransport. Eine Analyse anhand der EU15 – Länder (1970-2000). Rainer, G. (2006)

Band 89+

Nutzen der MFA für das Treibhausgas-Monitoring im Rahmen eines Full Carbon Accounting-Ansatzes; Feasibilitystudie; Endbericht zum Projekt BMLFUW-UW.1.4.18/0046-V/10/2005. Erb, K.-H., Kastner, T., Zandl, S., Weisz, H., Haberl, H., Jonas, M., (2006)

Band 90+

Local Material Flow Analysis in Social Context in Tat Hamelt, Northern Mountain Region, Vietnam. Hobbes, M.; Kleijn, R. (2006)

Band 91+

Auswirkungen des thailändischen logging ban auf die Wälder von Laos. Hirsch, H. (2006)

Band 92+

Human appropriation of net primary produktion (HANPP) in the Philippines 1910-2003: a socio-ecological analysis. Kastner, T. (2007)

Band 93+

Landnutzung und landwirtschaftliche Entscheidungsstrukturen. Partizipative Entwicklung von Szenarien für das Traisental mit Hilfe eines agentenbasierten Modells. Adensam, H., V. Gaube, H. Haberl, J. Lutz, H. Reisinger, J. Breinesberger, A. Colard, B. Aigner, R. Maier, Punz, W. (2007)

Band 94+

The Work of Konstantin G. Gofman and colleagues: An early example of Material Flow Analysis from the Soviet Union. Fischer-Kowalski, M.; Wien (2007)

Band 95+

Partizipative Modellbildung, Akteurs- und Ökosystemanalyse in Agrarintensivregionen; Schlußbericht des deutsch-österreichischen Verbundprojektes. Newig, J., Gaube, V., Berkhoff, K., Kaldrack, K., Kastens, B., Lutz, J., Schlußmeier B., Adensam, H., Haberl, H., Pahl-Wostl, C., Colard, A., Aigner, B., Maier, R., Punz, W.; Wien (2007)

Band 96+

Rekonstruktion der Arbeitszeit in der Landwirtschaft im 19. Jahrhundert am Beispiel von Theyern in Niederösterreich. Schaschl, E.; Wien (2007)

Band 98+

Local Material Flow Analysis in Social Context at the forest fringe in the Sierra Madre, the Philippines. Hobbes, M., Kleijn, R. (Hrsg); Wien (2007)

Band 99+

Human Appropriation of Net Primary Production (HANPP) in Spain, 1955-2003: A socio-ecological analysis. Schwarzlmüller, E.; Wien (2008)

Band 100+

Scaling issues in long-term socio-ecological biodiversity research: A review of European cases. Dirnböck, T., Bezák, P., Dullinger S., Haberl, H., Lotze-Campen, H., Mirtl, M., Peterseil, J., Redpath, S., Singh, S., Travis, J., Wijdeven, S.M.J.; Wien (2008)

Band 101+

Human Appropriation of Net Primary Production (HANPP) in the United Kingdom, 1800-2000: A socioecological analysis. Musel, A.; Wien (2008)

Band 102 +

Wie kann Wissenschaft gesellschaftliche Veränderung bewirken? Eine Hommage an Alvin Gouldner, und ein Versuch, mit seinen Mitteln heutige Klimapolitik zu verstehen. Fischer-Kowalski, M.; Wien (2008)

Band 103+

Sozialökologische Dimensionen der österreichischen Ernährung – Eine Szenarienanalyse. Lackner, M.; Wien (2008)

Band 104+

Fundamentals of Complex Evolving Systems: A Primer. Weis, E.; Wien (2008)

Band 105+

Umweltpolitische Prozesse aus diskurstheoretischer Perspektive: Eine Analyse des Südtiroler Feinstaubproblems von der Problemkonstruktion bis zur Umsetzung von Regulierungsmaßnahmen. Paler, M.; Wien (2008)

Band 106+

Ein integriertes Modell für Reichraming. Partizipative Entwicklung von Szenarien für die Gemeinde Reichraming (Eisenwurzen) mit Hilfe eines agentenbasierten Landnutzungsmodells. Gaube, V., Kaiser, C., Widenberg, M., Adensam, H., Fleissner, P., Kobler, J., Lutz, J., Smetschka, B., Wolf, A., Richter, A., Haberl, H.; Wien (2008)

Band 107+

Der soziale Metabolismus lokaler Produktionssysteme: Reichraming in der oberösterreichischen Eisenwurzen 1830-2000. Gingrich, S., Krausmann, F.; Wien (2008)

Band 108+

Akteursanalyse zum besseren Verständnis der Entwicklungsoptionen von Bioenergie in Reichraming. Eine sozialökologische Studie. Vrzak, E.; Wien (2008)

Band 109+

Direktvermarktung in Reichraming aus sozialökologischer Perspektive. Zeitlhofer, M.; Wien (2008)

Band 110+

CO₂-Bilanz der Tomatenproduktion: Analyse acht verschiedener Produktionssysteme in Österreich, Spanien und Italien. Theurl, M.; Wien (2008)

Band 111+

Die Rolle von Arbeitszeit und Einkommen bei Rebound-Effekten in Dematerialisierungs- und Dekarbonisierungsstrategien. Eine Literaturstudie. Bruckner, M.; Wien (2008)

Band 112+

Von Kommunikation zu materiellen Effekten -

Ansatzpunkte für eine sozial-ökologische Lesart von Luhmanns Theorie Sozialer Systeme. Rieder, F.; Wien (2008)

Band 113+ (in Vorbereitung)



Band 114+

Across a Moving Threshold: energy, carbon and the efficiency of meeting global human development needs. Steinberger, J. K., Roberts, .J.T.; Wien (2008)

Band 115

Towards a low carbon society: Setting targets for a reduction of global resource use. Krausmann, F., Fischer-Kowalski, M., Steinberger, J.K., Ayres, R.U.; Wien (2010)

Band 116+

Eating the Planet: Feeding and fuelling the world sustainably, fairly and humanely - a scoping study. Erb, K-H., Haberl, H., Krausmann, F., Lauk, C., Plutzar, C., Steinberger, J.K., Müller, C., Bondeau, A., Waha, K., Pollack, G.; Wien (2009)

Band 117+

Gesellschaftliche Naturverhältnisse: Energiequellen und die globale Transformation des gesellschaftlichen Stoffwechsels. Krausmann, F., Fischer-Kowalski, M.; Wien (2010)

Band 118+

Zurück zur Fläche? Eine Untersuchung der biophysischen Ökonomie Brasiliens zwischen 1970 und 2005. Mayer, A.; Wien (2010)

Band 119+

Das nachhaltige Krankenhaus: Erprobungsphase. Weisz, U., Haas, W., Pelikan, J.M., Schmied, H., Himpelmann, M., Purzner, K., Hartl, S., David, H.; Wien (2009)

Band 120+

LOCAL STUDIES MANUAL

A researcher's guide for investigating the

social metabolism of local rural systems. Singh, S.J., Ringhofer, L., Haas, W., Krausmann, F., Fischer-Kowalski, M.; Wien (2010)

Band 121+

Sociometabolic regimes in indigenous communities and the crucial role of working time: A comparison of case studies. Fischer-Kowalski, M., Singh, S.J., Ringhofer, L., Grünbühel C.M., Lauk, C., Remesch., A.; Wien (2010)

Band 122+

Klimapolitik im Bereich Gebäude und Raumwärme. Entwicklung, Problemfelder und Instrumente der Länder Österreich, Deutschland und Schweiz. Jöbstl, R.; Wien (2010)

Band 123+

Trends and Developments of the Use of Natural Resources in the European Union. Krausmann, F., Fischer-Kowalski, M., Steinberger, J.K., Schaffartzik, A., Eisenmenger, N, Weisz, U.; Wien (2011)

Band 126+

Masterstudium "Sozial- und Humanökologie": Selbstevaluation 2005-2010. Schmid, M., Mayer A., Miechtner, G.; Wien (2010)

Band 127 +

Bericht des Zentrums für Evaluation und Forschungsberatung (ZEF). Das Masterstudium "Sozial- und Humanökologie". Mayring, P., Fenzl, T.; Wien (2010)

Band 128+

Die langfristigen Trends der Material- und Energieflüsse in den USA in den Jahren 1850 bis 2005. Gierlinger, S.; Wien (2010)

Band 129+

Die Verzehrungssteuer 1829 – 1913 als Grundlage einer umwelthistorischen Untersuchung des Metabolismus der Stadt Wien. Hauer, F.; Wien (2010)

Band 130+

Human Appropriation of Net Primary Production in South Africa, 1961- 2006. A socio-ecological analysis. Niedertscheider, M.; Wien (2011)

Band 131+

The socio-metabolic transition.

Long term historical trends and patterns in global material and energy use. Krausmann, F. (Editor); Wien (2011)

Band 132+

"Urlaub am Bauernhof" oder "Bauernhof ohne Urlaub"? Eine sozial-ökologische Untersuchung der geschlechtsspezifischen Arbeitsteilung und Zeitverwendung auf landwirtschaftlichen Betrieben in der Gemeinde Andelsbuch, Bregenzerwald. Winder, M.; Wien (2011)

Band 133+

Spatial and Socio-economic Drivers of Direct and Indirect Household Energy Consumption in Australia. Wiedenhofer, D.; Wien (2011)

Band 134+

Die Wiener Verzehrungssteuer. Auswertung nach einzelnen Steuerposten (1830 – 1913). Hauer, F., Gierlinger, S., Nagele, C., Albrecht, J., Uschmann, T., Martsch, M.; Wien (2012)

Band 135+

Zeit für Veränderung? Über die geschlechtsspezifische Arbeitsteilung und Zeitverwendung in landwirtschaftlichen Betrieben und deren Auswirkungen auf Landnutzungsveränderungen in der Region "Westlicher Wienerwald". Eine sozial-ökologische Untersuchung. Madner, V.; Wien (2012)

Band 136+

The Impact of Industrial Grain Fed Livestock Production on Food Security: an extended literature review. Erb, K-H., Mayer, A., Kastner, T., Sallet, K-E., Haberl, H.; Wien (2012)

Band 137+

Human appropriation of net primary production in Africa: Patterns, trajectories, processes and policy implications. Fetzel, T., Niedertscheider, M., Erb, K-H., Gaube, V., Gingrich, S., Haberl, H., Krausmann, F., Lauk, C., Plutzar, C.; Wien (2012)